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“We help clients navigate
compliance with regulation:
the foundation of the
successful co-existence
between business and
society.”
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KEY FIGURES

Business performance

Qur governance

Financial Statements

In 2021, Intertrust Group made considerable progress on its transformation journey
and defined a new corporate purpose: building a new era of responsible growth.

As the facts and figures below detail, the efforts of all cur colleagues around

the world enabled us to create value for all our stakeholders.

090

D v

FTEs
fworldwide)

>4, OOO ’ 2020: = 4,000

Woemen

480/0 ’ 2020: 48%

Nationalities

95 l 2020: 9/

Voluntary attrition

26.5%

| 202C17.6%

Employee engagement NPS
{Your Voice survey)

+23

2020: +29

Employees trained in Employees trained

anti-money laundering in information

980/0 ‘ 2020 100%

security

970/0 I 2020:93%

Customer satisfaction score 2021

Excellent / Good

33%

Average

12%

Other

5%

Zorec o dlptars s g the g ebel et st 98

Employees trained in
harassment and discrimination
prevention

8 80/0 l 2020: n.a.

CJ

—0—

[;] [;3 Technology

File processing

+20%

Invoice processing

+50% |

tffictency threugh
digitalisatior

Efficiency through

aLtomation’
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¥ Markets

Our clients include Client group base
— Multinational corperations {number of groups}?

— Financial institutions > 8 O O O
i

— Investment managers

— Real estate and private A
_ Served entities
. equity firms
» {(number)

: — UHNwWIs
. - Family offices >48, OOO

Financial performance
21N

Total revenue Adjusted EBITA margin
{in EUR million)

571 ._'7) ’ 2020: 5615 2 9. 70/0 \ 2020: 32.8

Earnings per share Cash flow from operating activities
{LUR) {in EUR million)

0-72 ‘ 2020 E 111.9 ‘ 2020:1751

e LLel N 7 ARt Feort 2320
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TARGETS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Seizing opportunities

Increased demand for quality service providers
with robust control framewaorks as clients navigate
a more complex landscape.

Key
@ industry

trends

Fund Services
Untethered inc

vestment
ly more

e pandernic,
2l componenis
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3\0 Strategic OEO Business
priorities priorities
for 2022

- Strengthen our Corporate Services in core Increase Funds market share by leveraging
jurisdictions and expand into higher-growth our streng client relationships and increasing
jurisdictions, such as the US and the Asia-Pacific our share of wallet

region Expand Corporata Services offering with

Accelerate the growth of our Funds business cross-border relationships through Global
through cur highly cifferentiated service Relationship Management and upscli Lo ¢xisting
offering blue-chig client base

Further ieverage our technology and global Aim to substantially finatise the accelerated
reach to drive aur efficiencies and the quality strengthening of cur compliance Mramework
of our services across the markets we cover

L:—' Technology Financial

i priorities guidance
[—.l_r' |:1:| for 2022 for 2022

Creater adoption of our flagship technology Revenue growth
offerings, including IRIS, Fastlane and SPV Prime

will support aur aperations and growth in 3 -— 5 O/c)

revenue and profitability

Further leveraging our Centre of Excellence and

improve productivity by onboarding additional Adjusted EBITA margin
processes

Seizing key technolegical oppertunities will 2 8 - 3 OO/O

enable us to further drive our environmental,
sacial and governance (54} strategy, enabling
carbon footprint reductions and improving our
cybersecurity

Aronjal Report 2021
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OUR GEOGRAPHICAL REGIONS

Global presence

AL Intertrust Group, our 4,000+ employees are dedicated to providing world-class
administration services to clients in more than 30 jurisdictions. This is amplified by the
support we offer across our approved partner network, which covers a further 100+
jurisdictions. Gur focus on bespoke carporate, fund, capital market and private wealth
services enables our clients to invest, grow and thrive anywhere in the world. We report
on three geographical regions: the Americas, Western Europe

and the Rest of the World.

AlS

Qffices Artive in jurisdictions

(worldwide) fnurnber)

>45 >30

0Co0

it

Employees Nationalities

{worldwide} {number)

Americas >4,000 a5

Revenue {in EUR million}

135.5

Percentage of Total Revenue

Jurisdictions

Bahamas

Brazil

British virgin fstands
Cenada

Cayman Islands

Curagao

United States of America

| AT S R 10 Lol Reoltt R
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Western Europe

Revenue {in EUR million)

221.8

Percentage of Total Revenue
39%

Jurisdictions
Betgium
France
Germany
[kaly
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Switzerland

Rest of the World

Revenue {in FUR million)

214.1

Percentage of Total Revenue
%
37%

Jurisdictions :

Australia ' Hong Kong Singapore

China:, India Spain .

Cyprus Irefand Sweden

Denmark Japan United Arab Emirates
Fittand Jersey United Kingdom ~  *
Creece ‘New Zealand

Guernsey Norway

IPE2ilins oy Eafial Reporl 232
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Building a new era of responsible growth

Dear reader,

It is with great pleasure that | present Intertrust Group's
2021 Annual Report. Since | took over as CEQ just over a
year ago, | have had the honour and privilege of leading
Intertrust Group towards reatising our purpose of
building a new era of responsible growth.

2021 was a busy year for Intertrust Group. We acquired
one new company, entered inta two new countries and
signed an agreement with Corporation Service Company
(CSQ) to join Forces globally. We continued to drive our
strategic transformation and we advanced our journey
to digitalise our business and our industry.

Tackling the ongaing challenge of the pandemic has
shown us that our technology is rabust. It has also
introduced us to new ways of working and given us the
opportunity to offer our ¢olleagues more flexibility with
additional focus on health and well-being.

Thinking beyond our day-to-day operations, and as we
reflect on one year and look ahead to another, | believe
businesses have a responsibility to do good.
Organisations like ours have a role to play not only for
our clients and shareholders but also for our society and
communities, The nature of our business makes this
particularly important at Intertrust Group.
Fundamentally, we help clients navigate compliance
with regulation, which | see as the foundation of the
successful co-existence of business and society.

Because we are in the business of compliance, the
gravity of the administrative fine received by Intertrust
Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited from the Cayman
Islands Monetary Authority (CIMA) in 2021 cannot be
overstated. To prevent this from happening again,
Intertrust Group will invest Further in strengthening our
compliance framework across all the markets we serve,

In addition, 2021 marks a year in which we have made
significant progress on our environmental, social and
governance (ESG) strategy, including starting our first
greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) baseline ¢alculation
and our first ESG-related services, as we move towards a
more sustainable future - both for Intertrust Group and
Fer our clients across the globe.

Fihancial results

We see a continued strong demand for the services we
deliver and a significant untapped potential at our
clients, We are disappointed with our revenue in the
Netherlands, Luxembourg and Cayman Islands,
impacting our Group performance. However, excluding
these three jurisdictions, we've seen strong underlying
revenue growth of 8.4%, indicating the competitive
strength of our offering in growth markets. Cur
underlying revenue for the Group grew 1.5% in 2021
and our adjusted £BITA margin was 29.7%. Both items

came in below our guidance for the year, mainly due to
lower productivity as a result of elevated employee
attrition, impacting our time-based revenue.

Cur main challenges reside in the Netherlands,
Luxembourg and Cayman Islands where the
management teams have been changed in 2021. Qur
priorities will be centred around improving compliance
effectiveness, employee retention and increased
productivity.

Inttroducing our updated purpose

All around us, we can see the world of business
changing. The mentality of 'growth at all costs’ is being
replaced by a progressive mindset of profit with purpose
—where every organisation is driven by its duty te
operate responsibly. This new era of responsible growth
can only be built on the most robust of foundaticns.

At Intertrust Greup, we play a crucial role in building
those foundations. In 2021, to reflect our ambition of
delivering value to all our stakeholders, we launched our
updated purpose: building a new era of responsible
growth. This new era is the age of digitalisation and
globalisation, which we are embracing. We want all our
stakeholders to see us as a responsible business. This
means delivering sustainable growth and value creation
to ensure cur company prospers over the long term.

Updating our strategy

This new purpose is not just words. We have developed
an updated strategy to Fulfil it, which is detailed in full in
the ‘Qur strategy’ section of this report. For now, | will
say that we will expand and strengthen our Corporate
Services business, preserving our strong share in core
markets and our bast-in-class reputation. We will also
continue to accelerate growth in our Fund Services
division. The focus on both segments will be supported
by our ability to leverage cur common technology
platform, our operating model and our global reach. We
will take these steps in full alignment with our ESG
strategy, which is guided by the UN Global Compact.

Cur updated strategy represents the full realisation of
our transformation efforts to date. By meeting all our
goals, and achieving our ESG objectives, we will unlock
value For our stakeholders, including our shareholders,
clients, colleagues and service providers, as well as
society at large.

Our digital vision

For us, digitalisation means creating as much straight-
through processing as possibie for both our clients and
ourselves. By embedding tasks and processesin
technology we will reduce the risk of error and ensure
deadlines are met. Digitalisation will make life easier,
Faster and safer for colleagues and clients alike. Having a
seamless technology platform allows us to serve our
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clients even better around the world remotely and
optimise their customer experience.

Our technolegy platform is helping us to achieve this
goal. Actoss our organisation, we have also launched and
implemented other new technologies. Among these
technalogies are SAP (harmonising aur financial
operations}, and - as part of Fastlane, our internal
process automation platform - Promo {streamlining our
workflow for client deliverables) and Trax (centralising
our payment processes).

Ligttalisation goes hand in hand with globalisation. Last
year, we began the process of migrating key operational
functions to our Centre of Excellence (CoE) during the
challenging circumstances of the pandemic. 1 am
delighted to say that we successfully completed this
process in the third quarter of 2021, We are now
working closely with our new CoE colleagues to ensure
we maximise the benefits of this key step for our digital
strategy and our business as a whole.

Business performance

Cur governance Financial Statements

Supperting all cur people around the world
We are committed to increasing diversity within the
organisation so we can both continue to attract and
retain the best and brightest talent and respond to our
customers’ needs. | want us ke be the company that
everyone wants to work for, and that every client wants
to work with. For these reasons, and because it is simply
the right thing to do, we will ensure that diversity and
inclusion remain an integral part of Intertrust Group's
corporate culture.

In 2021, we buiit on the 2020 launch of our Diversity &
Inclusion Charter by introducing a Diversity & Inclusion
Council, which serves as a task force of colleagues of all
functions, backgrounds and seniority levels, and meets
every two weeks. Our training programme for
harassment and discrimination prevention has now been
completed by 88% of our colleagues. Curing the year,
we also launched a number of Wemen in Leadership
programmes. In June, on behalf of Intertrust Group, |
signed the Declaration of Amsterdam, a statement of
commitment to creating and maintaining a truly
LGBTIQ+ inclusive workplace.

“I have iong believed in the power of business
to do good. [ see us as industry gatekeepers,
helping our clients navigate the shifting sands
of compliance, always with the utmest integrity.
I see regulation as a positive force for business
and soclety, and that’s what drives me to do
what 1 do.”

Shankar Iyer
Chief Executive Officer

13
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This year, we also created new opportunities For our
colleagues' career growth. We began working in earnest
with our Global Job Framework, designedin 2020, which
helps everyone to understand how they fit into
Intertrust Group as a whole. We launched our Technical
Competency Guide to help our colleagues move
Farward. In July, Linvited all colleagues to join me at
‘Dare to Dream’, our first event for the whole of
Intertrust Group globally. We shared our thoughts about
our business and our ideas about its Future. We wanted
our colleagues to come away newly inspired to help us
turn our vision into reality as we go about our waork
every day —1 know | certainty did.

Meanwhile, we continued to support all colleagues
through the difficulties caused by the COVID-18
pandemic. We have maintained and developed & number
of health and wellness programmes to respond to the
pandemic. We have welcomed colleagues te return to
working together in the office (where legally permitted)
but continue Lo cater to all those who are working from
home.

Looking ahead to 2022

One of the biggest events for Intertrust Group in 2022
will be its combination with Corporation Service
Company (CSC), once the transaction is completed.
Following the proposed transaction, Intertrust Group
will become part of one of the largest global service
providers in fund and corporate solutions with
approximately 7,000 highly qualified employees serving
customers across the funds, corporates, capital markets
and private wealth segments.

Customers will benefit from a strengthened and
broadened service offering across additional
geographies, built on the highly complementary
strengths of CSC's leadership in US trust and corporate
services and Intertrust Group's leadership in Eurepe and
in global corporate and fund solutions, Together we will
have a truly enviable, blue-chip client base to grow with
us.

Business performance

Qur governance Financial Statements

CSCintends to invest in existing and new opportunities
to expand Further the cambined business and protect
the long-term interests of Intertrust Group's
stakeholders, including its clients and employees. Qur
colleagues will also benefit from a strong cultural fit and
a significantly broader range of career development
opportunities. Like Intertrust Group, CSCis a people
business and is focused an creating an environment
where all colleagues can thrive.

we will set ambitious targets for 2022 and will aim to
reach these while staying true to ocur corporate purpose.
This includes our aim to substantiaily finalise our global
remediation programme in 2022. We expect to see a
higher cost level driven by the increased cost to deliver
our services, arising from a changing product mix, higher
people cost and the increased regulatory and
compliance remediation requirements, resulting in an
estimated adjusted EBITA margin of 28-30%.
Nevertheless, our record pipeline at the end of the
fourth quarter combined with our confidence to convert
itinto revenue is expected to lead to an accelerated
revenue growth of 3-5% in 2022. Given our immensely
talented and diverse workforce, | am cenfident in our
ability to deliver on these ambitions for the benefit of all
our stakeholders.

Furthermore, we will continue to drive our digitalisation
and globalisation goals to support our business, in line
with our new strategy. With our CoE in place, our
business is more centralised, more globalised and more
harmonised, enabling us to function even more
effectively as a truly global organisation.

An exciting future awaits!

Shankar lyer
Chief Executive Officer
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WHO WE ARE

Global leader

Intertrust Group is a global leader in
providing tech-enabled corporate and
fund solutions to clients operating and
investing in the international business
environment. By being the best st what
we do, we empower businesses of all
sizes, wherever théy are in the world,
to navigate the complexity of ever-
changing rules and regulations.
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: Télent

For talent we willbe.
the most sought-after

_place to work

Our corporate values

We're responsive

we're ambitious and

proactive in our thinking,

We anticipate change
50 we can stay ahead,
In everything we do,
we always go the
extra mile

We're excellent

we're driven to succeed.
we support each other
and our clients to achieve
their goals. Each of us
takes pride in delivering
first-class results

Business performance

Cur governance

“For owr clients we will

be the partner of choice
neverymarket we
operateln )

We're innovative

We welcome new ways
of working. Weembrace
change and challenge,
to do better. Thinking of
the bigger picture, we
spot new opportunities

Financial Statements

'“Irfidus{try

We will shape the

industry of tomorrow

We're connected

we're collaborative,

We share knowledge
and expertise to achieve
the best results.

Qur aim is to buitd trust

and relationships For

_the long term
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QUR SERVICES

Our service lines

Qur services, which are considered by clients as mission
critical te their day-to-day operations (from a legal,
regulatory, financial, reputational and risk management
perspective) are delivered through Four service lines.

Ap3Y

S5 Corporates

Sitting at the heart of internaticnal business, our local,
expert knowledge and innovative, proprietary
technology combine to deliver a compelling proposition
—all of which will keep clients one step ahead. Cur
clients need a partner who understands the steps to
take and can navigate the complexity of ever-changing
rules and regulations wherever their business takes
them. We deliver the power our clients need to focus on
their core business activities and succeed.

As the global experts in management and administration
services for international enterprises, investing in
market-leading technology and cur people is at the
heart of what we do. No matter the size of the business,
we always take a personal approach and have a long-
term perspective on our relationships. Qur clients have
the support of a dedicated team of highly skilled and
experienced professionals. With a single point of contact
responsible for the day-to-day handling of client
business, we will always be a trusted partner.

We provide formation, domiciliation, accounting and
reporting, legal and regulatory compliance services. We
work alongside our legal and tax advisers to get a
client’s business up and running as quickly as needed.
e are also here to keep a client’s company in good
legal standing in accordance with the requirements set
by global and local legislation.

af »
?Q?\:" Capital Markets

As capital markets evolve across the globe and the lines
between traditional finance providers, alternative
lenders and investment funds continue to co-exist, our
clients will need a bespoke approach from a service
provider with a genuine understanding of how markets
are changing.

We are experts in management and administration
services to debt issuances, securitisation, structured and
alternative finance transactions across the world. We
lead in adopting governance and compliance standards
imposed by the applicable local regulators in the
countries that we do business. Therefore we can provide
a client accurate, valuable, actionable information and
investor reports. With our expertise, unrivalled
experience and truly global reach, we can service large
transactions across multiple jurisdictions through our
network of experts.

Business pesformance

Qur governance Financial Statements

(AT
°\° / Funds

We are a global leader in fund services and differentiate
ourselves on aur geographical spread, domain strepgth,
technology offering and depth of services. That is what
makes us a strategic partner when it comes to tzilored,
holistic solutions to tackle the complex world of fund
administration and structuring, operational efficiency,
governance and global regulation. We work with funds
of all sizes, from new start-ups to the largest and most
experienced Fund managers in the world. Our experts
will heip focus on a client's core business activity and
succeed.

We provide end-to-end private capital fund services with
the ability to set up and manage entities at the global
SPV level, through to administration, AlFM, and investor
services at the fund level. We give fund managers the
unique oppartunity to view and manage their portfolio
from top to bottom. Our solutions can be customised
and designed to meet specific needs across all private
capitat asset classes, including private equity, real estate,
infrastructure, hedge and venture capital.

Our services and our data solutions and insights will help
our clients with their business and unleash their
potential,

&= Private Wealth

At Intertrust Group, we are dedicated to providing
world-leading, specialised support to family offices,
multi-Family offices, high-net-worth individuals and ultra-
high-net-worth individuals in over 30 jurisdictions. We
build solid relationships and provide tailored, practical
solutions which are flexible enough to adapt to changing
circumstances and keep our clients and thair
investments one step ahead.

We deliver the exceptional and personalised services our
clients need to succeed. Sitting at the heart of
international business, our local, expert knowledge and
innovative approach can combine to add significant
value, We create the companies and investment vehicles
a client needs to help structure assets correctly and
protect them over time. Whether a client is locking to
accelerate next-generation planning, manage
liquidations or restructure core assets, our team will
provide the expert and flexible guidance needed to
ensure our clients' investments remain on track.
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Our core services

Fermation and implementation services

We aoffer clients an efficient way to set up new entities,
including the implementation of structures and
arrangements for corporate, investrment and financial
transactions. We can also coordinate the local
registrations for each of these client entities.

Domiciliation, management and trustee services

We provide a registered office address or office spare to
our clients for the execution and operation of their
business in various jurisdictions. Clients can appoint
Intertrust Group as director, proxy-holder, authorised
representative or company secretary for their entities.
We can conduct day-to-day management of these
entities in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. We also support our clients’ operational,
regulatory, governance and trustee requirements.

Administration, accounting and reporting services
With our best-in-class proprietary technology platform,
we provide end-to-end fund administration to automate
processes. With expertise in all private capital asset
classes, we prepare reporting templates and calendars
and NAV and fee-calculation methodologies. In addition,
we offer accounting and reporting services including
fund performance and financial reporting and
consolidation, as well as investor reporting, including
portfolio analytics and data access. For our corperate
customers, we provide all-round accounting and
reporting services in line with relevant accounting
standards, filing of accounts with local authorities and
cash management and payroll administration services.

Business performance

Qur governance Financial Statements

Legal and tax compliance services

We provide compliance services in connection with our
clients' legal and tax requirements, including
maintaining necessary statutory records and preparing
legal decumentation and tax filings based on the advice
of external experts and input from our clients. Althcugh
we generally do not provide onshore tax or legal
advisory services, we have launched a successful new
legal offering specific to the Cayman Islands,

Regulatory and compliance services

We identify regulatery reporting obligations and review,
draft and submit all the relevant documents for
reporting regimes. We also offer compliance consulting
and outsourcing services. Compliance services inciude
assisting clients with regulatory autharisations, licences,
permits or concessions, and audits; assessing compliance
infrastructure; drafting and maintaining compliance
policies and procedures; and providing training.
Outsourcing services include client due diligence,
document management, risk identification, verification
and screening.

Liquidation services

We manage the unwinding and dissolving of client
entities and provide support during the liquidation
process of these entities.
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KEY EVENTS IN 2021

Annual Ceneral
Meeting held

Three Supervisory Board
members reappointed for
a new term of Four years

June

Clobal prograrmme launched
Lo accelerate remediation
of historical files

e ]
Decision to accelerate M
investment to strengthen
our compliance framework
across our markets

Initiated first greenhouse
gas emissions baseline
calculation

Shankar lyer appointed as CEQ
of Intertrust Group at an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Intertrust Group opens
first office in Greece

Intertruskt Group signs
Declaration of Amsterdam for
LGBTIQ+ Inclusion at Work

intertrust Group acquires
Pinsent Masons’

Hong Kong-based corporate

secretarial business

Intertrust Lreup
launches its Global
Entity Solutions

! But colleagues inthe Netnerlands
are encoy-aged to work from nome,
in irne with Dutch governmens sduice.
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intertrust Group
opens new sustainable
3 headquarters in
Intertrust Group moves i 3 Amsterdam’
to new sustainagble 1
office in the Cayman |slands ' New company
purpose launches
Intertrust Group
issues CEQ's COP21 : New integrated ESG
UN Compact tetter data solution launches

November

2

September December

Centre of Excelience ‘ l Intertrust and CSC
synergy target of : agree on recommended
EUR 20 million achieved : ' all-cash offer of
ahead of schedule ' g EUR 20.00 per share

Intertrust Group
opens first office
in France
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&

“We will expand and

strengthen our Corporate
Services and accelerate
growth in our Funds
Services by leveraging
our technology and
global reach.” -~
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VALUE CREATION MODEL

(NPUT
Stakehotders
Human and intellectual capital Social and relationship capital Financial capital Chents
Employees Global client base Equity and Talent
Business processes Business partners debt providers Soricty
Business knowledge Requlators Investors

ADDED VALUE

ourpupese BULIAING a New era of responsible growth

External
drivers

Our strategy

nance
Accelerate Leverage technology Expand & strengthen Regulations
Funds & global reach Corparate Services

Qur vision
@ @
(e ~
For talent we will be the most For aur clients we will be the partner of we will shape the industry
sought-after place to work choice in every market we operate in of tomorrow
OuUTPUT
eNPS Annual Contract CoE contribution Underlying
+23 Value won >£ 20m revenue growth
€71.3m, +15.2% y-0-y annual ren-rate savings +1.5% y-0-y
Gender Client retention EFFiciency gain Adjusted
pay gap {excl. end of life) through digitalisation EBITA margin
4% 95.6% +20% 29.7%
Compliance-related Customer Efficiency gain Leverage
training completed satisfaction through automation ratio
98% 4.2 {out of 5} +50% 3.75x%
OUTCOME
We provide an inclusive We provide clients with strong We enable responsible We deliver sustainable
environment for foundations for growth, business practices for long-term value
people to learn supporting them in being our industry as a whole to all our Financial
and develop good corporate citizens and saciety at large stakeholders
IMPACT

Quury GENDER DECENT WORK KD

Il] REDUCED
EDUGAYEN EQUALITY ECOAOMIC GRBWTH INEGUALITES

13 Gonal 16 Swmcmnres

V4

Y,
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THE WORLD AROUND US
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Intertrust Group's addressable market is set to grow between 4% and 6% by 2025".
Growth continues to be fuelled by increased requlation, the resulting outsourcing of
administrative services, and epportunities around one-off market events, like Brexit.
Thankfully, the world has found many effective measures against the spread of
COVID-19, which means the pandemic’s economic impacts have not been as severe as
some external analysts feared and in some cases has created new opportunities.

COVID-19

Considerable progress was made in tackling COVID-19 in
2021 thanks to the rollout of vaccine programmes in
many parts of the world. Businesses and employees
have become accustomed to new, and probably more
efficient ways of warking.

As a result, the negative impact of the pandemicin 2021
has not been as great as some expected. There has even
been growth in some areas and countries. In particular,
strong private equity, private debt and infrastructure
and real estate fund activity has led to high single-digit
growth in closed-end fund administration. Fewer new
companies are being incorperated than expected,
however'.

with the onset of the pandemic behind us, we see
regained confidence an the labour market resulting in
increased demand for employees across various sectors,
including ours. Moreover, the pandemic has introduced
us to new ways of working and given us the oppartunity
to offer our colleagues more flexibility with additional
focus on health and well-being. Intertrust has been
successful in hiring approximately 1,500 new colleagues
in 2021. Nevertheless the departure of colleagues and
the training and onboarding of new hires has had its
effect on the Company’s productivity and revenue
generation.

Tax

Global tax arrangements by corporates and individuals
are currently receiving significant attention as a result of
high-profile media coverage. This presents some risks
for Intertrust Group, as it could potentially challenge the
reputation of the corporate services sector as a whole.

While the situation may cause a reduced need for these
types of structures, it Is likely ko result in more complex
entities. We believe this will ultimately benefit the
business in the medium to long term by improving client
quality and reducing risk.

Regulation

Clients are turning to Intertrust Group to help them
manage ongoing increases in regulation, regulatery
scrutiny and enforcement by regulators. Key examples
include tax measures such as the QECD’s Action Plan on
Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) and BEPS 2,
which addresses tax challenges in digital economies.
Other examples can be found in non-tax areas, such as
the ‘know-your-client’ guidelines and measures aimed at
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preventing money laundering, fraud, sanctions and the
financing of terrorism.

There are other measures currently under discussion
that could present similar opportunities For Intertrust
Group in the near future. These include potential EU and
global measures for tax harmonisatian, a higher rate for
capital gains tax in the US, the replacement of the
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act with the Common
Reporting Standard in the US, changes to financial
reporting rules For non-financial assets, and the
implementation of the fifth EU anti-maney laundering
directive.

Outsourcing

This increased regulatory complexity brings with it the
need to invest in technology so companies can keep up
to date with intricate reporting, data, and trends. As a
result, clients are increasingly looking to outsource their
administrative services to experts. Today, the
outsourcing penetration in the Fund Services market is
between approximately 50% and 60%'. This means
there is significant potential to grow Intertrust Group's
business in the Fund Services market, particularly private
equity, real estate and infrastructure.

Brexit

2021 brought further clarity on many aspects of the UK's
departure from the EU and how the relationship
between them will function in the Future. This increased
certainty is creating business opportunities for Intertrust
Group, given that clients now have the confidence to
take steps such as incorporating new entities in the EU
to replace or supplement UK offices.

Climate change

According to the recently published Sixth Assessment
Report of the Intergevernmental Panel on Climate
Change (IPCC), human-induced climate change is already
affecting weather patterns in every part of the world. In
some cases, this is inflicting devastating financial,
environmental and human costs.

Al Intertrust Group, a core part of our ESG strategy is to
do everything in our pawer to tackle climate change. In
2021, we conducted our first greenhouse gas audit and
moved into our new carbon-neutral headquarters in
Amsterdam. Based on the findings of our first
greenhouse gas audit, Intertrust Group will set its
environmental impact targets in 2022, sllowing us to
contribute to worldwide efforts towards sustainability.
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OUR STRATEGY

We are a technology-enabled provider of corperate and fund solutions delivering
sustainable value to our stakeholders. In 2021, Intertrust Group continued on its journey
towards this goal. Empowered by our new Group purpose, building a new era of
responsible growth, we have updated our strategy to reflect what we have achieved so
far and to position us to unlock the full potential of our business in the coming years.

Intertrust Group has long been a successful business. We  The acquisition of Viteos in 2019 was a key turning point,

work with maore than 8,000 clients from more than 45 helping us accelerate our globalisation and digitalisation
offices worldwide, including 30 of the top 50 Fortune journeys. The deal has opened new markets for our

500 companies, 300 of the top 500 companies in the business, particularly in North America, which accounts
Fortune Global 500 and 40 of the tap 50 private equity for as much as 60% of the global Fund Services market2.
firms in the Private Equity Internaticnal 300. It also allowed the business to benefit frem powerful

Intertrust Group strategy
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proprietary technology. By automating tasks and
processes, this technology meant Intertrust Group
colleagues could seamiessly deliver greater value to our
clients with ease.

And now Intertrust Group is looking further ahead. To
deliver on cur purpose, we have updated our strategy,
implementing three distinct pillars. We will accelerate
our Fund Services business, with greater focus on
targeted outbound cross-selling. We will expand and
strengthen our Corporate Services business, including
Capital Markets and Private Wealth, which we will
manage for value. We will do both by leveraging our
technology and global reach through our CoE.

We will take all these steps in full compliance with our
ESG strategy. Guided by the UN Global Compact, this
encompasses all three major ESG areas: the
envirenment, social responsibility and good corporate
governance. Meeting these targets will unlock new value
for all our stzkeholders, including sharehelders, clients,
and colleagues and service providers, as well as society
at large.

Accelerate Fund Services

The global Fund Services market presents Intertrust
Group with a wide array of opportunities. Currently
worth between USD 3.5 billion and USD 4 billion, it has
been largely resistant to any COVID-19-related damage,
thanks to continued high levels of capital waiting to be
deployed. with few risks on the horizon, the Fund
Services sector is expected to register a compound
annual growth rate of between 7% and 9% between
now and 20252,

Intertrust Group is well placed to seize new
opportunities in the Fund Services market, which
provided the business with EUR 254.0 million in revenue
in 2021, We are currently a market leader for Fund
Services in the Netherlands and Ireland and the number
one provider of SPV fund services in some of the sector’s
largest jurisdictions.

Our highly differentiated Fund solutions offering ranges
from Fund SPVs to Fund 360, our selution for closed-
ended and open-ended fund managers. SPV Prime is a
one-stop-shop solution that can be tailored to each
customer’s needs. With our salutions approach, we
recognise an untapped market that positions us to
upsell and cross-sell to our existing customer base and
organically increase our market share.

In the Future, we will consolidate our leadership in the
SPV market. We intend to become a leader in the closed-
ended fund market within the next five years. We will
continue to dominate the shadow sub-market in the
open-ended fund sector.

Cur endeavours will be driven by Favourable market
trends. Continued grewth is predicted for all areas of
the Fund Services sector, particularly for closed-ended
fund services. SPV fund managers are continuing to
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outsource services, and across the board, managers
need more assistance from a quality service provider as a
result of increasingly complex regulations. Meanwhile,
growth in the open-ended fund sector could be
accelerated by the rise of cryptocurrencies, possibly one
of the biggest transformations of our era of technology
and globalisation.

Expand and strengthen Corporate Services
Corperate Services, consisting of Corporates, Capital
Markets and Private Wealth, provided Intertrust Group
with EUR 217.3 million in revenue in 2021. wilh Ue
sector predicted to grow steadily by 1% to 3% between
now and 20252, there is potential for this figure to
increase. Though the incorporation of new companies
has slowed down, the sector has generally been able to
withstand the negative effects of the COVID-19
pandemic.

We want to maintain Intertrust Group's strong position
in key areas of this sector. We are a market leader in the
Netherlands and Luxembourg. We are particularly strong
in the UK For capital markets services, in the Nordic
countries For corporate services, and in Jersey and
Guernsey for private wealth services. We also want to
maintain our highly effective client referral network,
backed by our reputation for excellence, which provides
us with more than 30% of our new revenue every year,

We aim to expand in fast-growing markets: in North
America and the Asia-Pacific region, particularly China,
Japan and South Korea. We are open to using strategic
partnerships to achieve this goal, such as bolt-cn M&A or
joinkventures.

As with the Fund Services sector, market trends support
our ambitions. Increased requlatory complexity helps us
here too, as clients turn to us as a trusted adviser for
quidance on managing these important changes. A
welcome shift away from aggressive tax structuring
towards a focus on arranging tax affairs to correlate
with the actual economic activities of businesses
provides us with new ways to help our clients. Looking at
specific areas of our Corporate Services business, the
rise of special purpose acquisition companies (SPACs)
presents our business with opportunities, as do family
offices for our private wealth teams.

Leverage technclogy and global reach

The technology that we inherited from Viteos is now
fully embedded in our organisation — and has already
begun to transform it. Mare processes have been
standardised and automated, meaning greater
efficiency and quality of service. t has provided
colleagues with data and tools in areas such as business
intelligence and decision-making. Finally, it has freed
colleagues up to focus on sales and marketing, unlocking
the potential of existing clients and drawing in new
ones. By the end of December, our pipeline grew to a
record level of EUR 82.7 million, 26.8% higher compared
to the end of last year.
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Looking ahead, we will continue to develop our flagship
technology offerings, including IRIS, underpinning our
technology platform via Fastlane, SPV Prime and Fund
360.In 2021, we launched new technologies, including
Promo workRow management, a loan administration
ptatfarm and our ESG reporting tool. We are also
working on exciting new technologies in areas including
automation, blockchain, artificial intelligence and real-
time data, some of which are already in action across our
business.

Meanwhile, the related process of globalising our
business through the use of transformative technology
has been led by our CoE. This key part of our Future-
proof global operating model is now fully operational
and has already produced annualised run-rate savings of
EUR 20 million. Cencentrating functions in this way also
allows new worldwide teams to be easily added - for
example, to work on remediation or data quality. This
has the potential to enable further efficiencies and
added value.

Finally, we see digital transformation as a key part of our
risk & compliance and ESG strategy. Compliance, data
privacy and cybersecurity, together with the other key
technolegy-related elements of our ESG strategy, are
embedded in all the new technologies we use.
Technology will also enable us to comply more
consistently and reduce our carbon footprint going
forward.

Business performance
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Building a new era of responsible growth

ESG at Intertrust Group: An interview with Lize Rowland , Marketing Manager Americas

Since starting her role as Marketing Manager
For the Americas in 2018, Liza Rowland has
seen environmental, social and governance
(ESG) take en growing importance across the
Intertrust Group organisation. “I'm both
proud and pleased to see that ESG is, more
than ever, integrated within our whoie
organisation,” says Liza. "A strong focus on
ESG is the foundation on which we wilt deliver
on our purpose of building a new era of
responsible growth ~ it is the backbone to our
business.”

“Above all, our ambitions to have a positive
impact on the environment and all people in it

startwith us, across our offices and facilities.
That's why our employee-led ESG committee
is aligned with the UN Global Compact
principles to implement key sustainability
practices across our locations around the
globe.”

"Moving forward, we will further accelerate
our ESG journey by using the outcomes of our
first environmental audit to set ambitious
greenhouse gas reduction targets and steer
our path to a better Future ~both for our
organisation and for all our many stakeholders
around the world, I'm 1ooking forwaid Lo
seeing where this important journey takes ust”
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STRATEGIC ENABLERS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Our commitment to SDGs

In line with our purpose of building & new era of
responsible growth, Intertrust Group is determined to
have a positive impact on society. After becoming a
signatory of the UN Global Compact in August 202G, in
2021 we further aligned ourselves with the UN
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and established a
deep understanding of the Global Compact's 10
Principles in each of its four categories: human rights,
labour, environment and anti-corruption. By doing so,
we began collaborating with more than 12,000 other
Compact participants and hope to make more of an
impact than we weuld by embarking cn a solo journey.

QOur embedded approach tc ESG

Qur approach to corporate responsibility means
empowering our people to give back to communities,
creating value for our planet and supporting global
peace and prosperity. We are guided by our ESG
framewaork, which is based on the UN Global Compact
and executed globally across all jurisdictions. We have
set both quantitative and qualitative KPIs that are ESG-
related, and we are committed to reporting on and
reviewing these KPIs annually to ensure transparency.
These KPIs include 'ensure that at least 30 percent of
the combination Management Board/Executive
Committee is female by 2024, "100% mandatory
training completion rate’ and 'conduct calculation to set
greenhouse gas emission baseline’.

In 2021, we conducted our first environmental baseline
calculation using 2019 and 2020 as benchmark years. We
are currently analyzing the data and will use this to set
science-based targets, in line with the Paris Climate
Agreement in 2022.

Intertrust Group believes that ESG goes beyend
compliance with laws and regulations, and even goes
beyond current profitability and success. We believe that
a sustainable global economy can onty be realised if
businesses combine long-term profitability with respect
for people and the planet. That is why our commitments
to these SDGs are deeply embedded in the focus areas
of our strategic enablers detailed in this chapter. We
have identified and committed to six SDGs that are the
core of our ESG approach.
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EU Taxonomy

The EU Taxonomy is a tool to help investors, companies,

issuers and project promoters navigate the transition to

a low-carbon, resilient and resource-efficient economy.

The Taxonomy sets performance thresholds for

econamic activities which:

- Make a substantive contribution to one of six
envirenmental objectives, being i) Climate change
mitigation; ity Climate change adaptation; iii) The
sustainable use and protection of water and marine
resources; iv) The transition to a circular econamy; v)
Poilution prevention and control; and wi) The
protection and resteration of biodiversity and
ecosystems;

- Da na significant harm (DNSH) to the other five,
where relevant;

- Meet minimum safeguards.

The Ffirst part of the EU Taxonomy has been agreed by
Member States and entered into force on 1 January
2022. In this first part, economic activities under Climate
Change Mitigation (CCM) and Climate Change
Adaptation (CCA) are defined. Currently the EU
Taxonomy requires companies to disclose the
proportion of their turnover, capital expenditure and
operational expenditure that is contributing to the
environmental objectives. from the 2022 reporting
period onwards, companies are required to disclose
alignment to the six environmental objectives.

As a listed company, Intertrust is in scope of the EU
taxonomy regulation. However, not all economic
activities are covered by the Taxonomy Regulation and
its delegated acts. Based on current Delegated Acts of
the EU Taxonomy, intertrust has only limited business
activities that are taxocnomy-eligible for CCM and CCAin
2021. To assess our eligibility, we identified the activities
as included in the Delegated Act of the EU Taxonomy, as
adopted by the Furopean Commission on 4 June 2021.

Considering the evolving character of the Eurcpean
regulatory framewaork, the level of complexity of the
available legislation and the unclarity around how to
interpret and apply it, we expect that reporting will
evolve and over time, mare insights will be gained on
how to best apply the legislation and make it
comparable with peers. We will review our methodology
and figures based on the evolution cf the regulaticns,
guidance from the European Commission and the
European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) and
based on the EU Taxonomy disclosures of peers,
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% non-eligible activities
Turnover 100%
Operating expenses 0%
Capex 86.8%

The EU Taxonomy defines the turnover as; "the amounts
derived from the sale of products and the prevision cf
services after deducting sales rebates and value added
tax and other taxes directly linked to turnover”. For
these purposes reference is made to Note 6 of the
financial statements. Since Intertrust is a professional
services campany with very little physicat assets we
concluded none of our revenue is generated in a sector
that is considered eligible under the EU Taxonomy.

The EU Taxonomy defines the gperating expenses as:
“direct non-capitalized costs that relate to research and
development, building renovation measures, short-term
lease, maintenance and repair, and any other direct
expenditures relating to the day-to-day servicing of
assets of property, plant and equipment by the
undertaking or third party to whom activities are
outsourced that are necessary ta ensure the continued
and effective functioning of such assets.” For operating
expenses in scope of the EU Taxonomy we only consider
repair and maintenance cost for office buildings to be
material (approximately EUR 1.0 million in 2021). Costs
that are eligible but not considered material are For
example repair and maintenance costs related to iT
hardware or broken down leased cars, but aother than
that we do not have any physical assets. Intertrust Group
also doesn't have any material short-term lease
contracts. As such, all of Intertrust’s relevant cperating
expenses are eligible under the EU Taxonomy. Eligible
costs are part of the ‘other expenses’ category. For
these purposes reference is made to Note 9 of the
financial statements.

Capex has been defined as “additions to tangible and
intangible assets during the financial vear considered
before depreciation, amortization and any re-
measurements, including those resulting from
revaluations and impairments, for the relevant financial
year and excluding fair value changes. If relevant, it also
covers additions to tangible and intangible assets
resulting fram business combinations. For these
purposes reference is made to the ‘additions’ as
explained in Note 16 and Note 17 of the financial
statements. Eligible are the additions under ‘leasehold
improvements’ and ‘eguipment and motor vehicles'
(approximately EUR 6.4 million in 2021). This represents
13.2% of our total capex envelope, including additions
to right-of-use assets.

Although our business activities are hardly covered by
EU taxonomy, we have been embedding sustainability in
our daily operation and are taking steps to help fight
climate change.
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Operational excellence

SDG contribution

8 CECENY WORR AHDD
0BV U FRTWTR

(bl
s

= 4

As part of our purpose of building a new era of
responsible growth, we aim to achieve operational
excellence and maximise client satisfaction by
standardising, centralising and autemating key
operational processes. Qur ability to transform these
processes and deliver a world-class product relies an the
use of shared services delivered through cur Centre of
Excellence {CoE). The CoE allows us to previde a
consistent experience to clients all around the world
while maintaining the local domain knowledge clients
seek when they engage with Intertrust Group.

o

2021 was a landmark year in our journey to operational
excellence. We completed the migration ta our CoE in
the third quarter and worked to ensure that it operates
seamlessly with our aother offices and Functions without
affecting client deliverables. We now have a
continuously improving and scalable operating model
for this crucial part of our business.

Optimising our environmental impact

Our operational excellence ambitiens are underpinned
by our efforts to minimise our environmental impact. As
we are a professional services company, our
environmental impact is relatively small compared

with that of organisations from cther industries. Most of
our operational impact comes from carbon emissions
generated by business travel and by the energy used in
our offices. We aim ta minimise the resources we
consume, such as paper and water, and the waste we
generate. We have also seen a concerted effort to cut
down on business travel, an approach that has been
accelerated by COVID-19 restrictions.

In 2021, we took even greater steps to protect our
planet. We joined the UN SDG Ambition programme to
develop and implement innovative business strategies
that significantly increase our positive impact on the
SDGs. We also partnered with an experienced
environmental assurance vendor to measure the effects
of our business activities on the environment and to take
strategic, science-based action to mitigate them,
measuring GHG emissions, energy usage, recycling
impacts and other environmental metrics across more
than 30 jurisdictions.

The analysis has empowered us with the data required
to make firm, lasting environmental commitments. The
results of the environmental baseline calculation, our
ensuing actions and our objective management KPls will
be disclosed in due course.
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Throughout the year, those working in our headquarters
prepared to move to our new Netherlands office in
December 2021. A 48,000m? redevelopment of an office
building from the 1970s, EOGE Amsterdam West has
been upgraded to an advanced and sustainable office
space, meeting the highest requirements in terms of
sustainability, technology and office health, The
picneering EDGE building is being redeveloped to create
a biophilic and sustainable office environment, further
cementing our ongeing commitment to the planet. A
glass dome has been placed to cover the atrium,
transforming a previously unused courtyard at the heart
of the building and bringing natural daylight into work
spaces. Upon cempletion of the development, the
building is expected to be awarded an 'Qutstanding’
BREEAM certificate. The building’s energy usage is fully
provided by on-site solar panels and aquifer thermal
energy storage. Its sustainable features are further
enhanced by the use of a sophisticated technology
platform, which incorporates the latest advances in the
Internet of Things {loT) and Artificial Intelligence (Al).
This will allow our colleagues to use a smart app for
workplace customization, such as fighting and heating.
This technology platform also offers in-depth insights
and tracks the building’s energy efficiency through
dashboards enabled by big data analytics.

Managing our supply chain impact

At Intertrust Group, we understand that our operational

excellence extends beyond managing our own direct

operations to ensuring that sound ESG practices exist

throughout our supply chain. To help realise this, we

have implemented the methodolegy of 'Hierarchy of

Constraints & Criteria’ (HoCC) in identifying suppliers for

every major sourcing decision. The components of HoCC

that we generatly adopt include:

- Total Lifecycle Costs (TLC) / Total Costs of Ownership
(TCO)

- Quality and safety

- Service delivery

- Social responsibility

- Agility

- Reputation

- Strategic, compliance and cyber-risks

Key strategic accomplishments

- Made targeted number of CoE hires and completed
migraticn

- Launched our new Group purpose: building a new era
of responsible growth

- Moved te new sustainable offices in the Cayman
Islands

- Completed Intertrust Group's first environmental
audit

- Prepared to move into new carbon-neutral
headquarters in Amsterdam in 2022

- Achieved EUR 20m targeted run-rate savings ahead of
schedule

- Completed the UN $DG Ambition accelerator
pregramime, aligning Intertrust Group with the UN
SDG benchmark of science-based emissions reduction
in line with a 1.5°C pathway

bt
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Clients and services

SDG contribution
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We are committed to supporting our clients by keeping
ahead of the changing world at both a global and local
level, We continue to develop services and solutions to
drive global business operations towards a more
efficient, connected Future that frees up our clients to
focus on their core activities. We Further capture
opportunities to expand and diversify the services we
offer, both organically and through M&A activity.

One important new initiative launched in 2021 is cur
Global Entity Solutions service. For clients who choose
this service, our teams manage all overseas entities,
covering regulatory compliance and the use of
technology to maximise administrative efficiency, and
ensuring global consistency.

During the year, we also expanded our global
relationship management programme to our top 250
clients. We also invited our tep 10 glebal clients to join
our new Platinum programme. These bysinesses
henefitted from our deep understanding of the issues
they face and our ability to provide them with selutions.
Platinum membership enabled these clients to

Clients and Services | Case

'Sy
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experience early releases of cur technology and be
involved in the development process. These initiatives
helped us te build traction with key clients and upsell
our services.

A gatekeeper to the financial services

industry

we view ourselves as a gatekeeper to the financial
services industry so that, through the provision of our
services, we enable our clients to be compliant with the
requlatory standards set in the jurisdictions in which
they operate. To do so, it is vital for us to know and
understand our clients. We aim to have clear policies and
procedures outlining the types of clients we choose to
serve.

We take our respansibility to protect the financial
services sector seriously by reqularly evaluating our risk
appetite. Through this process, we carefully consider our
risk profile, how ta react to new risks, threats,
opportunities and changes to regulation, as well as to
the changing demands of clients and society in general.

Currently our internal controls and screening processes
are being enhanced te further mitigate exposure te
these risks. This includes the routine screening of
activities and customers to mitigate risk that they may
be linked to money laundering, financing of terrorism,
tax evasion, sanction breaches, fraud or other criminal
acts. We provide guidance to clients on the most
appropriate legat entity structure for their needs and

A vertically integrated investment manager fb ¢

Round Hill Capital is headquartered in the UK;.{ ing.

In 2021, we continued to support Round Hill Capital with our
and accounting services for real estate d_eveft;pm'eni' )

Round Hill Capitat chose Intertrust Group as
a strategic partner because of our scalable
platform with specialised tech-enabled

systems, our proven track record in real estate -

and cur global Footprint, Qur investments in
technology — both in 2021 and in the future —
will help to make the real estate practice’s
processes far more efficient and ensure
continued responsible business. For example,
we have already invested in our property
management systems, digital signatures and
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ensure the ultimate solution is aligned to and in
compliance with the specific regulatory requirements of
the relevant market{s).

When it comes to client onboarding, we have set out
global risk appetite policies that govern aur key
onboarding decisions. Intertrust remains vigilant to risks
and has the policy to reject or stop servicing clients that
do not meet our risk appetite levels. Mitigating these
risks is an ongaing process in which we continuously
educate our staff. We are clear about the business
activities we will not accept, and our internal control
mechanisms are strengthened to assess and menitor cur
risk and business activities and relationships.

We are careful to ensure that we review and revise our
internal policies regularly to reflect changes in
regulation and wider shifts in societal norms or
expectations. We continuously align our risk
management and mitigation appreach with regutatory
expectations and the related external policy
environment and industry best practice. Operatingin a
highly scrutinised global marketplace means we are
subject to governmental investigations and regulatory
oversight. We seek to build collaborative relationships
with requlators in order to address any scrutiny.

Our role as a gatekeeper enables legitimate
international investment and trade. We aim to foster
long-term relationships with our clients based on trust
and transparency. We interact with our business
partners on the same basis to ensure our mutual clients'
needs are correctly met in a responsible and controlled
manner.

Key strategic accomplishments

- Acquired Pinsent Masons’ Hong Kong-based
corporate secretarial business

- Partnered with i2 Capital Markets to launch a consent
solicitation service

- Applied for a depository licence for our Ireland Funds
service

- Launched ESG Reporting Services to support our
clients in navigating the evelving ESG landscape

- Launched our Executive Compensation Services
sarvice

- Launched our Global Entities Solutions team

- Expanded oaur global relatianship management
programme from our top 50 clients to our top 250
clients

- Launched our Platinum programme for our top 10
clients
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People

SDG contribution
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People are our key asset, and we are committed to
creating an environment in which our colleagues can
grow, perform and thrive. We employ a diverse
colleague base of more than 4,000 people covering 95
different nationalities who operate from more than 30
countries. At the end of 2021, the tatal number of full-
time equivalents (FTEs) was 4,175 FTEs compared

with 4,076 FTEs at the end of 2020.

Qur annual staff turnover rate (voluntary attrition)
increased to 26.5% in 2021 (2020: 17.6%), mainly driven
by strong labour markets in select jurisdictions. This
impacted our productivity and in particular our time-
based revenue. We're partly reassured by the Fact this
trend of employee turnover is not limited to just us byt
companies around the globe are facing similar trends.
Despite the elevated employee attrition, our headcount
has increased compared to last year; we're successful
when it comes to hiring new talent. Nevertheless,
employee retention is currently among our top
priorities. We have a broad programme of work in place
aimed at creating a positive colleague experience; and
reducing the factors that encourage employees to
consider opportunities elsewhere. These initiatives
include creating clear career paths; investing in
development opportunities For all colleagues; enhancing
our management capability; improving recagnition and
ensuring we pay fairly and competitively.

We aim to recruit and retain talented professionals by
being the employer of choice in our industry, which
means providing a purpese-led, value-driven culture and
continuously investing in cur colleagues’ personal and
professicnal development. Putting this into action, in
2020 we set up our Global Job Framework to ensure
clarity and consistency of approach for all cur colleagues
in respect of career progression at Intertrust Group.

Following colleague feedback, we built on thisin 2021
with the launch of our Technical Campetency Guide. It
defines the duties, tasks and knewledge needed to
perform roles effectively at Intertrust Group, helping
colieagues at every level better understand what is
expected from them in terms of competencies and skills.

This initiative will also help managers to assess, maintain
and monitor the knowledge and skills of the team and to
make infermed decisions about recruitment and
succession. For Intertrust Group as a whale, it will
provide a clear framework for the training and
professional development we need to provide and, by
being transparent about exactly what is involved in
every jab, it will enable us to attract top talent and
reward top performers.

Aritae Gesott zul
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During Pride Month 2021, Intertrust Group hosted a range of online Pride experiences
for employees. The celebrations began with Drag Bingo. A lunchtime session open to all
colleagues, the event was billed as ‘much more than just a binga’— ‘a magicaljourney ..
with an amazing music selection, and laugh-out-loud jokes’. Colleagues were Invited

to dance, laugh, cheer — and win!’

Proceedings continued a week later with

an opportunity for a conversation with Thai
‘kathoey' Khun Jah , The event began with a
history of being trans in Thailand, which now
leads the world in acceptance of transgender
people. Khun Jah then shared her life story
and discussed some of her experiences over
the years while living as a trans person.

As part of the annual performance review process,
managers need to assess every colleague using the
Glohal fob Framework and Technical Competency Guide.
We also invite colleagues to assess themselves against
our values, now represented by our Group purpose of
building a new era of responsible growth.

In 2021, we hegan to develep a Global Salary Framewaork
linked to the structure of the Global Job Framework. We
aim to use this to ensure that employee compensation is
open and fair, Transparency in this area is important to
our colleagues, and it is also key to our future growth. By
operating responsibly and transparently, we can
sustainably attract, motivate and retain people who
drive our business success and uphold our company
values, in line with our vision of being the maost scught-
after place to work.

To help all our colleagues' development, in 2021 we
invested EUR 1.5 million in training and offered mere
than 750 internal training courses via our online training
platform, ELLA. For senior leaders, we launched 'Drive’, a
six-maonth global leadership programme based on the
Leadership Competency Framework we developed in
2020. we aim for all our senior leaders to participate in
this programme eventuatly.

Our annual ‘Your Voice’ survey revealed that we
maintained the significant progress made during 2020
on increasing the engagement levels of our colleagues.
Our Net Promoter Scare (NPS) of 23 is slightly lower
than our score of 29 for 2020 but remains comfortably
ahead of the 9 we scored in 2019. In addition, we
maintain a quarterly pulse survey cadence to actively
listen to our colleagues.
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Meanwhile, events in individual Intertrust
Group offices included training on LGBTIQ+
issues for leaders in Dublin, a webinar on :
topics including *breaking down the “perfect
Family” stereotype’ in India, and a ‘Pride Arch
selfie’ social media campaign in Luxembourg.:’

Diversity & Inclusion

At Intertrust Group, we want our people to reflect the
world we live in. We cannot deliver on our strategy or
enjoy coming ko work without it. & workForce made up
of different gender identities, nationalities, cultures,
generations, ethnic groups, abilities, education, social
backgrounds, sexual orientaticns, body sizes —and much
more — makes aur organisation stronger and more
sustainable. Qur Diversity & Inclusion Council leads our
efforts in this important space. The Ceuncil is made up
of eight colleagues from across Intertrust Group, who
meet every two weeks and regularty liaise with Roberto
Canenti, Shankar lyer, Chitra Baskar and Aileen Gillan
From the Executive Committee to discuss our priorities
and progress as we work to instil diversity and inclusion
into our culture and way of working.

We know that diversity helps us attract and retain the
best and brightest talent and allows us to understand
and respond better to our clients' needs. Qur Diversity &
Inclusion Charter sets out our promise to give all cur
people the same opportunities as anybody else,
regardless of who they are or where they come From.
QOur cemmitment to Diversity & Inclusion extends to all
areas of the business, including but not limited to:
Attraction, selection and retention of colleagues
Performance management

Compensation and benefits

Talent management, internal mobility and succession
planning

Learning and capability development

Health, safety and security

ESG

Product design and delivery

Supplier management

Customer service
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Intertrust Group cantinues to be a member of the
Warkplace Pride organisation. In 2021, we ran global
virtual celebrations with our people during Pride Month.
We also signed the Declaration of Amsterdam, through
which we commit to ensuring LGBTIQ+ inclusion in our
workplaces around the world and that all Intertrust
Group colleagues enjoy the same rights and freedoms.

88% of our colleagues have completed aur courses on
unconscicus bias and sexual harassment and
discrimination, just some of the many training courses in
ELLA helping to generate awareness of Diversity &
Inclusion topics. This training is mandatory because we
want to ensure that each and every one of our
colleagues is appreciated, respected and feels safe at
the workplace. No matter their background, beliefs or
appearance, we need our colleagues to be comfortable
in bringing their whole selves to work and te feel
confident that they are receiving equal opportunities to
grow, develop and make their ambitions a reality.

The average age of our colleagues is 36 years.

Around 38% of our colleagues are in the 21-30 year age
range (2020: 38%), 38% in the 31-40 year range (2020:
38%) and 24% in the 41-67 year range (2020: 24%).

Female colleagues account For approximately 48% of
the total. According to Linked|n Insights, we score higher
on gender diversity in all of our key markets than our
immediate competitors.

Our Women in Leadership programme, encempassing a

range of initiatives, enhances our efferts ko ensure

diversity and inclusion. in 2021, we had a special focus

on India where we ran a set of initiatives aimed at

develeping our female talent but also helping women on

career breaks to return to the labour markekt with us.

Ciuring the year, our gender diversity across Intertrust

Croup was as follows:

41% female in junior management positions

34% female in senfor management positions

- 38% female in people management positions

- 54% female on our FLeX Management Development
Programme

At Intertrust Group, we encourage gender parity and are
committed to minimising the gender pay gap in the
longer term. We have completed another review of
gender pay gaps during Q4 2021. Qur analysis identified
4% of females in our overall employee population that
require deeper analysis and possible adjustment in our
next compensation review process at the start of 2022.
We remain committed to ensuring that all colleagues,
regardless of gender are paid equally For doing
equivalent roles across our business, where we identify
this is not the case, we will take appropriate measures.

Moving forward, we will continue to work an a wide
range of initiatives to make Intertrust Group a truly
inclusive and diverse workplace. For example, in 2021
we participated in Target Gender Equality, a gender
equality accelerator programme for signatories of the

Business performance
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UN Global Compact. We assessed ourselves against
giobal benchmarks and will soon be communicating the
results and details of our follow-up actions.

We have committed to reaching 30% female
representation in the combined Management Board/
Executive Committee by end 2024. Intertrust is pleased
to report that it already complies with the legal quota of
at least one-third representation for both women and
men on its Supervisory Boards.

COVID-19

The health and safety of our people has always been a
top priority, and in 2021 it continued to play a key role
given the COVID-19 pandemic. The balance of
colleagues working at the cffice and at home continues
to vary significantly acrass our global netwark of offices.
However, we have followed all laws and governmental
guidelines in this area in every location. We have
encouraged colleagues to return te working in the office
on a Flexible basis where legally permitted, but we
support those who wish to continue working at home.
Over time, we would like to transition gradually to a
business-led hybrid way of working, with a 60:40 balance
between working from our offices and at home. At
present, we have several offices practising this model
with considerable success.

Qur flexible working auidance, intreduced in 2020, gives
everyoene at Intertrust Group the opportunity te
consider an alternative pattern to normal work
arrangements depending on their location and the
nature of their work. In line with the UN SDGs (Goal 8:
decent work and economic growth, and Goal 13: climate
action), Intertrust Group's new flexible working guidance
encourages employee well-being, work-life balance and
reduced carbon Footprint as a result of less commuting.

Alongside a wide array of local initiatives, we have
maintained several proegrammes across all our offices, to
help our colleagues through ancther challenging year
and to benefit them well into the fFuture, These include
our network of currently around 25 volunteer Health &
wellness champions, who can be approached in
confidence to guide their colleagues to various health
and wellness resources, and a global employee
assistance programme giving our colleagues and their
families access to a confidential health and wellness-
related helpline. In 2021, we supplemented these with
new Health & Wellness courses in ELLA and a dedicated
Health & Wellness site on our global intranet,

Community work

All Intertrust Group colleagues are encouraged to
engage in community work. Hundreds of our colleagues
devote time and expertise every year to support local
communities. They bring public awareness to social and
envircnmental issues and actively help those in need
through fundraising and event crganising. They build
stronger relationships with co-workers and their
communities by spending meaningful time together.
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In all, more than 3,000 colleagues attended
Dare to Dream, tuning in from homes and
offices around the world. with the help

of polls and Q&A sessicns, the event was
designed to be as interactive as possible.

Colleagues were encouraged to share their :

personal insights, with their questions
answered in real time by the leadership tea
Coupled with Follow-up workshops, this
interaction has helped our people to fully

Business performance

engage with the updated purpose and vision: .

Code of Conduct

Intertrust Group prides itself on demonstrating the
highest levels of conduct amongst our people and when
dealing with our clients. All of our colleagues are
required to adhere to our Code of Conduct?® which we
periodically review and update to guide our

colleagues and ensure that it reflects the purpose and
values that govern Intertrust Group across all our
businesses around the globe. Qur colleagues are

also expected to subscribe to the purpose and values it
outlines and are required to acknowledge the Code of
Conduct, first through their signature at the start of
their intertrust Group careers and then via ongoing
training and updates, Being able to demonstrate the
Intertrust Group values is a care component of each
colleague’s performance review.

Under our Whistle-blower Policy?, all our people are
encouraged to report concerns and should feel no
constraint in doing so. The purpose aof this policy is to
provide all Intertrust Group colleagues, contractors and
delegates with a mechanism For reporting their concerns
outside the normal management reporting channels.
Colleagues can report a concern anonymously if they
prefer, with all reports treated in confidence.

Maintaining the highest levels of conduct is not 3 one-
time exercise; it is an engoing responsibility that is
ingrained in the culture of our company and promoted
strongly through our regular and mandatory training
programmes, covering key conduct topics such as Anti-
Money Laundering, Anti-Bribery, Social Engineering,
Password and PIN Protection, and Unconscious Bias.

Qur governance Financial Statements

in 2022, we will continue promoting our conduct
expectations and governance, risk and compliance
awareness through the launch of more training
programmes to complement what we already have in
place. Training is mandatory, and we monitor
completion rates frequently to ensure at least 90% of
our colleagues complete new training within four weeks
of its launch. We view the completion of mandatory
training within the given deadline as a critical element of
our risk and compliance-focused culture and key to
ensuring that our colleagues' behaviour is aligned with
Intertrust Group's culture and values,

Anti-bribery and corruption

Maintaining our reputation and licence to operate in an
industry with an ever-changing requlatory landscane
requires responsible and robust business conduct.
Intertrust Group always seeks to demonstrate strong
levels of integrity and ethics when dealing with our
clients and vendors and has nc appetite to maintain or
enter into relationships with individuals or erganisations
engaqed in, or suspected of having engaged in, illegal or
unethical activities.

Under our Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy, our overall
objective is to promeote a culture of ethical business
practices and compliance with anti-bribery and
corruption and legal and regulatcry requirements. If we
were to identify or beceme aware of incidents or
allegations of corruption connected to our clients then
that would be deemed as a significant trigger event and
would prompt a full risk assessment review and decision
on retention or exit. Where bribery or corruption is
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confirmed we would evidently seek to exit the client
relationship.

Human rights

We establish long-term business relationships with
clients who respect the UN Universal Declaration of
Human Rights and the eight fundamental Conventions
of the International Labour Organisation. Our internal
processes include a review of our clients’ overall sacial
performance. Our due diligence, onboarding, periodic
client review processes and policies include, but are not
limited to: Full risk assessments on our clients activities,
background, owners/controllers, including screening and
adverse media checks. If we were to identify any human
rights issues in our client due diligence and/ar KYC
process then that would prompt a full risk review
assessment and a decision on retenticn or exit.

Key strategic accomplishments

- Founded cur Diversity & Inclusion Council, with the
appointment of eight colleague representatives

- Started with our Global Job Framework, launched in
2020, to support career develecpment plans

- Launched our Technical Competency Guide to
support the development of colleagues in client-
facing rales; remaining functions to follaw in 2022

- Began to develop a Glebal Salary Framewark to
ensure that employee compensation is open and Fair

- Committed to reaching 30% female representation in
the Management Board/Executive Committee
combination and the Supervisery Board by 2024 and
to targeting an overall gender balance of at least 40%
female and 40% male

- Signed Workplace Pride's Declaration of Amsterdam,
a staterment of commitment to creating and
maintaining a truly LGBTIQ+ inclusive workplace

Business performance
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Innovation and technology

SDG contribution

THINT w0Rs M0
TCONBU K CROWTH

o

Innovation and technology are critical to our strategy, as
we aim to provide our clients and colleagues with
innovative solutions and cutting-edge technology so
they have the power to succeed. Qur core ambition is to
transform the way we operate by leveraging proprietary
technolegy and in-house development teams.

Central to this ambition, and our overall technology
architecture, is IRIS, an online portal where ¢lients can
communicate digitally with us while accessing data and
documents remotely from any device. We continue to
work closely with our clients to plan, develop and
release new features into this strategic platform of the
Future. We have also made significant progress in
Fastlane, a programme that aims to automate our
internal processes. In 2021, we continued the
implementation of our Risk Engine, Transaction
Monitoring and ‘know-your-client’ (KYC) modules. These
modules are designed to enable Intertrust Group to
perform all key corporate administration processes
digitally, a first for our industry.

The panderic has brought challenges but also
opportunities. This was the first time our entire industry
ecosystem shifted to a remote-working environment.
We are proud that we have been able to use technology
successfully to transition to working from home while
continuing to deliver to our clients. This achievement
has validated our digital-first mindset and belief that
transforming our industry is the key to delivering lasting
value to our clients and colleagues. To this end, we are
also working on exciting new technology products in
areas such as blockchain, artificial intelligence (Al) and
machine learning.

Using technelogy to enable responsible

business

In 2021, our digital transformation continued to support
our efforts to help drive the efficiency of cur processes —
which, in turn, has helped improve our environmental
impact — as we maoved to replace hard-copy
documentation wherever possible, By its nature, our
industry requires significant amounts of signed
documentation to support our clients' legal and
regulatory Functions.

In 2020, we implemented electronic signature
technology, Adobe Sign, to reduce the need for
physically signed documents while maintaining or
increasing cur level of operational centrol. Thanks to this
move, the majority of our signatures to our documents
during 2021 were electronic.
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Fastiane is a specialised project unit created to deliver
key etements of intertrust Group's Innovation and
Technology strategic pillar. Established by the Intertrust
Group Executive Committee in 2018, Fastlane’s
immediate mission is ta automate and improve the way
our colleagues work to service our clients (via our
modules), enabling the secure access to key data and
documents for all of their Intertrust Group administered
legal entities, From any device, anytime, anywhere, The
digital solution will help lower our carbon feotprint by
reducing paper consumption for both internal and
external pracesses (For example, entity creation and
transaction monitoring). Corporate Services has
traditionally been a very paper-intensive industry.
Fastlane, and our digitalisation strategy in general,
underline our efforts to disrupt the industry by creating
a modern, sustainable operational ecosystem.

Our Innovation Lab

In 2021, our dedicated Innovation Lab delivered several
key sclutions to drive the efficiency of our processes and
the vaiue we offer our clients. For example, we launched
a smart invoice processing solution that automates
many of our accounting processes and learns with every
transaction, leading to 50% efficiency gains compared to
previous manual efforts. In addition, our Innovation Lab
has worked on a ‘'nudging’ selution to positively
reinforce and influence decision making behavior,

= Innovation & lechnology | Case
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helping users to focus on key tasks in areas such as
customer onboarding and customer service.
Furthermore, our Innovation Lab has helped enhance
our Krniow-Your-Client and Anti-Money Laundering
solution by leveraging blockchain capabilities for
applications such as tracking workflow adherence, audit
trailing, and ensuring document security.

Key strategic accomplishments
Began implernentaticn of the Fastlane Risk Engine,
Transaction Monitoring and KY{C medules

- Launched a lcan administration platform created by
integrating with IHS Markit's Wall Street QOffice (WSQ)
software

- Beganimplementation of SAP across jurisdictions,
launched Prome and Trax

- Incorporated machine learning technology into some
of our products and services

Seizing machine learning opportunities
to deliver value

In recent years, Intertrust Group has taken important steps to go beyond rule-based
automation to machine-learning automation, with the latter enabling processes that are
continuously refined and optimised rather than simply repeated. Embracing machine
learning in this way has enabled us to deliver a better customer experience and drive the

efficiency of our processes.

Specifically, in 2021, Intertrust Group
applied machine learning to two key areas:
cash reconciliation processes and fite
processing in Fund Services. By analysing
significant quantities of historical data and
better identifying patterns in user behaviour,
machine learning has enabled over 20%
efficiency gains in smart extraction,
transformation, and loading of files, and over
50% efficiency gains in key processes related
to cash reconciliation, compared to previous

a8

manual efforts. Importantly, machine learning
has also enabled clients to industrialise
continuous improvement in their business
processes.

Looking ahead, in line with our purpose

of building a new era of respansible growth,
Intertrust Group will continue to explore the
opportunities of machine tearning, as well as
other digital technolagies, to deliver value
to all stakeholders.




<Contents At a glance How we create value Business performance Financial Statements
responsibly




«Contents

At a glance How we create value
responsibly

Business
performance

Business performance

Financial performance 42
Investor relations and shares 45
Compliance and risk management 47
Statement from the Management Board 54

40

Qur governance

Financial Statements




<Contents At a glance How we ¢reate value Business performance Our governance Financiat Statements
respansibly

of jurisdictions, sho
the competitive stre
of our growth mark:
offering.” ‘




How we create value
responsibiy

«Contents At a glance

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenuc

In 2021, reported revenue increased 1.2% y-0-y ta

EUR 571.3 million, compared to EUR 564.5 million in
2020. On an underlying basis revenue increased 1.5% y-
o-y , with the difference being attributable to changes in
the foreign exhange rates, particularly the US dollar and
British Pound. Growth was driven by the service lines
Funds and Capital Markets.

Underlying revenue in Corporates decreased 0.9% y-o-y
to EUR 186.4 million, driven by lower revenue in the
Netherlands and Luxembaourg. This was mainly due to
continued elevated employee attrition (Group: 26.5% in
FY 2021), leading to lower preductivity and mostly
impacting time-based fees. This was partly offset by
high-single digit to double-digit growth in Jersey,
Americas, UK, Nordics and Spain. Underlying revenue in
Funds increased 3.6% y-o-y to EUR 254.0 million. This
was mainly driven by US Fund Services (Former Viteos),
which grew at a double-digit growth rate. Furthermore,
growth in Asia Pacific {including Australia), Nordics and
Luxembourg was partly offset by lower revenues in
Cayman and the Netherlands. Capital Markets showed
underlying revenue growth of 6.3% y-0-y to

EUR 70.9 million. Growth was driven by nearly a!
jurisdictions, with particularly strang performance in UK,
Ireland, Luxembourg and Jersey. Underlying revenue in
Private Wealth declined 4.2% y-o-y to EUR 57.0 million,
mainly driven by Jersey and the Netherlands. Private
Wealth continued to show robust growth in Asta Pacific,

ERITA and EBITA margin

Reported EBITA decreased to EUR 151.7 million in 2021
from EUR 162.3 millicn in 2020. Reported EBITA margin
decreased to 26.6% from 28.8% in 2020.

FY 2021 adjusted EBITA was EUR 169.8 million, resulting
in a 29.7% adjusted EBITA margin. The FY 2021 adjusted
EBITA included EUR 13.8 million one-off costs related to
remediation activities, the CIMA fine and other legal and

Adjusted EBITA (EUR million)

Adiusted

EBITA margin 14.4%’ 29.7%

45.2%

42.0% 45.7%

185.1

Adj. EBITA
FY 2020

Adj. EBITA
FY 2021

Rest of Americas

the world

HQ
&IT

Western
Europe

! As percentage of Group revenue
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Revenue (EUR million)

Underlying change
(% y-0)

4.3% 1.5%

-4.7%

7.1%

Revenues
FY 2021

Rest of Americas

the warld

Western
Europe

Revenues
Fr 2020

compliance costs. The normalised margin excluding one-
of f costs was 32.1%, compared to 32.8% in 2020. This
was mainly driven by increased staff expenses as a result
of a higher headcount and the onboarding and training
of new employees. Retention of staff is one of the key
Focus areas For management throughout the company
and Intertrust is committed to continue to invest in its
employees.

Centre of Excellience

In 2021 Intertrust migrated its activities in UK, Ireland
and Luxembaourg te the Centre of Excellence {CoE). As
such, Intertrust has completed the migration of its
activities to the Centre of Excellence and the targeted
EUR 20m net run-rate savings were achieved ahead of
schedule by the end of September 2021.

Financing and tax expenses

The reported net financial result in 2021 of negative
EUR 14.5 million (2020: negative EUR 53.3 millicn)
included net interest expenses of EUR 34.1 million
(2020: EUR 37.2 million). The difference in the net
financial result is primarity explained by the impact of
the fair value adjustment of the early redemption option
of the senior notes, which was a positive

EUR 19.8 million in 2021, compared to a negative

EUR 13.1 million in 2020.

Income tax expense was EUR 22.7 million in FY 2021 (FY
2020: EUR 15.0 million). The change versus FY 2020 was
primarily impacted by the result of the non-cash
revaluation of the early redemption option of the senior
notes and the impact of the statutory tax rate change in
the Netherlands on the deferred tax position. The
effective tax rate was 25.8%in FY 2021 and the
normalised effective tax rate excluding the impact of
the revaluation of the early redemption option was
24.7%. This was slightly higher than expected due to an
adverse mix impact from ane-off costs incurred in lower
tax jurisdictions.
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Net income

In 2021 Intertrust generated reported net income of
EUR 65.3 millicn, compared to EUR 20.8 million in 2020.
QOn an adjusted basis, net income was EUR 117.7 million
in 2021, compared to EUR 132.1 million in 2020. The
adjustments in 2021 were for amortization of
acquisition-related intangibles (EUR 49.2 million),
integration and transformation costs (EUR 11.3 million),
transaction costs and other items (EUR 6.8 million), cne-
offs in net financial result (EUR -20.8 million) and one-off
tax expense (EUR 5.1 million).

Earnings per share

Reported earnings per share were EUR 0.72 in 2021,
compared to EUR Q.23 in 2020. 2021 adjusted EPS was
EUR 1.30 (FY 2020: EUR 1.47). The average number of
outstanding shares was 90,353,410in 2021 (2020:
90,162,583).

Cash, working capital and capex

In 2021 net cash flow from operating activities was

EUR 111.9 million compared to EUR 175.1 millien in
2020. This was mostly driven by increased total working
capital of EUR 40.6 million positive at the end of 2021
compared to EUR 10.4 million negative at the end of last
year. The year-on-year increase versus December 2020
mainly relates to a temporary lagin billing and collection
that continued throughout the fourth quarter. The lag in
billing led to higher WIP and higher receivables at the
end of Q4 2021 and was mainly related to the
implementation of our new ERP system. The working
capital has recovered in jurisdictions where the ERP
system was implemented first, whereas the working
capital in jurisdictions with more recent
implementations still has to improve. This is expected to
recover in the coming period. Capex was 3.0% of
revenue for the full year.

The Group’s total liquidity per the end of 2021
amounted to EUR 257.71 million. Combined with the
strong cash generation this provides ample headroom to
fFulfill all payment obligations for the next twelve
months, tested under various scenarios. The Term Loan
A 3 thatis maturing in June 2022 is expected to be
partially repaid before the maturity date. Any remaining
amounts at the maturity date will be drawn under the
Revolving Credit Facility which provides ample
headroom.

Net debt

As of 31 December 2021, net debt was

EUR 774.5 million, cempared to EUR 792.7 million at the
end of 2020. The decrease in net debt is mainly driven by
Intertrust’s cash generation and partially offset by FX
impact on the USD and GDP loans. The leverage ratio
decreased to 3.75x from 3.83x at 31 December 2020,
leaving a headroom of 16.7% versus the bank covenant
of 4.50x.
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Fir3nzial pe-formance

43

Our governance Financial Statements

Western Europe

In 2021 underlying revenue in Western Eurcpe declined
by 4.7%, driven by the Netherlands and Luxembourg.
Continued elevated employee attrition led to lower
productivity, mostly impacting time-based fees in these
jurisdictions.

In the Netherlands, underlying revenue declined 8.6%,
with declines visible across all services lines except
Capital Markets which remained broadly flat.

In Luxembourg, revenue declined 2.8%, Fully driven by
Corporates, Luxembourg witnessed growth in Funds and
Capital Markets while Private Wealth was broadly flat
compared to last year.

2021 adjusted EBITA for the region amounted to

EUR 1C0.3 million (2020: EUR 116.5 million). The
resulting adjusted EBITA margin was 45.2% in FY 2021,
down 475bps y-o-y, reflecting higher costs related to
increased remediation efforts and reduced productivity
due to increased employee attriticn.

Rest of the World (ROW)

in Rest of the World all jurisdictions contributed to the
solid underlying revenue growth of 7.1% in 2021, with
nearly two-thirds of them showing high single-digit or
double-digit revenue growth. Growth was driven by
Corporates (Jersey, UK, Nordics), Funds {Asia Pacific,
Nordics, Ireland) and Capital Markets (UK, Ireland,
Jersey). Private Wealth continued to perform well in Asia
Pacific.

2021 adjusted EBITA amounted tc EUR 90.0 million
compared to EUR 81.5 million in FY 2020 showing an
underlying increase of 8.7% and outperforming revenue
growth. The adjusted EBITA margin for 2021 was 42.0%
compared to 41.3% last year.

Americas

in 2021, Americas reparted underlying revenue growth
of 4.3%, supported by growth across all service lines. US
Fund Services continued to perform well with a double-
digit growth rate in the year. Furthermore, the region
reported robust growth in Corporates. Underlying
revenue in Cayman Islands declined 3.7% in 2021.

Adjusted EBITA for the region was EUR 61.9 million in
2021 campared to EUR 72.1 million last year. Adjusted
EBITA margin was 45.7% in 2021, showing an underlying
decline of 772bps, mainly driven by the casts and
provisions that were recognised as a result of the CIMA
fine and other one-off remediation expenses.

Group HQ and IT costs

Total Group HQ & IT costs amounted to EUR 82.4 million
in 2021, a decrease of 3.1% compared to last year and
below the previously communicated quarterly run rate
of around EUR 22.5 million per quarter. Group HQ costs
include expenses of global employee share plans such as
the Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP). Group IT expenses
of EUR 49.0 million remained relatively stable in 2021
(2020: EUR 48.7 million).
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CORPORATE TAX POLICY

As part of our ESG programme, we recognise the
importance of contributing te the public finances of the
countries in which we create business value by making
timely payment of our tax liabilities. We comply with the
tax laws and requlations in all countries in which we
aperate, and make every effort to act alsoin the spirit of
those laws and regulations. This includes such measures
as providing to the relevant authorities the information
necessary for the correct determination of taxes to be
assessed in connection with aur operations and
conforming transfer pricing practices accerding to the
arm'’s length principle. Qur corporate tax pelicy is built
on the following elements:

- Cur tax principles are aligned with our business
principles and our corporate values. We adhere to the
principle that tax should Follow the business, and
profits will be allocated to the countries in which
business value is created.

- We will not enter into transactions or structures that
are notifiable to tax authorities under mandatory
disclosure regimes unless there are sound business
reasons to do so. Even with sound business reasons,
we may still decline these transactions or structures if
they do not align with our reputation, brand and
social responsibility.

- Qur objective is to be compliant with national and
international rules and best-practice guidelines {such
as the QECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises)
and to adhere to the arm's length principles.

- We operate in low- or no-tax jurisdictions for
legitimate and justifiable non-tax business reasons.

- Within Intertrust, tax Follows the business and the
Company therefore declares profits, and pays the
relevant taxes, in those countries where the business
value is created. The Company applies the arm’s
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length principle when calculating appropriate
transfer prices.

- We are committed te developing and maintaining
apen, constructive and cooperative relationships with
tax authorities and other stakeholders, based on
integrity and mutual trust and respect.

- Periodical meetings are scheduled by the tax
department (joined by the Chief Financial OFfficer)
with local management to discuss tax developments,
our tax policy and any local uncertain tax positions in
detail.

- Intertrust has a limited tax risk appetite,

- Qur tax position and tax risk management procedures
are regularly discussed at the level of the Executive
Committee, Management Board and Audit & Risk
Committee of the Supervisory Board.

- Our global tax position is regularly discussed with and
reviewed by internal and external auditors. Our
Annual Report provides clear tax disclosures.

- we explicitly confirm that our whistle-blower policy
also applies to our tax professionals and tax
processes.

- Intertrust Group is in the process of further aligning
and documenting its tax controls globally. Technology
is the backbone of this alignment. The ongoing
implementation of one common ERP system
(SAP4HANA) is utilised to enhance global control.
intertrust Group Further aims to utilise technology to
improve control and increase efficiency in its tax
processes.

- QurGlobal Tax Policy and Principles of Conduct are
approved by the Management Board and are
published on our corporate website https://
www.intertrustgroup.com/about-us/environmental-
social-and-governance-strategy

Aligning corporate values with tax principles

Respansive Excelfent

We will work to ensure the
business understands that the tax
function should be Involved

We are open and honest, and will
value, support and treat everyone
{colleagues, clients, and other

Innovative Connecied

We encourage and enable all staff
to raise concerns and report
suspected wrongdoing or activities

We seek to develop and
maintain open, constructive, and
cooperative relationships with

stakeholders) equally, and with
mutual respect in order to support
our Further growth and
improvement of our reputation,
brand, corporate and social
responsibilities.

‘we observe all applicable laws,
reles regulations and disclosure
requirements.

we wilt ensure the business
understands our tax risk
management policy and principles,
including our risk appetite.

We will Fully adhere to our Tax
Principles as defined in our Global

Tax Policy and Principles of Conduct.

We are compliant with all anti-
bribery legislation.

throughout transactions from
planning and implementation te
decumentation or maintenance.

We invest in a team of qualified tax
professionals by enabling them to
further develop their personal and
professional skills and knowledge.

We ensure all decisions are taken at
an appropriate level and supported
with documentation that evidences
the facts, conclusians and risks
invalved.

tax authorities and other
stakeholders, based on integrity
and mutual trust and respect.

that he/she considers tc be
dishonest under the Intertrust
Whistle-hlower Policy.

we will work jointly with the
business as an equal partner in
providing clear, timely, and
relevant business focused advice
across all aspects of tax.

We apply diligent professional
care and judgement to arrive at
well-reasoned conclusions.

We will provide appropriate input
as part of the approval process for
business proposals tc ensure a clear
understanding of the tax
consequences (i.e. costs, benefits,
risks).
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The financial market community — our current shareholders and potential shareholders,
debt investors and research analysts — rely on us being transparent and trustworthy.
They want to see our clear commitment to creating value, they want us to provide
timely and accurate updates and they want ample opportunity to seek clarification and
ask questions. The primary goal of our investor relations activities is to be clear and
consistent in communicating our financial, operational and ESG performance, and our
strategy, objectives and outlook in a timely and transparent manner.

Shareholder engagement

Intertrust attaches great value te maintaining an open
dialogue with its shareholders, investors and equity
analysts to keep them clearly and reliably informed and
to receive valuable fFeedback. Our engagement is aimed
at supporting the Company's strategic ambitions by
notifying the markets an financial and operational
developments. In addition to publishing financial results
on a quarterly basis, we also organise quarterly
conference calls for research analysts and institutional
investors to discuss those results. Recordings of these
calls can be Found on our website:
https:/fAwww.intertrustgroup.com/investors.

At least on a quarterly basis, the Supervisory Board
receives a report summarising feedback from
institutionat shareholders and investers as well as equity
analysts, giving them a clear understanding of financial
markets' views, including strengths, weaknesses,
concerns and opportunities.

Intertrust actively engages with existing and potential
shareholders, equity analysts and rating agencies to
build enduring relationships based on a constructive
dialogue. Our Management Beard hosts one-on-one and
group investor meetings during (international)
roadshows or in-house meetings and attends broker-
organised investar conferences. Please refer to our
website for Intertrust Group's policy on bilateral
contacts with shareholders.

Dividend

Cur wividend rolicy aims for, among other things,
distributing a fixed annual cash dividend of 20% of
adjusted net income. As a prudent step to ensure that
the Company retains its financial flexibility, the
Management Board, with approval from the Supervisory
Board, decided not to propose a final dividend For 2019
and no dividend for 2020. On 27 September 2021,
Intertrust Group announced to start @ EUR 100 million
share buyback programme, which was suspended after
entering into exclusive negotiations with CVC Capital
Partners, as announced on 12 November 2021. Cn

6 December 2021, Intertrust and Cerporation Service
Company announced reaching a conditional agreement
on a recommended public offer for all issued and
outstanding ordinary shares of Intertrust for EUR 20.00
(cum dividend) in cash per share. Following this
agreement, the Management Board decided not to
propose a dividend to the AGM over the year 2021.

Major shareholders

Dutch law requires shareholders holding a (direct or
indirect) capital and/or voting interest of 3% or more in
fntertrust ta disciose such to the AFM. The AFM
processes these disclosures in its publicly availabie
register which can be found at www.afm.nl.

As per 31 December 2021, the following parties had
made a notification to the AFM with respect to their
shareholding in Intertrust N.V. The shareholding of
Harbor Spring Capital and Hawk Ridge Capital
Management are taken from letters published on

29 September 2021 and 4 November 2021 respectively.
Actual percentages may differ slightly.

Major shareholders

Teleios Capltal Partners

TIC Advisors

JP Morgan Chase & Co
Magnetar Financial

Allianz Global Investors
Harber Spring Capital

FMR

Lucerne Capital Management
DWWS Investment

Hawk Ridge Capital Management
Barclays

UBS Croup

Narges Bank
AllianceBernstein

7 Percentage of voting rights, source: AFM register, public letters

Irret cst e

%’ Date af notification

21 September 2021
7 December 2021

7 December 2021

7 December 2020
9 Auqust 2021

29 September 2021
20 December 2021
28 May 2021

31 December 2021
4 November 2021
20 December 2021
16 December 2021
15 December 2021
21 April 2020
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Volume (rhs) — Intertrust share price {lhs)

Share price performance

Intertrust Group has been listed on Euronext
Amsterdam since its IPO in Qctober 2015 and its shares
are traded under the ticker symbolINTER. The Company
has been included in the AMX mid-cap index of Euronext
Amsterdam since March 2016.

The share price ended the year 2021 at EUR 19.60, which
was 41.2% above the closing price of EUR 13.88 at

31 December 2020, An overview of the share pricein
2021 is shown in the graph above.

Closing price as at 31 December 2020 EUR13.88
Highest closing price 2021 EUR 20.80
Lowest closing price 2021 EUR 11.50
Closing price as at 31 December 2021 EUR 19.60
Market cap as at 31 December 2021 EUR 1.8 billion
Average daily volume shares ? 158,050

! Traded on Euronext Amsterdam

Senior unsecured notes and rat‘mgs

In November 2018, Intertrust Group B.V. issued 7-year
EUR 500 million senior unsecured notes with a coupon
of 3.375% (listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange).
The Notes have a BB rating with stable outlook at
Standard & Poor's and a BaZ rating with negative
outlook at Moody's, For more information about this
offering, please refer to the corporate website or Note
20 of the financial report.
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Research coverage

Currently, eight sell-side analysts actively track our
performance and regularly publish equity research
reports on Intertrust: ABN AMRO — Oddo BHF, Degroof
Petercam, Deutsche Bank, HSBC, JP Margan & Chase
Co., KBC Securities, Kempen & Co, and UBS. Their details
can be found at: https://www.intertrustgroup.com/
investors/analysts.

Financial vear and quarterly reporting
Intertrust's financial year runs from 1 January to

31 December. We provide trading updates for the first
and third quarters of each year, interim financials For the
half-year and full audited financial statements for year
end.

Closed periods 2022

1 January 2022 -- 10 February 2022
1 April 2022 —29 April 2022

1 July 2022 - 28 July 2022

1 October 2022 — 27 October 2022

Financial calendar 2022

Date Event

29 April Publication of Q1 2022 results

12 May Annual Ceneral Meeting

28 July Publication of Q2/H1 2022 results & reviewed interim

financial statements
27 October Publication of Q3 2022 results
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We are committed to supporting our clients comply with legal, requiatory and risk
standards in every location and business segment we operate in. Frequent and
continual changes in regulations and policies, and increased scrutiny from supervisory
bodies, regulators, and society at large continue to influence and shape the industry. An
effective and robust Compliance and Risk Management framework is of c¢ritical

importance to Intertrust Group.

A detailed knowledge of our clients and a complete understanding of their
requirements are the cornerstones of our ability to serve them and to operate in
compliance with the highest legal, requlatory, risk and societal standards.

Strategic progress

As a provider of corporate, fund and fiduciary services,
Intertrust Group has always placed regulatory
compliance and risk management at the centre of doing
business. In 2021, our Compliance and Risk Management
teams continued to lead and transform Compliance and
Risk Management activities, in support of our strategy of
strengthening and expanding our Corporate Services,
accelerating Funds and leveraging technology and global
reach. [n May 2021, Aileen Gillan was appointed as Chief
Risk Officer to lead the team, which is responsible For
providing oversight both of the firm’s risk profile and
execution of its compliance and risk management
framework.

Intertrust Group is undergoing a transformation to
provide tech-enzbled corporate and fund solutions. Part
of this transformation is aimed at the alignment of
common global processes and improving workflows,
including know-your-customer (KYC) and ongaing
customer due diligence activities (such as transaction
monitoring and customer and payment screening), with
the ultimate aim of creating a more effective, efficient
and compliant operating platform.

Based on shortcomings identified through internal and
regulatory inspections (including the CIMA penalty) and
the increasingly complex regulated envirecnment in
which Intertrust Group operates, in 2021 we have
started to implement further remediation activities with
a strong Focus on the Netherlands, Cayman Islands and
Luxembourg. in addition to the one-off costs related to
the CIMA fine {nated below) and other legal and
compliance costs incurred over the course of 2021, we
committed to implement Further remediation activities
in 2021 and 2022. For 2021, the total amount of one-off
costs was EUR 13.8 million, related to remediation
activities, the CIMA fine and other legal and compliance
costs. This includes a programme to reinforce the firm’s
glebal policies and procedures frameweork, with
additional guidance on minimum standards for
colleagues. This process will support remediation activity
and enhance the colleague and customer experience
through the application of market-leading practice
across all of the jurisdictions in which we operate. When
completed, the automated customer due diligence
processes will improve our employee experience, ocur
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efficiency and accuracy in servicing clients, and
ultimately lead to the delivery of a mare seamless,
consistent customer journey globally. In 2022 we expect
to spend a similar amount on these one-off activities as
in 2021. Moreover, increased regulateory and compliance
remediation requirements are expected to leadto a
higher cost to deliver our services.

In 2021, the Compliance and Risk Management team
further sharpened regular compliance and risk reporting
to the Executive Committee and the Supervisary Board,
providing an enriched level of compliance and risk
metrics, including culture and conduct.

Risk and compliance culture

Recognising the responsibilities that come with our role
as Industry gate-keeper, strengthening our culture in the
areas of risk, compliance and integrity has been and
continues to be a key objective for Intertrust. We aim to
ensure that all colleagues understand the need for a
continuous focus on risk, compliance and integrity as an
integral part of our culture through ongoing
communication, awareness and training. This will be
reinforced through performance management
processes and KPls that help underpin our belief that
managing risk and compliance, and consistently doing
the right things the right way, is everyone’s
responsibility. Always.

QOur Code of Conduct reinfarces cur culture and values
by setting out expected standards of behaviour. The
principles it codifies underpin everything we do. We are
intensifying our monitoring of compliance with it.
During the year, we recarded no significant breaches of
the Code of Conduct. By means of an e-learning,
colleagues are required to affirm they have read and
comply with it at least annually. In 2621, 97.0% of the
approximately 1,250 new Intertrust Group colleagues
had completed the Code of Conduct e-learing,
compared to 90.4% of our maore than 1,500 new hires,
including contingent workers,
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Risk appetite

During the year, we continued te apply our global risk
appetite and risk tolerances in alignment with our
strategy, global policies and standards.

The Group Risk Appetite Framework (GRAF) applies to all
functions, entities and jurisdictions. Supplementary risk
appetite statements are permitted where mandated by
requlatory requirements, and should operate within the
GRAF.

Our Risk Appelite Statements reflect the balance
required between risk-taking and the commercial and
reputaticnal implications of doing so, promeoting good
customer outcomes and protecting the Group from
excessive exposure. The Risk Appetite Statements
include qualitative and quantitative limits which inform
strateqgy, targets, policies, procedures and other controls
that collectively ensure we remain within the Board
approved risk appetite.

The Group has a low overall appetite For risk,
reflecting the need te make reasonable allowance for
the management of risks arising in cur business but with
low tolerance For those risks crystallising inte requlatory
breach, financial loss, customer detriment or damage to
our reputation.

The Group recognises that appropriate risks need to be
taken in order to meet its strategic objectives and
deliver benefits to its customers and stakeholders.
However, the Group aims to ensure a well-controlled,
actively managed and appropriate level of risk,
commensurate with a balanced and sustainable level of
return,

Given the nature of its business, the Group dees nat
expect to incur high levels of risk, and actively seeks to
avaid such risks by utilising robust people, process and
technelegy frameworks. The Group has no appetite for
higher risk practices that impact its ability to maintain
reguiatory comnpliance, or limit its ability to restrict
Financial crime, and it actively promotes a conduct and
culture framework that reinforces this.

The GRAF is not static and it may change over time,
reflecting our transformation agenda, developments in
society, requlatory demands, legislation and an evolving
client landscape.

The Complian¢e and Risk Management function
continues to regularly work with the Executive
Committee, the Greup Risk Oversight Committee
{GROQ), the Supervisory Board, the Audit and Risk
Committee (until 30 June 2021) and the Risk Committee
(From 1 July 2021) to evaluate our existing risk profile
and respond to new and emerging risks, threats,
opportunities and changes to legislation, regulation,
customer and societal expectations. Intertrust monitors
its risk profile and continues to reject or stop servicing
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clients where we assess they are not compatible with
our risk appetite. We are clear about the business
activities that we will not accept, and we also have
internal control mechanisms to assess, monitor and
mitigate our higher risk and sensitive business activities
and relationships.

Supporting our colleagues in doing the right
things, the right way

Navigating changes in regulation and keeping abreast of
industry standards requires ongoing training of and
awareness raising for cur colleagues. Intertrust Group
uses online e-learning applications to support this
important ongoing task. Our Compliance and Risk
Management team support and train our colleagues in
every jurisdiction to understand changes in regulatory
requirements and expectations, which also helps them
to assess commercial opportunities.

Intertrust Group uses industry-standard precesses For
reporting unusual transactions and activities that do not
comply with local regulations. QOur internal Whistle-
blower Policy sets out a framework in which colleagues
and third parties can report activity which concerns
them, using a channel that ensures confidentiality and
independence. During 2021 there was one incident
reperted under the Whistle-blower Policy (2020: none).

Our senior leadership, business, and Compliance and
Risk Management teams work collaboratively to ensure
our global policies and standards are applied
consistently and within risk appetite. We have initiated a
global remediation programme in 2021 which also
serves for this purpose. We alm to ensure that
compliance and risk policies and procedures are clear
and proportionate and reflect best practice in all the
jurisdictions in which we operate.

In line with industry and regulatory developments, we
continue to strengthen our risk management and
control frameworks (see below). Special attention areas
For the compliance and risk function include regulatory
compliance, continued development of our risk
management framework and, given our tech-
enabiement strategy, IT risk and information security.

In 2021 we recognised that further investment and
management focus was required to enhance Intertrust's
compliance framewaork including culture. We initiated a
Group-led programme in November 2021, working with
an expert regulatory consulting firm, to develop a
consistent Framewerk for Financial Crime Policies and
Procedures. The intention is to develop a framework !
that is generally applicable in all our businesses globally,

albeit tailored where appropriate to reflect specific

jurisdictional requirements. Adoption of this framewark

will facilitate a more consistent approach tao financial

crime risk management and consequently Group

overview of key risk exposures, be they related to

customers, jurisdictions or service offerings. The

Frarnework will also facilitate enhancement of

automated tooling to enable more effective and
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efficient execution of customer due diligence activities,
inctuding KYC/KYB, Customer Risk Assessment,
Customer and Payment Screening and Transaction
Maonitoring.

Risk management

Intertrust Group seeks to adopt best practice in
corporate governance, risk management and centrol,
appropriate to the size and complexity of the business,
All colleagues are responsible for managing risk as part
of their day-to-day role.

Our Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Policy was
updated in 2021 and approved by the Board Risk
Committee. The Policy establishes the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework for the Group as a whole,
setting out requirements for identifying, assessing,
owning, managing and reporting on risks inherent in the
business and its global operating environment, and
monitoring adherence to risk appetite.

In implementing cur ERM Policy and actively managing
the risks that have the potential to impact our business
we deploy the industry-recognised Three Lines of
Defence model that defines colleagues’ roles and
respansibilities for effective enterprise-wide compliance
and operational risk management and related control
activity.

- First Line of Defence: All revenue-generating and
support functions, which introduce risk into the
Group. This includes: Operations, Human Resources,
Finance, Sales & Marketing, Communications and
Information Technology. The First Line of Defence has
primary responsibility For identifying, assessing,
mitigating, monitoring and reporting risk, and
ensuring it adheres to the Group's risk appetite,
requlatory requirements and industry best practice.

- Second Line of Defence: Our independent
Compliance and Risk Functions, responsible for
developing and monitoring the execution of, and
adherence to, the Enterprise Risk Management.
Framework and providing independent advice,
oversight and challenge to all First Line of Defence
risk generating activities.

- Third Line of Defence: Our Internal Audit Function,
responsible for providing assurance to the
Supervisory Board concerning the effectiveness of
the aperation of governance, risk management and
control processes across Intertrust Group.

In 2021, we undertook a review to evaluate the
effectiveness of the aperation of the lines of defence.
As aresult, we identified a number of areas for
improvement, including: the need to clarify roles and
responsibilities between first and second lines; and the
need for further investment in additional specialist
resource, and further training and competency for the
first line. Implementation of the actions arising will
continue throughout 2022 to ensure the modelis
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embedded consistently across our business and
observations of the regulators are addressed
adequately.

Developments in 2021

Global Risk Oversight Commitiee

In the fourth quarter of 2020, we implemented the
Global Risk Oversight Committee (GROC) with the
purpose of praviding more regular, formal oversight of
the management of risks within Intertrust Group
globally. Chaired by the Group Chief Executive, this
committee comprises the Executive Committee,
supported by senior members of the Compliance and
Risk function. It meets monthly to discuss cur key risks,
controls and any activity required For ongoing
improvement of our risk profile and risk management
framework. The objective is to provide timely
management information, analysis, and
recommendations tc our Executive Committee,
Supervisary Board and Risk Committee on existing and
emerging risk issues and trends, performance of the
business relative to risk appetite and proposed
mitigating actions where required.

Risk reporting

One of our key risk initiatives for 2021 was the Risk
Reporting & Risk Appetite workstream. The main
objectives of the warkstream were to streamline and
automate the data collation process for reporting, and
enhance risk and compliance insights for the recipients
at the Executive Committee and Supervisory Board. The
goalis to provide enhanced assurance and support for
more effective oversight of the company's risk profile
and key risk exposures. Risk reporting is now aligned to
our revised risk taxonomy which focusses on key
financial and non-financial risk classifications.

We have initiated a project that aims to automate and
connect operational processes, and develop in-house
customised technology solutions to provide seamless
service delivery and enhanced compliance and risk
capabilities for clients and third parties.

These customised technology soluticns will allow us to
deliver a consistent approach across all our client-facing
areas with regard to the collection and storage of client
data at client onboarding. In 2022 we will aim to improve
further our on-boarding workflow through embedding
our Fastlane technology solution, with the aim of
enhancing efficiency and reducing friction in the
process. The initial modules include iKYC, Risk Engine
(our risk assessment tool} and Transaction Monitoring.

Regulatory tracker

Keeping abreast of regulations faced by the Group and
its customers across the globe is a core objective of the
Compliance and Risk team. We have developed a
regulatory tracker, managed globally, which allows each
office to report on local requlatery/legislative changes.
Afl inputs are collated centrally and can then be viewed

L Fenam A0
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at Group level. Work to develop and enhance the
functionality of this tool will continue in 2022 alongside
implementation of cur requlatery lisison and
engagement strategy.

Information security

Information Security is organised as a Group function
spanning all jurisdictions and areas of cur organisation.
The Chief Information Security Officer (CISO) sits within
the Second Line of Defence reporting directly to the
Chief Risk Officer, The IT Security Team reports
separately to the COO via the Global Head of IT, and is
responsible for the implementation of internal controls
to identify, assess, mitigate, monitor and repart
infarmation security and cyber threats. In addition,
Business Information Security Officers (BISO) are
appointed locally and predominantly within first line
business areas to extend the footprint of the
Information Security Office. This structure ensures
appropriate independence of the CISO, which in turn
enables independent oversight of the first-line T
Security Team. Information Security risks are aggregated
and reported within the ERM Framework.

while we expect information security and technology
risks ta remain heightened throughout 2022 (in light of
ever-increasing external threats), our focus will be on
impraving the overall maturity of our Information
Security Program by aligning it with industry best
practice frameworks and standards.

Regulatory inspections

Regulatory inspections are a regular and cngoing
feature of ourindustry to which Intertrust Group is
subject from time to time. As part of a wider industry
trend, Intertrust has also experienced heightened
scrutiny by authorities in various jurisdictions. The
interactions with such regulatory authorities have
included and can be expected to continue to include on-
site vists, information requests, investigations and other
enquiries. Such interactions, as well as Intertrust's
internal assessments in connection to its global
remediation programme, have in some cases resultedin
satifactory outcomes. Some have also resulted in, and
may continue to resultin, findings er conclusions which
may require Further appropriate remedial actions by
Intertrust or other consequences. Intertrust will always
cooperate fully and in the spirit of transparency, and
provide all resources necessary to make sure the
regulatory bodies have the information required and
such inspections are carried our with utmost diligence,

In May 2021, the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority
(CIMA) issued to Intertrust Corporate Services {Cayman)
Limited, a subsidiary of Intertrust N.V., formal notice of
an administrative fine in the amaount of KYD 4.2 million
{approx. EUR 4.3 million) arising from breaches of
specific statutory obligations under the Cayman Islands
Anti-Meney Laundering {AML) Regulations identified
during an onsite inspection conducted in February 2020.
The breaches are administrative in nature and there is no
suggestion that Intertrust Group has engaged in or
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facilitated its clients to engage in money laundering
activities. Nonetheless, we are deeply disappointed by
the fact we did not live up to the high standards we set
ourselves, and of the standards set by CIMA. We are
committed to remediating all applicable records; and
while we continue to examine all available optionsin
relation to the legal and regulatory process, in keeping
with our aspiration to be industry gatekeeper, we are
also committed to maintaining a constructive and
collaborative working relationship with CIMA,

Regulatory liaison and engagement
Recognising the need to learn from our experience, and
ensure consistent, positive and proactive regulatory
relaticnships wherever we operate, in 2021 we also
developed a Regulatory Liaison and Engagement
Strategy and Framewaork. The objectives and desired
outcomes are to:

- Ensure that we consistently communicate with our
regulators at a standard that reflects Intertrust’s
values, purpose and vision in all the regulated
jurisdictions within which the Group operates, and all
regulatory engagements throughout intertrust are
carried out in a consistent, transparent, and
constructive manner;

- Enhance regulatory perceptions of Intertrust through
the facilitation of open, constructive regulatory
interactions, thereby demonstrating, in keeping with
the Group's purpose, that requlation is a positive
force For business;

- Increase Intertrust's influence and contribution to
local regulatory consultations by taking a pro-active
and constructive approach, thus mitigating the risk of
failing to anticipate, and respond to, regulatory
change or scrutiny.

To achieve these objectives, and enhance Intertrust's
position as Industry Gatekeeper and an influencer of
regulatory outcomes, we are enhancing capability
through the establishment of a dedicated, expert
Regulatory Affairs and Liaison team (RAL) to support the
Board and Senior Management in their engagement and
communications with the requlatory community.

The activities of this team will support existing
monitoring of the external requlatory environment,
including upcoming legislative and regulatory changes
to identify potential risks and opportunities, ensuring
that our Executive Committee and Senior Management
are informed and engaged in understanding the impacts
of proposed changes on our business and industry.

Strategic investment to enhance our
compliance framework

Based an shortcomings identified through interinal and
regulatory inspections (including the CIMA penalty) and
the increasingly complex regulated envirenmentin
which Intertrust Croup operates, in 2021 we have
started to implement further remediation activities, with
a strong Focus on the Netherlands, Cayman Islands and
Luxembourg. In addition to the one-off costs related to
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the CIMA fine and other legal and compliance costs
incurred over the course of 2021, we committed to
implerment further remediation activities in 2021 and
2022. For 2021, the total amount of one-off casts was
EUR 13.8 million, related to remediation activities, the
CIMA fine and other lagal and compliance costs.

This includes a precgramme to reinfarce the firm's global

palicies and procedures framewaork, with additional

guidance on minimum standards for colleagues,

including:

- Risk appetite statemnent

- Enterprise Wide AML Risk Assessment {'"EWRA")

- Customer risk assessment (including country risk
assessment)

- CDD/EDD/ODD policies and procedures

Using the outputs of this review process, they will
support us in developing a suite of best-in-¢class AML
Policies and Standards. Given our global footprint, the
framework will also account for local nuances.

We will then map new pclicy and procedural
requirements into process Flows for technology analysis,
and develop process flows For CDD automation where
possible throughout the customer journey to enhance
the operation and effectiveness af existing tools.

While we aim to substantially finalise the one-off
remediation activities by the end of 2022, we recognise
that, in an ever-evolving global regulatory landscape,
monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of our risk
and compliance operating model and framework on a
continuous basis will be essential to ensure our policies
and standards keep pace with external changes and
reflect market best practice. We are committed to doing
so.In 2022 we expect to spend a similar amount on
these one-off activities as in 202 1. Moreover, increased
regulatory and compliance remediation requirements
are expected to lead to a higher cost to deliver our
services.

Assessing our main risks

In pursuing our strategic ambitions, we accept a level of
risk to achieve our objectives, while ensuring we Fulfit all
applicable requlatory obligations and maintain a robust
control framework. The business continues to mitigate
the downside risk of potential operational failures, and
our management of financial and reporting risks
continues to focus on a range of key risk indicators
supported by the alignment and improvement of our
global processes. Our Risk and Compliance function
works actively with colleagues across the firm to
identify, assess and manage risks through our procedure
and control frameworks, governance, policy, regular
training and awareness, and adherence to our Code of
Conduct.

Qur risk taxonomy classifies risks to which Intertrust
Group is, or could be, exposed. The main risks are

Paberbins
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financial crime risk, people risk, regulatory compliance
risk, reputational risk. technology risk, process risk,
culture and conduct risk and transfermation/change risk.

Main risks

Financial crime

The Group has no appetite for establishing or
maintaining customer relationships that facilitate
financial crime and has no appetite for sanctions
breaches. We will not enter into relationships with
customers where, in our assessment, the financial crime
risks are so material they cannct be managed effectively;
and will end existing relationships should those
circumstances arise. We continue te invest in expertise
and systems to improve our management of risk in this
area. In 2021 we engaged Kroll to help us develop a
global AML framework comprising revised policies,
procedures and minimum standards to reflect industry
best practice.

In 2022, they will continue to support our efforts to
standardise and automate our client anboarding,
customer screening and transaction monitoring
processes by assessing where process flows/
technological requirements can be further developed to
assist customer due diligence process automation. The
project aims to enhance efficiency and reduce risk of
error, with automated processes ultimately supporting:
reduced operational costs; a consistent frictionless
customer and colleague experience; and compliance by
design in our procedures, systems and controls across all
jurisdictions in which we operate.

People

Our people are our greatest asset and key to the success
of our organisation. The inability to recruit, retain,
engage, empower and develop our colleagues could
have a markedly adverse effect on client service quality
and business continuity. Therefore, our people strategy
remains focused on creating a positive and long-lasting
colleague experience. It also stresses the impaortance of
nurturing a culture that is inclusive for all colleagues and
an environment in which they are and feel respected,
empowered, engaged, and appropriately rewarded. We
continue to invest in our people by implementing
programmes to promote health and well-being, personal
growth and professional development. In 2021, we
partnered with ICAS International, one of the world’s
leading providers of well-being and employee assistance
programmes (EAP}, to help colleagues and their Families
when they require additional support. Throughout 2021,
we have also continued to monitor weil-being while
colleagues work from home.

In 2021, we announced our intention to implement a
business-ted hybrid model where time would ultimately
be balanced 60:40 between working From aur offices
and home, allowing colleagues to re-connect where local
restrictions have eased and benefit from the
collabaration, creativity and energy that meeting face-
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to-face brings. Our succession and resource planning
continues to support and meet our ever-changing global
needs. We continue to invest in meeting regulatory
obligations, increasing our professional expertise via
general and specific training and seeking regular
feedback from our colleagues through Peakan surveys.
We have also continued to invest in colleague training
through our ELLA platform and global training
programmes, which provide a wide variety of e-learning
topics delivered on demand. Colleague development
remains an essential component in achieving
consistently high standards of quality, professionalism
and client service.

Regulatory compliance

The Group has no appetite for material regulatory
breaches, and seeks consistently to comply with all
relevant regulation, laws and/or legal obligations. We
strive to maintain a strong and collaborative relationship
with our regulaters through reqular and proactive
engagement by both business and compliance teams
and, where possible, active involvement in consultations
around regulatory change. We invest in and encourage
regular training so that colleagues can keep abreast of,
and prepare for, changes in the regulatory environment.

Reputational risk

Meeting the high standards expected of us by our
regulators, investors, clients and other market
participants is integral to our strategy. We closely
monitor the public and political debate impacting our
industry {including discussions regarding econormic
substance, mandatory disclosure regimes and other tax
reforms) and the regular discussions and debates around
proposed regulations in all jurisdictions and regions
where we operate, in order that we can adapt
accordingly whilst maintaining the highest level of
adherence to evolving standards.

Technology risk

Disruption in our information technology infrastructure
can have a materially adverse impact on our business
and its continuity, the effectiveness of our operations,
the security and integrity of our systems and data, and
our reputation and financial condition. Key areas of
focus include putting in place strategies to ensure we
can continue to operate and meet demand as we
transform our business to be more digitalised and
technologically enabled.

Specific areas of attention For 2022 include the revision
of our technology risk management framework
(including cyber risk) and enhanced focus on data
management, information security and governance and
third-party risk management. We will work to ensure we
improve aur overall technalogy risk maturity level,
fFollowing market best practice and standards both in
relation to remediation efforts and our forward-looking
risk management approach, we will continue tainvest in
our IT infrastructure and people. Qur Business
Continuity Management, designed to address potential
disruptions to our operations or supply chain, is tested
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regularly. Having invoked our Business Continuity Plan at
the beginning of the Covid-19 pandernic, many of our
celleagues continued to wark from home successfully
for long periods during 2021.

Process risk

We have maintained our focus throughout 2021 on
monitoring and managing cperational risks to mitigate
the risk of loss from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems. One of our drivers in
becoming more tech enabled is to reduce reliance on
manual processes. We are focussed on, and continue to
invest in, global alignment of workflows and
standardisation and automation of processes in order to
achieve greater operational efficiencies whilst increasing
the effectiveness of our safeguards and controls.

Culture and conduct

Organisational culture is a key driver of risk. A focus on
the impartance of getting the basics right first time,
every time, and striking the right balance between
business/revenue growth and compliance, is critical.
Through mandatory training and positive and
continuous reinforcement from management, we
ensure that our colleagues understand the need for a
focus on openness, partnership, risk and compliance in
their day-to-day roles. All colleagues are required to
adhere to our Code of Conduct which sets out standards
of behaviour and conduct. Being able to evidence how
they have lived the Intertrust Group values is a core
component of each colleague's performance review.

in 2022, we will enhance our Culture and Conduct
reporting, which comprises a range of indicators
reported regularly to senior management and the
Board. We use these indicators to assess how effectively
the firm is managing risks that could lead to adverse
customer, colleague or regulatory outcomes. We will
also develop further our consequence management
approach to help reinforce messaging around
colleagues’ responsibility to fulfil the responsibilities of
their roles in a way that reflects our aspiration to be the
industry gate-keeper.

Transformation risk

Our industry and business are constantly adapting to
new market, client and regulatory demands. Whilst we
recognise the importance of continual business and
process improvement, we also recognise the associated
risks to which this gives rise —in particular our
colleagues’ ability to adapt to change and cur ability to
maintain robust business continuity.

In 2021 we enhanced our PMO Framework to help drive
value realisation by ensuring that change is managedin a
controlled way and delivered within a common
Frarmework which is scalable, repeatable, efficient and
easily adoptable by users. One of our key focusses in
2022 will be on embedding change and securing
colleague buy in so that the benefits of projects are fully
realised across the organisation.
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Financial and other risks

Financial risks

The Group is funded with a mix of own capital and
external capital (term loans, loan facility, senior notes),
and helds bank balances and receivables in different
locations and currencies. We have identified the
following key financial risks which have been mitigated
with proportionate measures and are monitored cn
different levels within the Company.

- The Group’s exposure to the risk of changesin
foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the
Group's operating activities (translation risk). The
exposures are mainly with respect to the US Dollar
{USD) and Pound Sterling {GBP)}. Our Group EBITDA is
roughly generated in 33% USD, 19%in GBP, and 43%
in EUR. The loans and borrowings of the Group are
denominated For approximately 30% in USD, 13% In

GBP and 57% in EUR. With this split we have matched

to a significant extent the cash flows generated by

the underlying operations of the Group with the debt

which provides an economic hedge. Over the longer

term, permanent changes in foreign exchange rates

and the availability of Foreign currencies may have an
impact on our financial results.

- The Group is also exposed to transactional risk on
foreign exchange in cases whereby the income isin a
different currency than the (underlying) cost base,
Material transactional foreign exchange risks are
being hedged.

- The majerity of our debt {senicr notes) has a fixed

interest rate. For the portion with variable rates {term

loans) we have hedged 39% of the risk with interest
rate swaps. Cash flow volatility resulting from the
interest rate fluctuation is limited to the non-hedged
part of the term loans.

- Liguidity risk includes the risk to a shortage of funds
and the risk to encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations assaciated with financial liabilities. The
Group monitors its risk to a shortage of Funds as

integral part of our forecasting processes. A cash pool
and inter-company financing enables us to provide all

significant group entities with sufficient liquidity.

- Maturities of loans and notes are managed so that
timely refinancing at acceptable terms can be
ensured.

- Compgliance with all requirements under financing
agreements is being monitored. For the financial
covenants, forecast are updated reqularly in order to
maintain sufficient headroom.

- Credit risk is mainly related to cash balances and
accounts receivable. Creditworthiness of financial
counterparties is being monitored. For accounts
receivable we actively monitor and manage debtor
aging and concentration risks in order to limit
exposures.

The financial risks are discussed in Section: Financial
instruments, note 23.
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Other risks

Reporting risk: We operate globally, acress multiple
jurisdictions and reporting entities. without robust
procedures and internal control framework, we face
the risk of providing inaccurate or untimely
information internally or externally at firm,
jurisdiction, or entity level which would keep us from
managing our key perfermance indicators. Given the
criticality of this in managing the company and
stakeholder expectations, we actively focus on
delivering infermation according to consistent
accounting, reporting and internal contreol policies
and procedures which allows us to deliver prompt
and accurate output globally.

Impaiment risk: We carry significant intangible assets
on our balance sheet related to goodwill and
intangibles for brand name and client relationships
resulting from acquisitions. There is a risk of
impairment for these assets. The conclusion of our
impairment assessment as per 31 December 2021 is
that no impairment is required.,

Tax risk: QOur businesses operate globally and our
profits are subject to taxation in many different
jurisdictions and at differing tax rates. Tax laws that
currently apply to our businesses may be amended by
the relevant authorities or interpreted differently by
them, and these changes could adversely affect our
reported results and cash tax expenses.

Enp ol Reoomt 2007
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Management Board responsibility statement
under Dutch Corporate Governance Code

In accordance with best practice 1.4.3 of the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code, the Management Board is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal risk management and control systems.
Intertrust manages strategic, operational, compliance
and finance/reporting risks by applying a global internal
risk management and control framework,

The risk management and control framework is

designed to mitigate risks and provide reasonable

assurance regarding the achievement of objectivesin

the following categories:

- Effectiveness and efficiency of operations,

- Reliability of financial and non-financial information,

- Compliance with laws, regulations and internal
policies,

- Safeguarding assets, identification and management
of liabilities, and

- Strategic goals of Intertrust Group.

During 2021, the design, alignment, monitoring and
reporting on key processes and the internal control
framework has continued to be a key abjective for the
Company.

In 2021, various aspects of risk management were
discussed by the Executive Committee, including the
results of the annual Risk Control Self-Assessment
{RCSA) and the progress to mitigate risks, The
responsibilities concerning risk management and
compliance, as well as the role and responsibilities of our
three lines of defence were also discussed with senior
management. In addition, the results of the RCSA and
the design and harmonisation of key processes have
been reviewed by the Risk Committee of the
Supervisory Board. We recognised that further
investment and management focus was required to
enhance Intertrust's risk and compliance framework. As
announced with our second quarter 2021 results, this
led to the global remediation programme with a strong
focus on the Netherlands, Cayman Islands and
Luxernbaurg.

Intertrust Group prepared the ‘In Contrel Statement' for
2021 in accordance with best practice provision 1.4.3 of
the new Dutch Corporate Governance Code. With due
consideration to the above and reference to the
information described in the Compliance and Risk
Management chapter on page 47 of this Annuat Report,
the Management Board believes that (i) sufficient
insights are provided in the mentioned Compliance and
Risk Management chapter into any failingsin the
effectiveness of internal risk management or internal
control systems; and (ji) those systems provide
reasonable assurance that the Intertrust Annual Report
2021 does not contain any material inaccuracies.

It should be noted that the above neither implies that
internal risk management, nor the internal control
systerns and procedures provide absolute assurance to
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Intertrust Group as to the realisation of financial and
strategic business objectives, or that internal risk
management and control systems can prevent or detect
all misstatements, inaccuracies, errors, fraud and non-
compliance with legislation, rules and requlations.

There are a number of risks in areas where internat and
external reviews reveal potential for improvement.
Applicable regulations may be unclear, subject to
multiple interpretations or under development, or
where regulations may conflict with one another, or
where regulators revise their previous guidance or
courts overrule previous rulings. Despite our efforts to
maintain effective compliance procedures and to comply
with applicable laws and regulations, we therefare
cannot rule out the risk of non-compliance with
applicable standards. We are committed to conducting
our business with integrity, and regulatory compliance
remains the priority for 2022 and beyond.

The Management Board confirms that based on the
current state of affairs and to the best of its knowledge,
it is justified that the financial reporting is prepared on a
going concern basis and that the Annual Report states
those material risks and uncertainties that are relevant
to the expectation of the Company’s continuity for the
period of twelve months after the preparation of the
report.

Conformity statement

with reference to section 5.25¢ paragraph 2, sub ¢ of
the Financial Markets Supervision Act {(Wet op het
financieel toezicht), the Management Board states that,
to the best of its knowledge:

- The annual financial statements for 2021 give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, Financial
position and profit or loss of Intertrust N.V. and its
subsidiaries;

- The Annual Report 2021 gives a true and fair view of
the state of affairs as per 31 Decemnber 2021 and the
course of business during 2021 of Intertrust N.V. and
of its affiliated companies of which data is includedin
the annual financial statements, together with a
description of the principal risks facing Intertrust
Group.

17 February 2022

Shankar lyer, Chief Executive Officer
Rogier van Wijk, Chief Financial Officer
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“Organisations like
ours have a role to play
not only for our clients
and shareholders but
also for the societies
and communities

we operate in.”
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Supervisory Board
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Hélene Vletter-van Dort (Dutch, 1964)
Chair and Independent Supervisory Board Member

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2015
Second term expires in 2023

Background

Héléne Vletter-van Dort is a professor of (Furopeany)
Financial Law & Governance at the Erasmus School of
Law of the University of Rotterdam. Héléne started her
careerin 1988 as an M&A lawyer at Clifford Chance.
Between 2004 and 2008 she served as a judge at the
Enterprise Chamber of the Court of Appeal of
Amsterdam. Héléne has held non-executive board
positions with a variety of financial institutions. From
2009 to 2018, she has been a member of the Dutch
Manitoring Committee on Cerporate Governance,
appointed by the Dutch government. In October 2015,
she was appointed to the Supervisory Board of NN
Group NV, where she also serves as Vice-Chair. In 2018
she was appointed as Chair of the protective Foundation
of Koninklijke Brill. From May 2020, she is a member of
the Supervisory Board of NPQO. Since April 2021, sheisa
member of the Supervisory Board of Anthos Fund &
Asset Management.

Responsibilities

Member of the Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee

Member of the Risk Committee
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Stewart Bennett (British and German, 1971)

Vice-Chair and Independent Supervisory Board
Member

Member of the Superviscry Board since 2019
First term expiresin 2023

Background

Stewart Bennett is Global Head of Alternatives at
Columbia Threadneedle Investments (subject to
regulatory approval), having joined the company in
November 2021 foliowing the acquisition of BMQ's
EMEA asset managerment business. Since 2019, he was
Global Head of Alternatives at BMO Global Asset
Management. Befare that he was a partner and Head of
the Financial Institutions Group at Ondra Partners, an
independent corporate finance advisory firm, authorised
and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. He
gained broad experience in advising executive teams
and boards of leading UK and international financial
institutions in respect of, amongst others, financial
strategy, M&A and debt and equity capital raising.
Before joining Ondra Partners, Stewart was Managing
Director and Head of Financial Institutions Group,
Strategic Advisory at Dresdner Kleinwort and an
Investment Director at Botts & Company. Since 2013,
Stewart has been a trustee of the Willow Foundation, a
charity Focused on sericusly ill young adults, where he
serves on the main Board and on the Finance and Audit
Committee. Stewart halds a degree in German and
Management Studies from the University of Leeds.

Responsibilities

Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Risk Committee
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Composition of the Boards

Toine van Laack (Dutch, 1963)
Independent Supervisory Board Member

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2017
Second term expires in 2025

Background

Toine van Laack is a seasoned non-executive with
extensive international experience in the finance and
accounting sectar. He spent 25 years at EY, where he
held several senior positions, including Senfor Audit
Partner, Managing Partner for Transaction Advisory
Services and Managing Partner Markets. More recently,
he was Managing Director of Janivo Holding B.V., an
investment company and family office based in Zeist,
the Netherlands. He has also held supervisory positions
on various boards including TomTom N.V., LBi N.V. and
Nidera Capital 8V. Earlier in his career at EY, Toine spent
several years working in Asia, including Singapore and
Indonesia. Toine also serves as Non-Executive Director at
Vroon Group BV, an international shipping company
with headquarters in the Netherlands, as Non-Executive
Director of Favorita Holdings Ltd, an investment holding
company in Malta, and as Non-Executive Director at Big
Dutchman AG, a global agriculture equipment supplier
with headquarters in Germany. He qualified as a
registered accountant in 1991 and completed the
Harvard Management Programme in 2008.

Responsibilities

Chair of the Audit Committee
Chair of the Risk Committee

ke o, N

Charlotte Lambkin (British, 1972)

Independent Supervisory Board Member

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2017
Second term expires in 2025

Background

Charlotte Lambkin is an experienced member of FTSE
100 executive committees and a seasoned corporate
affairs and communications professional. She is a trustee
and Chair of the People Committee at Royal Voluntary
Services, the UK's largest volunteering charity, and a
business ceach. Most recently, she served as Executive
Committee Member and Corperate Relations Director at
Diageo, the UK headquartered FTSE-100C listed global
alcoholic beverages company. Prior to that, she spent 10
years at BAE Systems, 3 UK-headquartered FTSE-30
listed defence, aerospace and security solutions
company, as Executive Committee member and Group
Communications Director. Charlotte started her career
in a communications consultancy, advising boards of
large multinationals. She is a graduate in History from
Bristo! University.

Responsibilities

Chair of the Remuneration, Selecticn and Appointment
Committee

EEOSFTHN EK Pl A4
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Anthony Ruys (Dutch, 1947)
Independent Supervisory Board Member

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2015
Second term expires in 2023

Background

Anthony Ruys is the Former Chairman of the Executive
Board of Heineken N.V. He holds a degree in Commercial
Law from the University of Utrecht and a Master's
degree from Harvard Business School. He was appointed
an Officer of the Order of Orange-Nassau by the Dutch
government in 2005. Thony began his career at Unilever
in 1974. During his tenure there he served in variaus
senior positions including Marketing Director and
Chairman of various subsidiary companies in the
Netherlands, Colombia and ltaly. In 1993, he joined
Heineken as a member of its Executive Board, became
Vice Chairman in 1996 and Chairman in 2002, remaining
in that position until 2005. Thony served as a Non-
Executive Chairman of the Board of the Schiphol Group
until April 2015, and he also served as a Non-Executive
Board Member of ABN AMRQO NV, BAT plc (UK), ITC plc
(India), Lottomatica Spa (Italy) and Janive Holding BV,
Thony is currently Chairman at Stichting Museum
Beelden aan Zee, a Dutch Foundation qualifying as a
public benefit organisation {ANBI). In January 2017,
Thony was appainted as a member of the Board of
Directors of HunterDouglas Group.

Responsibilities
Member of the Rermuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee
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Paul Willing (British, 1965)

Independent Supervisory Board Member from
October 2021

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2017
Second term expiresin 2025

Background

Paul Willing is the Fermer CEO of Elian, having held that
position from 2009 until the acquisition of Elian by
Intertrustin 2016. After joining Intertrust as a result of
that acquisition, he became Managing Rirector Atlantic
Region for the combined organisation, until he stepped
down from his executive responsibilities in July 2017. He
has more than 25 years of financial services experience,
with an extensive career at PwC in both Jersey and
Geneva. He is a graduate of the University of London and
qualified as a chartered accountant in 1991. Paul is
resident in Jersey and holds several Non-Executive
Director positions.

Responsibilities
Member of the Audit Committee
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Shankar Iyer (Americarn, 1964)
Chief Executive Officer (CEQ)

- Joined Intertrust Group in 2019

- Appointed as CEG in March 2021

- Appointed te Management Board in March 2021
- Current term 2021 - 2025

Shankar lyer assumed the role of acting CEO from

7 December 2020. He was appointed as a member of the
Management Board for a term of four years an 8 March
2021.Since June 2019, Shankar has been Chief Solutions
Officer of Intertrust Group, and prior to that Shankar
was CEQ and co-founder of Viteos, a top ten US tech-
enabled fund administrator acquired by Intertrust Group
in 2019. He has over 30 years of international experience
in business acquisition and development and has
extensive experience in integrating digital capabilities
into businesses. Befaore founding Viteos, Shankar was
the President and CEQ of Silverline Technologies, an IT
services company, which he led to its listing on the NYSE.
Shankar holds a degree in Management Studies from the
University of Bombay.
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Compoesitian of the Boards

Rogier van Wijk (Dutch, 1975)
Chief Financial OFfficer {CFO)

- Joined Intertrust Group in 2017

- Appointed as CFQ in September 2019

- Appointed to Management Board in November 2019
-Current term 2019-2023

Rogier van Wijk has been Chief Financial Officer {CFO)
since 12 September 2019 and was appeinted for a term
of 4 years to the Management Board on 28 November
2019. Rogier joined Intertrust in 2017 as Group
Controller and has more than 20 years of international
experience in finance, including several executive rales
at Philips and TPV Technolegy. Rogier holds a degree in
Internationat Business From Maastricht University, the
Netherlands, with a specialisation in Finance and
Accounting, and an Executive Master Finance and
Control from a Maastricht University and University of
Amsterdam joint programme.

Aius feepait 2027
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Executive Committee

Chitra Baskar (American,
1966)

Chief Operating Officer (COO0)

Since 7 December 2020 Chitra is
Group COO in addition to her role as
Head of Fund Services, Chitra joined
Intertrust Group as Global Head of
Transformation and Operations and
Executive Committee memberin
June 2019 following the acquisition
of Viteos, where she was co-founder
and COQ. Chitra has more than 25
vears of experience in the securities
market. Prior to Viteos, Chitra
headed the securities services
business of IL&FS, a leading financia!
services institution in India
encompassing custody, clearing,
settlement and Fund administration.
Chitra is a chartered accountant
{member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants, India) and
has a degree in accounting from the
University of Chennai, India.
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Roberto Canenti (British and
Italian, 1971)

Chief Human Resource Officer
{CHRO)

Roberto joined Intertrust Group in
June 2018 as CHRO and Executive
Committee member, based in
Amsterdam. Roberto has more than
20 years' HR-specific experience and
most recently worked for Virtu
Financial {previously KCG) where he
was Head of HR Europe and Asia as
of early 2015. Prior to this, he was
with Barclays for over ten years,
holding various global executive HR
roles. Roberto, a British and Italian
national, graduated with a BA in
Politics From the University of
Exeter.

Aileen Gillan (Irish, 1968)

Chief Risk Officer {CRO)

Aileen joined Intertrust Group in
2021 as CRO and Executive
Committee member. Based in
London, Aileen brings over 25 years’
experience. Before joining Intertrust
Group, Aileen was CRO at Metro
Bank, responsible for the oversight
of the risk and control framework
across the bank. Prior to that, she
spent Four years at Lloyds Banking
Group, latterly as Chief Risk Officer
for Asset Finance. Aileen began her
career as a barrister before moving
into risk and regulatory consulting
with PwC, followed by DLA. Aileenis
a graduate of Queen's University
Belfast, and Cranfield University
School of Management.
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Daniel Jaffe (British, 1975)

Managing Director Americas/Rest
of the World

Daniel joined Intertrust Group'’s
Executive Committee on 1 January
2018. Previously, Daniel worked in
London as Relationship Banker for a
major European bank, which
included spending time in the US as
Vice President for its West Coast
operaticns specialising in
infrastructure, retail and service
clients. In 2009, he joined Intertrust
UK as Commercial Director and
became Managing Director in 2012,
after which he became Managing
Director in Singapore in 2015, In
2017, he returned to the UK to take
on his current role. Daniel has
knowledge and experience of
working with corporates, private
equity, venture capital, pension
funds and private clients. During his
time in bath San Francisco and
London, Daniel has specialised in
Eurepean and transatlantic M&A as
well as structuring and corporate
planning. Daniel holds a BA
(Honours) in French and Business
Studies from the Manchester
Metropolitan University and is also a
member of the Chartered Institute
of Bankers in Scotland.

Ian Lynch (Irish, 1973)

Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)

lan joined Intertrust Group in 2019
as CCO and Executive Committee
member. Prior to that he was Global
Head of Alternative Investors and
member of the executive team at
BNP Paribas Security Services.
Before joining BNP in June 2015, he
had successfully integrated the
Credit Suisse Prime Fund Services
business into BNP and created a
scatable Alternatives franchise,
delivering a multi-asset platform to
support clients’ changing needs.
Prior to that, lan was Global Head of
Prime Fund Services at Credit Suisse
For eight years, where he also
simultaneously managed its Irish
business. lan has held severa!l other
executive positions with Citco and
Citigroup.
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Letter from the Supervisory Board Chair

Dear reader,

In 2021, the world continued to face significant
challenges associated with the COVID-19 pandemic,
making Intertrust Group's purpose of building a new era
of responsible growth more relevant than ever.

During this year, Intertrust Group made considerable
progress on its transformation journey. Indeed, 2021
marked the first full year of Shankar lyer as Intertrust
Group’s Chief Executive OFficer. As founder and long-
time CEQ of Viteos, Shankar brings considerable industry
experience, and has demonstrated all the leadership
capabilities required far our organisation to deliver on
its purpose. It has been a pleasure to work with him, and
it has been encouraging to see the strong working
relationship Shankar has developed with our Chief
Financial Officer, Rogier van Wijk, who is ancther
important asset to our organisation.

Across 2021, in line with our duties to oversee and
advise the Management Board, the Supervisory Board
has helped to navigate key emerging challenges and
strategic opportunities, In daing so, the Supervisory
Board has actively engaged on a diverse set of topics
relevant to Intertrust Group and all its stakeholders.
These have included:

- Our Group's ondoing response to the COVID-19
pandemic, especially in regions and countries facing
particularly challenging circumstances

- Ensuring a safe return to offices For our colleagues
around the werld, as well as putting in place remote
and hybrid-working arrangements as needed

~ Scoping, defining, and introducing our updated
organisational strategy, which will help us build a new
era of responsible growth

~ The agreement with CSC on a recommended all-cash
offer of EUR 20.00 per Intertrust Group share and the
precess leading te that agreement

- Achange in the management structure of the
Netherlands and Luxembourg

- Anassessment of our organisational culture, with a
view to ensuring workplaces where all our employees
can feel at home and give the best of themselves

- Further driving the migration to the Centre of
Excellence to India, and executing other global
operational change programmes

- Delivering on our ESG ambiticns, including how to
optimise our role in society and drive our diversity
and inclusion

- Regulatory inspections and the regulatory
environment of our local offices.

More broadly, the Supervisory Board interacted
frequently with the Executive Committee and has
maintained extensive dialogue with the Management
Board on digitalisation, and how Intertrust Group can
best leverage innovative solutions and emerging
technologies to meet the needs of all our stakeholders,
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including employees, clients, business partners,
investors, and society at large. In 2021, many of cur
meetings teok place online or in hybrid Formats,
although the Supervisory Board tried to meet with key
stakeholders in person as soon as we were able to.

In addition, as always, a strong focus of our Supervisory
Board's efforts this year has been compliance. Strong
corporate compliance is the foundation of all our
activities as an organisation. As such, the Supervisory
Board recognised the seriousness of Intertrust
Corporate Services (Cayman) Limited receiving an
administrative fine of the Cayman Islands Manetary
Authority, and we have approved accelerating the
investments in strengthening the compliance framework
across the markets Intertrust Group covers, in line with
our full commitment to be a gatekeeper to the financial
services industry. Also, with effect of 1 July 2021 the
Supervisery Board established the Risk Committee in
response to an increased focus on a number of matters
within the scope of the (former) Audit and Risk
Committee.

The Supervisory Board would like to reiterate that
Intertrust is completely committed to making every
effort to ensure that the Intertrust Group continues to
undertake its role as a gatekeeper. The Supervisory
Board of Intertrust Group recognises that regulaticn is a
positive Force for business and society as a whole. We
are committed to safeguarding and upholding
requlation, both in terms of how we help our clients and
how we conduct our business internaliy.

Furthermare, in 2021 the Supervisory Board spent a
significant amount of time on reviewing quarterly
results, engaging in an active shareholder dialogue, and
analysing options to drive value for all stakeholders.

Finally, and on behalf of all Supervisory Board members,
| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to the
Management Board, the Executive Committee and to all
Intertrust Group colleagues around the world. In 2021,
thanks to their efforts and contributions — often under
challenging circumstances relating to the COVID-19
pandemic —Intertrust Group has continued to provide a
high-quality service to our clients and help shape a new
era of responsible business.

For a more comprehensive overview of the Supervisory
Board’s activities, | warmly invite you to read the Full
report.

with best wishes,

Héléne Vietter-van Dort
Chair Supervisory Board Intertrust N.V.
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In 2021, with the world continuing to adapt to a ‘'new normal’, many activities were
affected by ongoing responses to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Supervisory Board
worked mainly from home, but was still able to focus effectively on a broad range of
issues throughout the year. These issues included the auditor rotation, mid-year results,
the share buy-back programme, the updated purpese “building a new era of responsible
growth”, risk management and regulatory challenges and of course the agreement with
CSC on a recommended all-cash offer for all and issued outstanding shares of Intertrust

and the process leading thereto.

Composition, diversity and independence

In accordance with Dutch law, Intertrust Group has a
two-tier corporate structure in which the Supervisory
Board functions as a separate corporate bedy with full
independence from the Management Board. The
Supervisory Board is charged with supervising the
policies of the Management Board and the general
affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. It does soin
full alignment with Intertrust Group's purpose of
‘building a new era of responsible growth'.

Supervisory Board members act independently from
each other, the Management Board, the Executive
Committee and any cther interested person or body.
The background, knowledge and expertise of each
Supervisory Board member adds to the Board’s
effectiveness, enabling it to fulfil its duties in the
Company’s best interests. The members of the
Supervisory Board as of 31 December 2021 are listed in
the table below. For full individual biographies, please
refer to page 58 of this Annual Report,

Diversity

The Supervisory Board aims to have a strong
representation of diversity in terms of gender, age,
experience, expertise and nationality in order to
safeguard the interests of varicus stakehclders.

When a vacancy arises within the Supervisory Board,
gender is considered during the search for a suitable
candidate. Intertrust believes that diversity, in terms of
gender, race, background, expertise and other factors, is
critical ta its ability to be open to different ways of
thinking and acting, enhancing its long-term
sustainability. In today's changing world, organisations
are empowered by acting responsibly.

The Supervisory Board currently includes two women,
out of a total of six members. It therefore already
complies with the requirement that at least one-third of
supervisory board members be female (and that one-
third must be male) as set outin the Dutch Act of

29 September 2021 to amend Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code with the aim of achieving a better gender balance
on supervisory boards.

Independence

In October 2021, five years had passed since Intertrust
completed the acquisition of Elian. Since then all
members of the Supervisory Board are considered
independent within the meaning of best practice
provision 2.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code.
Please refer to the Supervisory Board section (see page
84) in the Corporate Governance chapter of this Annual
Report for more details.

Composition of the Supervisory Board

Name Date of birth Gender Profession Year Year of Nr of Other
appointed possiblere-  terms non-
appointment exer:u_l:lve
positions
Héléne Vietter-van Dort 15 October 1964 Female Professor of Financial 2015 2023 2 3
{Chair) Law & Governance at
Erasmus School of Law,
University of
Rotterdam
Stewart Bennett 30 March 1971 Male Global Head of 2019 2023 1 1
(vice-Chair) Alternatives, Columbia
Threadneedle
Investments (subject to
regulatory approwval)
Toine van Laack 4 April 1963 Male Non-executive director 2017 2025 2 3
Charlotte Lambkin 1 February 1972  Female Nen-executive director 2017 2025 2 1
Anthany Ruys 20 July 1947 Male Non-executive director 2015 2023 2 1
Paul willling 17 December 1965 Male MNon-executive director 2017 2025 2 3
I - % 65 LANLE RE I 2AT
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Self-assessment

In 2021, the Supervisory Board performed its self-
assessment by completing questionnaires. These
questionnaires covered the Functioning of () the
Supervisory Board as a whole, (fi) the Supervisory Board
Chair, (iii) each individual Supervisory Board member and
(iv) the committees of the Supervisory Board. The
evaluation report based on these self-assessment
questionnaires will be discussed in early 2022.

In 2021 the Management Board also evaluated its own
and the Supervisory Board's functioning by completing a
questionnaire. The outcome thereof and the
consequential steps to be taken in 2022 will be
discussed with the members of the Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board meetings
and activities in 2021

Meetings and attendance

During the year, the Supervisory Board had access to all
necessary relevant information and company perscnnel
to carry out its fidudiary duties effectively and in a timely
manner. The Supervisory Board held nine reqular
meetings with the Management Board also present. The
Supervisory Board also held eight closed sessions.

In addition te regular meetings, the Supervisory Board
held extra meetings on topics requiring the Supervisory
Board's attention at which the Management Board was
also present. While the number of extra meetings is not
disclosed, the Supervisory Board confirms to have spent
a significant amount of time on extra meetings in 2021.

Strategy was addressed during extensive joint sessions
between the Management Board, Supervisery Board
and Executive Committee in June 2021.

The overall attendance rate was above 97%. In all
meetings, attendance was sufficient to constitute a valid
quorum.

From 1 July 2021, the Audit and Risk Committee
converted into the Audit Committee and Risk
Committee was established. In the following overview,
so-called Risk Meetings of the (Former) Audit and Risk
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Our governance Financiat Statements

Report from the Supervisory
Baard

Committee {held between 1 January and 30 June 2021)
are considered as Risk Committee meetings.

Topics discussed

Recurring topics at the Supervisory Board meetings
included:

- CEOreport

- CFOreport

- Management’'s continved response to COVID-19
- Global Risk and Compliance update

- Strategy

- Progression of Centre of Excellence migration

- Mergers & Acquisitions

- HR-related matters

- Committee reports and recommendations

Additional topics discussed in more depth during 2021

included:

- Regulatory inspections, CIMA fine and remediation
projects

- KPIs relating to Management Board and Executive
Committee remuneration

- Succession planning for the Management Board and
Executive Committee

- ESG-related topics

- Goverpance framework

- 2020 full year and 2021 quarterly results, related
reports and press releases

- External audit opinion and audit report 2020

- Internal audit plan 2021

- Internal audit reports and recommendations

- Nomination for the appointment of a new external
auditor for 2021

- Approval of the external audit plan 2021

- Interim financial statements and the review report
from the external auditor

- Forecasts and guidance

- Budget 2022

- Financial plan 2022-2024

- Capital allocation

- Sales and business development strateagy

- Global operations

- Legal and tax updates

- Industry developments

- Annual Report 2021 preparations

- Cultural assessment

- Share buy-back programmie, including its suspension

- Agreement with CSC on recommended all-cash offer
for all issued and outstanding shares of Intertrust and
the pracess leading thereto

Meeting attendance of Supervisory Board members

Meeting attendance Supervisor{ Audit  Remuneration, Risk Total
Board (incl. Committee Selection and Committee

closed sessions) Appointment

Committee
Héléne vietter-van Dort 17 outof 17 4cutof 5 8outef 8 2outof2 31 cut of 32
Taine van Laack 17 outof17 Soutof 5 nfa 4out of 4 26 out of 26
Anthony Ruys 16 outof 17 nfa Boutof 8 n/a 24 aut of 25
Charlette Lambkin 17 outof 17 n/a 8 outof 8 nfa Z5 outof 25
Paul willing 15 outk of 17 4outof 5 n/a 2 outof 2 21 out of 24
Stewart Bennett 17 out of 17 5 outof 5 n/a 4 aut of 4 26 out of 26

&6
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Early in 2021, the Supervisory Board approved revisions
to Intertrust Group's dividend policy in order to align it
with the updated capital allocation framework to be
used from 2021 onwards. The revised policy recognises
the Company's continued strong cash generation and
the importance of dividends for shareholders, while
praviding greater flexibility in capital allocation to drive
underlying growth across the business.

The Supervisory Board also prepared Shankar lyer to
become the new CEQ, leading to his fermal
appointment as a member of the Management Board in
an extraordinary general meeting (EGM) held on 8 March
2021. The Supervisory Board is encouraged by the
strong working relationship Shankar lyer and our CFO
Rogier van Wijk have developed.

After this EGM, the Supervisory Board prepared for the
Annual General Meeting {the AGM) held on 12 May
2021, which, among other matters, dealt with:

- the appointment of Ernst & Young Accountants LLP
as external auditor of tntertrust Group for 2021,

- the reappointment of Mr Van Laack, Ms Lambkin and
Mr willing as members of the Supervisory Board for a
term of four years, and

- aquestion from a large shareholder,

Shortly thereafter, Intertrust Corporate Services
{Cayman) Limited, a subsidiary, received an
administrative fine from the Cayman Islands Monetary
Authaority (CIMA). The Supervisory Board recognised the
seriousness of this matter and approved the
acceleration of investment in strengthening Intertrust
Group's compliance framework across all jurisdictions.

In June and July 2021, the Supervisory Board was closely
involved in the mid-year results. The Supervisory Board
also resolved to convert the Audit and Risk Committee
into an Audit Committee and to estabtlish a Risk
Committee, all with effect From 1 July 2021. Each
committee has its own schedule of regular meetings and
its own charter.

During 2021, onsite visits by the Sugervisory Board to
Intertrust offices in various jurisdictions and its usual in-
depth sessions in these locations regarding local
markets, regulation, and aperational risks could not take
place due to COVID-19. The Supesvisory Board is
determined to resume its onsite visits once travel
restrictions are lifted.

The Chair and other members of the Supervisory Board
maintained regular contact with Intertrust Group’s CEQ,
its CFQ, and other members of the Executive Committee
during the year.

The members of the Supervisory Board complied with
the requirements of their Permanent Education
programme in order to remain up to date with any
developments relevant to the performance of their
supervisory tasks during 2021.

Business performance
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Share Buy-Back Programme

After a process of exploring a number of options to
maximise shareholder value, the Supervisory Board
approved the Management Board's resolution to start a
share buy-back programme far a total aggregate
consideration of EUR 100 million. The share buy-back
proegramme was announced on 27 September 2021 and
was implemented within the scope of the powers
granted to the two Boards by shareholders in the AGM
held on 12 May 2021.

The Supervisory Board ensured that the programme was
conducted in accordance with the Market Abuse
Regulation (EU) 596,/2014, the Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2016/1052, and within the safe harbour
parameters for repurchase programmes. As previously
announced, Intertrust would seek Further shareholder
approval if, and to the extent, required. As stated in the
paragraph Transaction process, the programme was
suspended until Further notice.

Transaction process

In Q3 2021, the Campany took independent advice and
conducted a confidential process to ascertain potential
interest in an acquisition of the Company. On

12 November 2021, intertrust Group announced it had
entered into exclusive discussions with Funds advised by
CVC Capital Partners, in relation to a potential voluntary
public offer for all issued and outstanding shares of
Intertrusk Group. On 15 November 2021, CSC
appreached Intertrust expressing its interest to acquire
allissued and outstanding shares of Intertrust.

On 21 November 2021, Intertrust received from a
potential alternative bidder a conditional and non-
binding proposal in relation to an indicative cash offer
for all issued and outstanding shares at an offer price of
EUR 22 per share (cum dividend). This potential
alternative bidder reconfirmed its conditional and non-
binding proposal an 28 November 2621 but
subsequently indicated it had outstanding ditigence and
had not secured financing. On 3 December 2021, the
potential alternative bidder did not reconfirm its
interest in writing even though specifically requested to
do so by the Intertrust Group Beards. On this basis, the
Intertrust Boards decided to proceed with the offer
from CSC.

The Intertrust Boards have engaged in discussions with
all parties that have expressed their interest, ensuring a
fair and thorough process to reach the best outcome for
Intertrust and all of its stakeholders, including
shareholders, employees and clients. A special
committee was established, consisting of Supervisory
Board members Héléne Vletter-van Dort, Toine van
Laack and Stewart Bennett. This Special Committee has
focused in particular on safeguarding the interests of
Intertrust's stakeholders and ensured a fair and
thorouah process. The Special Committee and the
Intertrust Boards have discussed the developments of
the proposed transaction and related key decisions
throughcout the process.

e L 202
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Consistent with their fiduciary duties, the Intertrust
Boards, with the assistance of their financial and legal
advisors, have carefully reviewed and evaluated all
aspects of the proposals, including, amongst others, the
strategic merits, deal certainty, financial, non-financial,
operational and social aspects. As a result of the
discussions, review and evaluation, on 5 December 2021
the Intertrust Boards approved Intertrust entering into a
canditional Agreement with CSC on a recommended
public offer for all issued and outstanding ordinary
shares of Intertrust For EUR 20.00 (cum dividend) in cash
per share against the terms and conditions as published
on 6 December 2021.

In 2022, Intertrust and CSC will work closely together to
complete the transaction.

Activities of the Supervisory
Board committees

During the year, the Supervisory Board was supported
by the Following committees: the Audit and Risk
Committee (converted into Audit Committee on 1 July
2021), the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee, the Risk Committee (established with effect
of 1 2uly 2021) and the Special Committee.

The Supervisory Board's decision to convert the Audit
and Risk Committee into Audit Committee and to
establish the Risk Committee was in response to an
increased focus on a number of matters within the
scope of the (former) Audit 2nd Risk Committee.

The committees are respensible for dealing with items
delegated to them by the Supervisary Board as a whole.
The Chair of each committee then provides verbal
reports of the discussions of each committee and their
recommendations to the Supervisory Board.

No revisions were made this year to the charter of the
Remuneratian, Selection and Appointment Committee,
Due to the canversion of the Audit and Risk Committee
into the Audit Committee and the establishment of the
Risk Caommittee, their charters were respectively revised
or adopted in 2021, The charter of each committee is
published on the Company's website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members. As of
31 December 2021, these members were Toine van
Laack {Chair), Stewart Bennett and Paul Willing.

The Audit Committee assists the Supervisory Boardin
overseeing matters including: the integrity and quality
of the Company's financial statements, the financial
reporting process, the internal and external audit
process, the Company's process for monitoring
compliance with applicable laws, regulations and
regulatory requirements, the Corporate Governance
Code, and the Company's Code of Conduct,

Business performance
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The Audit Committee held four regular meetings. One
extra meeting was held in Novernber 2021. Attendance
rate was over 93%. These meetings were also attended
by the Supervisory Board Chair, the CEQ, the CFO, the
External Auditor, the Group Head Internal Audit and,
from May 2021 onwards, the CRO.

Finally, the Chair of the Audit Cornmittee had several
individual meetings with the CFO and the Group Head of
Internal Audit.

The Audit Committee meetings covered, among other

matters, the Following items and topics:

- Annual accounts and Annual Report 2020

- External audit opinion and audit report 2020

- Internal audit plan 2021 and Internal Audit reports

- Advice to the Supervisory Board regarding
nomination for the appointment of an external
auditor for 2021

- Audit plan by the external auditor and the related
audit fees For 2021

- Quarterly results, interim financial statements and
the review report from the externa!l auditor

- Impairment test triggers

- Forecasts and guidance

- Capital allocation

- Financial plen 2022-2024.

Remuneration, Selection and Appointment

Committee

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee consists of three members. As of

31 December 2020, these members were Charlotte
Lambkin (Chair), Anthony Ruys and Héléne Vletter-van
Dort. The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee advises the Supervisory Board on the
remuneration of the individual members of the
Management Board and monitors the Remuneration
Policy, among other matters,

Its responsibilities include setting compensations
standards, preparing proposals concerning the individual
remuneration of the members of the Management
Board, and monitoring incentive and equity-based
cempensation plans. Furthermore, the Remuneration,
Selection and Appointment Committee is responsible
far the selection and appointment of members of the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board. Finally,
the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee monitors the ability of the Management
Board and the Executive Committee to fulfil their
responsibilities.

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee held five regular meetings and three
additional meetings during 2021. The CEQ and the
CHRO were present at all these meetings and the CFO at
maost meetings. The Committee also held closed
sessions, The meetings had a 100% attendance rate.
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The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee meetings covered, among other matters, the
following items and topics:

- Short-term and long-term incentives for members of
the Management Board and the Executive
Committee

- STl scorecard for the Management Board

- Evaluaticn of the performance of Management Board

and Executive Committee members

Management Beard and Executive Committee

succession and development plans

- Supelvisuly Buard succession plans

- KPlsand target setting in 2021 for the Management

Board and Executive Committee members

Pay ratio

Management Board members’ remuneraticn,

including the view of Management Board members

thereon

- Diversity within Intertrust and its management

- Employee engagement surveys

- Remuneration for the Risk Committee

- Pension arrangements for the Executive Committee
members

- Attrition and retention of employees

- Equity-based compensation plans, effectiveness and
functioning, also considering the agreement with CSC
on the recommended all-cash offer for all issued and
outstanding shares of Intertrust Group.

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee ensures that remuneration of the members
of the Management Board is consistent with the
Remuneration Policy adopted by Intertrust Group's
shareholders on 28 November 2019, Please refer to the
Rermuneration report {see page 76) and our website
www.intertrustgroup.com for more information on the
Remuneration Policy.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee was established with effect from
1 July 2021 and consists of three members. As of

31 December 2021, these members were Toine van
Laack {Chair), Hél&ne Vletter-van Dort and Stewart
Bennett.

The Risk Committee assists the Supervisory Board in
overseeing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
risk management and control systems and the process
by which the Company identifies, assesses, manages and
monitars risk exposures, and incorporates significant
enterprise risks into its business plans.

The Risk Committee has held two regular meetings since
its establishment. Prior to establishing the Risk
Committee, the {former) Audit and Risk Committee held
two regular risk meetings, taking the total regular Risk
Committee related meetings during 2021 to four. The
attendance rate at all meetings was 100%. These
meetings were also attended by the CEQ, the CFO, the
External Auditor, the CRO {from May 2021 onwards} and
the Group Head of internat Audit.
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The Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board oversees
the Campany's management of major risks within its
approved risk appetite. The Risk Committee is supported
by the Glebal Risk Management function (GRM, being
the second line of defence of Intertrust} and the internal
audit department (the third line of defence).

The Risk Cammittee meetings covered, among other
matters, the following items and topics:

- Compliance and Risk Management update
Regulatory inspections, CIMA fine and remediation
projecks

Regulatory developments in local offices
In-control statement

Risk and Compliance Self-Assessment

Legal and tax update

Finally, the Chair of the Risk Committee had individual
meetings with the CRO.

In each of its regular meetings, the Risk Committee not
only discusses litigation concerning intertrust (with a
threshold of EUR 250,000) but also receives an update
on acts of Fraud and on the whistle-blower policy. The
Risk Committee is happy to confirm that no acts of fraud
were reported in 2021.

Special Committee

As stated in the paragraph Supervisory Board meetings
and activities in 2021 the Supervisary Board established
a Special Committee early November 2021, Focussing in
particular on safeguarding the interests of Intertrust's
stakeholders and ensured a fair and thorough process,
finally resulting in the agreement with CSCona
recommended all-cash offer of EUR 20 per share.

Financial Statements 2021

The financial statements for 2021 of Intertrust N.V. have
been audited and provided with an unqualified opinion
by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP {see the auditor's
report) and were extensively discussed with the auditors
in February 2022. The Supervisory Beard is of the
opinion that the Financial Statements 2021 meet all
requirements for cerrectness and transparency.

17 February 2022
The Supervisory Board,

Hélene \Vletter-van Dart, Chair
Stewart Bennett, Vice-Chair
Toine van Laack

Charlotte Lambkin

Anthony Ruys

Paul Willing
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This remuneration report provides an overview of the remuneration policy and its
application in 2021, This report has been approved by the Supervisory Board.

Letter from the Chair of the
Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee

Dear reader,

On behalf of the Supervisory Board, | am pleased to
present our 2021 Remuneraticn Report. This is the
second bime we have accompanied our Remuneration
Report with a letter from the Committee Chair.
Following positive feedback on the inclusion of this
letter last year, we hope it once again provides useful
context to our Remuneration Report.

The 2021 Remuneration Report is our third report under
the EU Shareholder Rights Directive (SRD Il), which is
transposed in Dutch national law. In keeping with the
spirit of this legislation, we have prepared this
Remuneration Report with high levels of transparency
and disclosure.

The 2021 Remuneration Report will be subject to an
advisory vote at our AGM on 12 May 2022.

Highlights from 2021

2021 was another challenging year for our clients, our
colleagues and the society in which we operate. Gor
peaple continued the difficult balance of maintaining
exceptionally high levels of client service with, in many
cases, caring for family members and themselves during
Fluctuating lockdowns. To support our colleagues, we
launched a comprehensive, global Health & Wellness
strategy in 2021, which included the provision of an
Ermnployee Assistance Programme through ICAS to all our
employees (and their fFamilies) and the set-up of
appreximately 30 volunteer colleague Health & Wellness
Champions in offices across our network. This was
supplemented by a global intranet hub with Health &
Wellness courses, advice and other resources, and by an
extensive range of local activities in many of our
jurisdictions around the world.

In the 2020 Remuneration Chair letter, | reported that
our employee engagement levels increased to 29 eNPS
as measured by Your Voice {Peakon). Against the
continuing challenges of COVID-19 in 2021, we, like
many companies, experienced in response to the ‘Great
Resignation’ an initial decline in our engagement levels
to 21 eNPS (July 2021). However, | am pleased to report
that following an extensive programme of work aver
2021 —including the implementation of a competency
framework to support career development and the
launch ¢f a new global Leadership Programme ‘Drive’
and a new Talent programme ‘Momentur’, as well as
many more local initiatives to enhance the employee
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experience — our score steadily increased to 23 eNPS as
measured in November 2021.

During the year, we also made progress in enhancing
transparency internally, with regard to compensation
and benefits. We developed pay ranges across our
global markets, going a step further in some cases by
publishing these ranges in order to support career
development and transparency, One example of this
was the Netherlands, where our pay ranges initiative
received the full support of aur Dutch (Joint) Works
Councilin Q4 2021%. Progress was also made on many of
our strateqic projects as outlined in Further detailin the
Management Board Short-Term Incentive (STI)
Scorecard.

Financial performance

As set out in the Financial Performance chapter (page
42), 2021 was a challenging year in which Intertrust
Group faced several headwinds. Qur performance
against our core financial metrics of revenue growth and
margin were subsequently impacted. While we remain a
highly cash-generative business, our performance with
regard to working capital was not at the level we
anticipated when setting Management Board targets For
2021. Thisis clearly reflected in the STl Scorecard, which,
asin 2020, demonstrates our commitment to pay for
performance.

Nan-financial performance

Despite the conditions created by anather year of the
pandemic, we maintained our focus cn client delivery,
our transformation agenda and ensuring the business is
well placed both to maximise opportunities for growth
and to generate value for all our stakeholders. We made
positive progress against our core strategic areas:
Strengthening Corporate Services through our GRM-lite
programme; Accelerating Funds; and Leveraging Our
Technology and Global Reach.

Where we have only partially achieved our 2021
objectives, this has been reflected in the STI Scorecard.

Remuneration Report 2021

At our 2021 AGM, the 2020 Remuneration Report
received a positive FOR vote of 52.6%. This compares
with a positive FOR vote of 93.4% for the 2019
Remuneration Report at cur 2020 AGM, Given these
overwhelming majority of positive advisory votes on
previous remuneration reports, Intertrust continues the
level of transparency in the remuneration report For the
year under review. Thank you for this support. Further
details on the Remuneration Policy can be found under
paragraph Remuneration principles of the Remuneration
Report 2021.
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Management Board incentive structure

In addition to a base salary (which is typically
benchmarked against the AMX market median) and &
pension cash allowance (of 25% base salary), our
compensation structure consists of twa key
components:

Short-Term Incentive (ST}

At target achievement for the Management Board will
result in 60% of base salary in cash bonus. Maximum
achievement will result in 100% of base salary in cash
bonus. Payout is determined by achievement against
KPIs over a performance year as agreed in the STI
Scorecard between the Supervisory Board and
Management Board annually. In this year's
Remuneration Report you can find the details of the
2021 STl Scorecard on page 72.

Long-Term Incentive (LTIP)

In line with our Remuneration Policy, Management
Board members are, on an annual basis, awarded
conditional rights to Intertrust shares under the
Performance Share Plan (PSP): 100% of base salary for
the CEQ and 75% of base salary for the CFO For On
target award levels. Significant outperformance over the
three-year period can potentially deliver up to twice the
on-target award.

The PSP uses two key metrics to determine ultimate
vesting tevels: Absolute TSR at 70% weighting and
Underlying Revenue Growth at 30% weighting. The
performance period is set at three years for each award
cycle; Management Board members are also subject to a
further two-year holding period post-vesting, in line with
the Dutch Corporate Governance Code.

We believe Absolute TSR is a forward-looking measure
of long-term value that reflects the market’s view of
Intertrust Group. As such, this is aligned with our
commitment of delivering sustainable value to
shareholders, optimising shareholder return over time
and growing value creation and investor focus on our
share price performance. The Absolute TSR targets for
the current schemes are listed on page 72.

Underlying Revenriue Growth is a shared Group measure
used throughout the organisation, helping to create
alignment and build a cohesive focus. Revenue targets in
the Management Board PSP awards are considered
commercially sensitive and will be disclosed at the time
of vesting. Underlying Revenue Growth is
complemented by a strong focus on margin in the STI
determination, to ensure that growth is not achieved at
the expense of profit growth.

No Management Board PSP scheme vested in 2021. The
next vesting date For a Management Board PSP is
November 2022.

Business performance
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Gender pay

We completed another review of gender pay gaps
during Q4 2021. Our analysis identified 4% of women in
our overall employee population whose salaries require
deeper analysis and possible adjustment in our next
compensation review process at the start of 2022. We
remain committed to ensuring that all colleagues,
regardless of gender, are paid equally for performing
equivalent roles across our business, Where we identify
that this is not the case, we will take appropriate
measures.

Remuneraticn of the Superviscry Board
Remuneration levels For the Supervisory Board are
presented in the table at the end of the Remuneration
Report.

Maintaining competitive remuneration

Our budgets for company-wide salary adjustments are
approximately 3% on average. We will utilise our salary
range programme Lo ensure we remain competitive and
able to retain and hire the best industry talent across the
markets in which we operate.

We remain committed to providing market-aligned and
performance-balanced compensation to our employees,
aligned not only with our business and talent strategy
but alse with shareholder, stakeholder and societal
expectations.

With best wishes,
Charlotte Lambkin

Chair of the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee

Ans! Rel sl 2007
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Remuneration principles

On 28 November 2019, a new Remuneration Policy was
adopted at the EGM, implementing required SRD I
changes. Any subsequent amendments to the
Remuneration Policy are subject ta adoption by
shareholders at a General Meeting.

This remuneration repart is issued by the Supervisory
Board based on the Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee’s recommendations. The
report presents an overview of the Remuneration Policy,
the remuneration structure, the application of the
Remuneration Policy and the companents of the
remuneration of the Management Board. In addition,
the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee reviews the remuneration of direct reports
to the Management Board, including applicable short-
term and long-term incentive arrangements.

The Management Board is responsible for executing the
Company's strategic plan. The Remuneration, Selection
and Appointment Committee ensures that the
performance metrics used in the Company's variable
rernuneration incentive plans hold the members of the
Management Board accountable for the successful
delivery of this plan. Therefore, it is the Remuneration,
Selection and Appointment Committee's view that a
variable compensation component should be directly
linked to the Company's strategic objectives and key
performance indicators, i.e. a combination of financial
and non-financial performance measures and individual
performance objectives.

The Remuneration Policy as adopted in 2019 at the ECM
was designed to take into account writken and verbal
feedback from shareholders, proxy advisors and other
stakeholders. Increased transparency has been
introduced in various elements of our Remuneration
Policy and the policy was developed in line with the
requirements of the amended Shareholder Rights
Directive. The Remuneration Policy is available on the
corporate website in the Corporate Covernance section.

The Remuneration Policy is based on the following

remuneration principles:

1. The Remuneration Policy should enable the Company
to attract, motivate and retain qualified individuals to
serve on the Management Board and therefore help
develop and maintain a dynamic and engaged talent
pool;

. The Remuneration Policy should provide fora
balanced remuneration package thatis focused on
achieving sustainable financial results, aligned with
the long-term strategy of the Company and shall
fFoster alignment of interests of management with
shareholders and other stakeholders including clients,
employees and wider society. A balanced
remuneration package reflects our corporate strategy
to deliver sustainable value;

Business performance
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3. Remuneration structure and performance metrics !
should be generally consistent for the Management
Board and senior managers to build a cohesive
culture, facilitate international rotation of
management, encourage teamwork and establish a
common approach to drive Company success. This
mirrors our approach to aur clients to operate
efficiently and responsibly and overall underpins our
purpase to enable global businesses to grow
sustainably;

. Performance-related remuneration should be
weighted towards the long term reflecting cur Focus
to deliver high-quality expert services based on long-
term relationships, the aim for our global businesses
to grow sustainably and the need to encourage and
reward behaviours that are aligned to our values
{being Responsive, Excellent, Innovative and
Connected). These values are taken into account
when determining the performance metrics;

. The Remuneration Policy should be simple, clear and
transparent;

. The Remuneration Policy should take into account
any feedback received from investors and other
stakeholders and, in doing so, Intertrust Group is
taking into account the social support of the
stakeholders.

The Supervisory Board upon the recommendation of the
Remuneration, Selecticn and Appointment Cammittee
ensures that the remuneration of the members of the
Management Board is consistent with this
Remuneration Policy but has the discretion to deviate
where necessary te ensure the principles outlined above
are met. No Supervisory Board discretion was applied
during 2021.

Management Board Remuneration Policy

The remuneratian structure for members of the
Management Board is designed to balance short-term
operational performance with the leng-term objectives
of the Company and value creation for its stakeholders,
The remuneration package consists of:

- Annual base salary

- Shart-term incentive (STI)

Long-term incentive (LT)

Other benefits

Annual base salary

The base salary represents a fixed cash compensation
that is set based on the level of responsibility and
perfarmance of each executive. The base salary of the
members of the Management Beard is annually
benchmarked to peers in the AMX index comparable
with Intertrust Group in terms of level of business
complexity and scope, and other benchmarks as
considered appropriate by the Remuneration, Selection
and Appointment Committee.
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Variable remuneration

The variable remuneration drives sustained long- and

short-term performance and supports alignment with

stakeholders and shareholders, it comprises the
following instruments:

- STlin cash.

- LTI awards of conditional shares (Performance Share
Plan, 'PSP") subject to achieving predetermined
performance targets over a three-year performance
period and continced employment.

Based an the Remuneration Policy adopted in 2019, the
Management Board STl is now determined by an annual
scorecard that consists of both financial (60% weighting)
and non-financial (40% weighting) KPIs. The Supervisory
Board will ensure that the performance metrics are
aligned with the Company's strategy in delivering
sustainable value and will appropriately reflect stretched
but realistic targets and cbjectives for the Management
Board.

The Supervisory Board analyses possible outcomes of
the variable income components and the effect on
Management Board remuneration. This analysis is
conducted annually.

Business performance
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Short-term incentive (STI)

The 5Tlis an annual cash bonus. The objective of the STI
is Lo ensure that the members of the Management
Board are focused on realising pre-established short-
term objectives that are aligned to the Company's
strategy. The bonus oppertunity, the performance
metrics, their relative weighting and the targets are set
annually by the Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee, in accordance with the
Remuneration Policy, and are contained within the STI
scorecard.

STI award as % of base salary

Management Board Threshold On target Maximum
CEQ 30% 60% 100%
CFO 30% 60% 100%

The performance percentage to determine the payout
level is allocated between the targets for the financial
and non-financial KPis at Threshold, On target and
Maximum levels, and are based on the principles set out
in the Remuneration Policy. The performance periced
starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.

Performance Relative Link to strategic Minimum/ Target Actual Actual  Achieved
measures 2021 weight ot abjective Maximum Performance scorecard payout%
perfomance threshold of payout
measure perfFormance
measure
Financial KPIs 60% 0%
Adjusted FBITA Effectiveness of
MJ " 25% driving sustainable 33.5%/>35% 34.5% 29.7% Zerc payout 0%
argin bussiness
Underlying Revenue Effectiveness of
G 25% driving sustainable 2%/>4% 3% 1.5% Zero payout 0%
rowth
growth
Deliver profitable
Average operating growth and
working capital over 10% generate EUR 20m/EUR 13m EUR 17m EUR 30m Zero payout 0%
4 quarters sustainable cash
flow
Non-financial KPls 40% 0%
Strategic
objectives
4 strateqic
projects
suppert our delivered at
transformation to a target:
Deliver key strategic glohally renowned, " On Target .
projects 20% market-leading, 3fe 4 E?;era‘_tn%g S payout 80%
tech-enabied Wi, w
cervice provider. Funds, Unlock
vice pravider. Potential and
ESG
People objectives
Cnhance sustainable
Finployes ernplaoyalnhly,
engagement - eNPS 10% engagement and 24 eNPS/30 eNPS 28 eNPS 23 eNPS Zero payout 0%
All Employees wetlbeing of
employees
Employee Enhance sustainable
engagement - eNPS o employability, 7 " o
Senvor Leadership 10% engagement and 48 eNPS/56 eNPS 53 eNPS 31 eNPS ero payou 0%
Group (SLG) wellbeing of SLG
12%

Tatal

L e ar 2
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Strategic goals Achievements

RemCo
Assessment

Partial protection of core Corporate & Trust Services revenue in the Netherlands through:
+ Launch of new Executive Compensation Services (formerly Performance & Reward

Protect the CTS Core Management) & Global Entity Salutions

Partially Achieved

« Increased Annual Contract Value through targeted cross- selling by commercial relationship

management team

Growth initiative delivered in Americas with:
+ Intertrust Law

« Ironstone fiduciary services

+ Launch CFQ services

Emerging CFS Growth
Markets

Achieved

Growth initiatives delivered in Ireland with Private Capital

Growth delivered through:
Grow Funds

« Private Capital revenue growth with closure 38 Funds 360 mandates fram existing clients
« Completed 2 significant lift-outs and amongst other ‘strateqic’ funds deals
+ Completed multiple Prime SPV engagerments

Achieved

+ Platinum Client Programme launched and 12 clients onboarded

Unlock Potential
target

- New won opportunities from Platinum clients expected generated incremental revenue
- Material step up in General Relationship Management activity generated revenue above

Achieved

- Mandatory Training course completion rate was 96.3% globally; part of a programme of Risk &

Compliance & Risk Compliance activities which is ongoing

= Rermediation prograrmme underway

» Resalver (digitized risk management) was delayed and in UAT

Partiatly Achieved

« KIVA partnership delivered EUR18k in colleague contributions
« First Intertrust Group environmental audit completed

ESG
globally
+ 8 colleaques appainted ta D&l Council

The cash bonus for 2021 was based on performance
against both financial and non-financial targets as set
outin the 2021 STl scorecard. The STl awards were
approved by the Supervisory Board on 11 February 2021
and equalled 12% of base salary {out of a potential
100% base salary award). Given the Campany's
perfarmance and the objective of the STl as set out at
the beginning of this paragraph, resulting STl was
considered fair. No further scenario analysis has been
performed. The resulting STl award for 2021 amounted
to EUR 72,000 for the period for CEO Shankar lyer,

EUR 42,000 for CFO Rogier van Wijk.

Long-term incentive (LTI)

The LTl intends to drive sustained long-term
performance, support retention, and support and
ecourage greater alignment with shareholders’
interests. The LTl awards to members of the
Management Board are made by the Supervisory Board
in accordance with the Remuneration Policy. Following
the adoption of the Remuneration Policy in 2019,
members of the Management Board now receive a fixed
LTI award at the beginning of each year; the award for
the CEO being 100% of salary and 75% of salary for the
CFO.

Management Board LT1 award as of % of base salary

100%
75%

CEO
CFO

An LTI award consists of an award of conditional
performance shares that become unconditional at the
end of 3 three-year performance period. [t is subject to
achieving predetermined targets based on Absolute
Total Shareholder Return (Absolute TSR} with 70%

= Harassment & Biscrimination Prevention and Mental Health & Wellbeing training-delivered

74

Achieved

weighting, underlying Revenue Growth with 30%
weighting and te continued employment.

The Absolute TSR target and the underlying Revenue
Growth target will be set annually by the Supervisory
Board, for a three-year period. The performance pericd
for underlying revenue growth starts on 1 January and
ends three years later on 31 December. The
perfarmance period for the Absolute TSR target is based
en a 60 day averaging period to the end of the financial
year as the start and end of the three-year performance
period. Given that the underlying Revenue Growth
targets are considered competitively sensitive, the
targets and the achieved performance will be published
in the annual report after the three-year vesting period.

The number of conditional performance shares that vest
after three years may vary between 0% and 200% of the
number of conditionally awarded shares. The shares will
vest For 100% upen attainment of a compounded annual
growth rate for Absolute TSR between 7% and 11% over
the three-year performance period. The Supervisory
Board adjusted the Threshald target and broadened the
AL target range for the 2021-2024 cycle, based upon
probability analysis of vesting. The Maximum target was
unchanged from the 2018-2022 cycle. For the LTl cycle
2021-2024 the following targets apply:

Absolute TSR (compounded Vesting
annual growth)

Below threshold < 2% 0%
Threshold 2% 50%
At target 7%-11% 100%
Maximum == 16% 200%
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The vesting percentage is allocated linearly between the
Threshold, At target and Maxirmum levels, based on the
principles set out in the Remuneration Policy.

Shares vested at the end of the three-year performance
period by members of the Management Board are
required to be held for a further period of two years in
accordance with the best-practice provisions of the
Dutch Corparate Governance Code, except for the LTIP
shares that can be sold to cover income taxes due.

CEQ, Shankar lver was awarded 42,452 shares {PSP3) for
the year 2021, based upon an award price of EUR 14.12.
CFO, Rogier van Wijk, was awarded 18,590 shares {PSP3)
for the year 2021 on the same award price basis. The
CEQ was also awarded 21,246 shares with the Share
Deferral Plan for his performance for the period before
becoming a member of the Management Board. The
estimate reqgarding perfoermance criteria at year end
2021 is set at a leve! of 50% For PSP 1, 100% for PSP 2
and 100% for PSP 3 to estimate the vested number of
the awards at the moment of vesting. Qther awards
owned by Rogier van Wijk do not have performance
criteria, nor does the Rollover Share Plan and Share
Deferral Plan owned by Shankar lyer.

On & December 2021 C5C and Intertrust have reached
conditional agreement an a recommended all-cash
public offer for all issued and outstanding shares in the
capital of Intertrust at an offer price of EUR 20.00 {(cum
dividend) per Share, with anticipated settlement within
12 months (see also page 80 'Potential impact from
public offer on Share based payment”). This
announcement is reason to suspend scenario analysis on
potential outcomes of performance related LTI plans for
the Management Board.

Pension arrangements

The CEQ, Shankar Iyer and the CFQ, Rogier van Wijk,
received a pension cornpensation of 25% of their
respective base salary.

Other benefits

Members of the Management Board were eligible for a
range of other benefits, such as hesltheare insurance,
lease car and housing allowance. As per 31 December
2021, the members of the Management Board have no
loans outstanding with Intertrust Group and no
guarantees or advanced payments are granted to
members of the Management Board. No member of the
Management Board is entitled under his or her contract
to be paid a severance payment upan termination of
their appointment that exceeds one time their gross
annual base pay in the preceding financial year.
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2021 and comparative 2020 tables relating tec the
Management Board's LTIP, SDP and PSP commitments
and movements and their overall Management Board
remuneration can be Found in the 'Remuneration of key
management personnel’ paragraph.

Application of the Remuneration Policy in 2021

The table below shows the five-year performance
history of the Group. Figures represent full financial year
performance.

Remuyneration ratio

The average total staff expenses, including the variable
and deferred remuneration, for all Intertrust employees
(excluding the Executive Committee and Management
Board) amounted to EUR 71,704 in 2021 (2020:

EUR 69,722).

This amount compared with the actual compensation
earned by Shankar Iyer {including base salary, cash
allowances, short term incentive paid over 2021 and
expenses related to long term incentives in 2021)
amounts to EUR 2,046,337 resulting in a remuneration
ratio of 1:29, compared to a ratio of 1:37 in 2020.

The actual compensation of Shankar Iyerincludes the
accounting impact of the Viteos Roll over share plan,
directly related to the Viteos acquisition completed in
June 2019, Excluding this impact, the remuneration
would have been EUR 1,324,807, which would resultina
remuneration ratio of 1:18 (2020: 1:14}.

2021
Revenue (EUR'CO0) 571,295
Adjusted EBITA (EUR'000) 169,812
Basic EPS (EUR) 072
Diluted EPS (EUR) 0.71
Average staff cost (FUR'Q00) 7.7

2020 2019 2018 2017
564,469 543,340 496,056 485,216
185,120 196,914 185,865 185,132

0.23 1.01 1.00 0.97
0.23 1.00 0.59 0.94
69.7 78.6 86.3 858

Ariat SE et 20
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Remuneration of the
Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisary
Board ¢onsists of fixed annual Fees for their role as
Supervisory Board members. In addition, the Supervisory
Board Chair and the Chairs of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee, respectively, receive a fixed annual fee For
their roles. Remuneration for the Risk Committee from

1 July 2021 onwards still requires shareholder approval.
The proposal thereto will be incorporated in the
convocation of the 2022 AGM.

The annual fees of the Supervisory Board were
unchanged since the AGM held on 16 May 2019 except
an increase in the expense allowances from EUR 5,000
to EUR 10,000, The various board compositions in 2021
are further explained in the 'Report from the
Supervisory Board' from page 65 of this Annual Report.

Annual fees per function in the Supervisory Board (in
EUR ‘000 and gross)

Function in Supervisory Board Fixed annual

fee!
Chairperson 75
Member 50

" Exduding a fixed annual expense allowance of EUR 10k

Annual fees per function in committees of the Supervisory
Board fin FUR ‘000 and gross)

Function in committees of Supervisory Fixed annual

Board fee !
Audit and Risk Committee

Chairperson 15
Member 7.5
Remuneration, Selection and Appaintment

Committee

Chairperson 10
Mamber

Y with effect on 1 July 2021 the Risk Committee was established
Remuneration o the Chair and Members of this Risk Committes requires
sharehalder appraval, which will be requested for at our 2022 AGM. The Risk
Committee annual remuneration far the chair and member of EUR 15
thousand and EUR 7 5 thousand respectively is nat paid nor included

The Company does not award variable remuneration,
shares ar options to members of the Supervisory Board.
As per 31 December 2021, the members of the
Supervisory Board have no laans outstanding with
Intertrust and no guarantees or advanced payments are
granted to members of the Supervisory Board.

Business performance
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Company-related travel and lodging expenses, in
relation to meetings, are paid by Intertrust Greup.

An overview of the fees of Supervisory Board members
can be found in the table at the end of this
remuneration report.

Remuneration of key
management personnel

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group has defined key management personnel as
the members of the 2021 Supervisory Board,
Management Board and Executive Committee of the
Group, responsible For the strategic and operational
activities.

Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation excluding
the members of the Supervisory Board comprises:

{EUR 000) 2021 2020
Short-term employee benefits ? 4,432 6,797
Post-employment benefits 136 287
Share-based payment 2 2,250 4261
Other benefits ? 1112 1,567
Total 7,930 12,812

* Short-term benefits include insurance, car, pension and other allowances

2 This includes the expenses recognised by the Group related to the LTI
awards made to key management personnel

3 Other benefits may include termination benefits
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Management Board
The CEO and CFQ roles in the Management Board received following annualised remuneration over the last 5 years:

(EUR 000} 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
CEQ 2,046 2,600 1,774 1,318 1,070
CFO 685 727 855 711 646

For details per individual members of the Management Board, the Group recognised the following remuneration

expenses:
{EUR 00Q0) 2021 remuneration
Base satary ~ Other benfits ! Shorl-term Deferred Total? Extracrdinary Annuahsed
incentive remuneration expense from tokal totald
Shankar lyer 600 294 72 1,080 2,046 - 2,046
Rogier van Wijk 350 31 42 262 685 - 685
Total 950 325 114 1,342 2,731 - 2,731

T Other benefits include life course compensation, car allowance, relocation or other allowances such as termination benefits when applicable,

2 Short-term remuneratian represents accrued bonuses to be paidin the Following financial year.

3 |n 2021, the fixed proportion of total remuneration was 51% for Shankar lyer and 68% for Rogier van Wijk.

4 As the costs contain expenses on an accrual basis and in line with Group Accounting Policies, the comparison For share-based payments is presented in detail in
the tables hereafter showing the Management Board awards Inthe annualised total, only those members of the Management Board are shown if they were In
charge as at 31 December 2021 or 31 Decemnber 2020 respectively.

{EUR 000) 2020 remuneration

Base salary Other benefits ! Short-term Deferred Totai® Extraordinary Annualised

ncentive remuneration expense from total total

Stephanie Miller ¢ 750 808 243 1,144 2,946 633 -

Rogier van Wijk 350 31 142 204 727 - 727
Shankar lyer S 30 4 21 116 171 - 2,6006

Tatal 1,130 843 405 1,465 3,844 633 3,327

7 Other benefits include ife course compensation, car allowance, relocation or other allowances such as termination benefits when applicable.

2 Short-term remuneration represents accrued bonuses to be paid in the fellowing financial year.

3 The remunerations of the Management Board are presented for the penod they were part of the Managerment Board.

4 At the end of 2020 our Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) changed. Stephanie Miller stepped down and Shankar lyer was nominated as CEG, he became acting CEO
from 7 December 2020 Stephanie Miller's remuneration contained accruals for payments until 1 April 2021,

5 Nominated for appointment as CEQ and member of the Management Board on 8 March 2021 Remuneration is disclosed from 7 December 2020.

6 Remuneration is disclosed from 7 Decamber 2020 Annualised total shows all remuneration items including Viteas Rollover Share Plan Excluding Viteos Rallover
Share Plan, the total annualised remuneration was EUR 944 thousand.

{EUR 000) 2021 deferred remuneration

%0 Pension costs Total
Shankar lyer 930 150 1,080
Roagier van Wijk 174 88 262
Total 1,104 238 1,342

! Represents the expense recagnised during the year in accordance with IFRS2, share-based payment, related to the LTI awards.

{EUR 000) 2020 deferred remuneration

1! Pension costs Total
Stephanie Miller 957 188 1,144
Rogier van Wijk 117 88 204
Shankar Iyer 109 8 116
Total 1,182 283 1,465

1 Represents the expense recognised during the year in accardance with IFRS2, share-based payment, refated to the LTl awards
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(EUR 000) 2019 remuneraticn
Base satany Other benefits ! Shart-term Deferred Totat? Extraordinary Annualised
incentive< remunerafion expense from total total
Stephanie Miller 600 184 600 390 1,774 - 1,774
Hans Turkesteen 4 538 608 310 134 1,590 560 -
Henk Pieter van Asselt * 245 20 - 132 397 - -
Rogier van Wijk ¢ 32 S 21 13 75 - 855
Total 1,415 821 931 669 3,836 560 2,629

! Other benefits include ife caurse compensation, car allowance, relacation or other allowances such as termination benefits when applicable.
2 Short-term remuneration represents accrued banuses to be paid in the Follawing financial year

¥ The remunerations of the Management Board are presented for the pertod they were part of the Management Board

? Resigned and stepped down from the Management Baard as of 12 September 2019 but remained employed by Intertrust until 31 March 2020
5 Resigned in 2018, left the Management Board on 16 May 2019 and remained employed by Intertrust until 31 July 2019,
@ Effective 28 November 2019, Rogier wan Wijk became member of the Management Board.

(EUR 000) 2019 deferred remuneration

erd Pensian costs Total
Stephanie Miller 240 150 390
Hans Turkesteen - 134 134
Henk Pleter van Assel: 125 7 132
Rogier van Wijk 5 8 13
Total 370 299 669

7 Represents the expeanse recogmised during the year in accordance with IFRS2, share-based payiment, related to the LT| awards

{EUR 000) 2018 remuneration
Bose salary  Other bengfits ! Short-term Deferred Total? Extraordinary Annualised

incentive? remuneration expense from tatal total

Stephanie Miller 496 104 352 225 1,177 - 1,318
Hans Turkesteen 83 4 38 21 146 - Fall
Henk Pieter van Asselt 350 373 250 222 1,185 350 “
David de Buck ? 37 4 - 28 €9 - -
Total 966 485 640 496 2,587 350 2,028

T Other benefits include Life course compensation, ¢ar allowance, relocation or other allowances such as termination bemefits when applicable

2 Short-term remuneration represents accrued bonuses to be paid in the following financial year.

3 The remunerations of the Management Board are presented For the period they were part of the Management Board,

4 Effective 22 January 2018, Stephanie Miller replaced David de Buck as Intertrust’s CEO Dawvid de Buck remained employed by Intertrust until 17 May 2018

{EUR 000) 2018 deferred remuneration

Eor’ Othert T/ Pension casts Total
Stephanie Miller 101 124 225
Hans Turkesteen - 21 21
Henk Pieter van Asselt 94 112 16 222
David de Buck 2 29 (5) 4 28
Tatal 123 208 165 496

T Represents the expense recognised during the year in actordance with IFRS2, share-based payment, related to the EQP and LTIP awards
2 EOP accelerated vested on 1 May 2018 with the approval of the Supervisary Board
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{EUR 000) 2017 remuneration
Base salary Other benefits ! Short-term EoP? Other LTI?  Pension costs Total?
incentive ®

David de Buck ¥ 350 50 250 323 82 15 1,070
Ermesta Traulsen ¢ 197 117 - - - 15 329
Maarten de Vries 7 481 140 - - - - 621
Henk Pieter van Asselt 50 3 37 17 7 1 115
Total 1,078 310 287 340 89 31 2,135

1 Other benefits include life course compensatian, car allowance, relocation or other allowances such as terminatien benefits when applicable, and pensian

compensation.

? Short-tarm remuieralion rep esenls aouued bonuses Lo be pald in the Following fimancial year.

? Represents the expense recognised during the year in accordance with IFRS2, share-based payment, related to the EQP and LTIP awards.

# The remunerations of the Management Board are presented for the pericd they were part of the Management Board.

5 Effective 22 January 2018, Stephanie Miller reptaced David de Buck as Intertrust's CEC. David de Buck remained employed by Intertrust untit 17 May 2018.

5 Ernesto Traulsen resigned per 16 January 2017,
7 Maarten de Vries resigned per 31 December 2017

Description of the share-based payments

The Company has implemented and made awards to

members of the Management Board and key

management personnel under the Following equity-

settled share-based payment plans:

1. Long-Term Incentive Plan for employees awarded in
2016,2017 and 2018 (LTIP 1-4);

2. Long-Term Incentive Plan for Executive Committee
(LTIP 5-6);

3. Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019, 2020 and 2021
(SDP 1-2-3) and SDF 2021 Exco;

4. Performance Share Plan 2019, 2020 and 2021 (PSP
1-2-3); and

5. Viteos Roflover Share Plan (VRS).

1. Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP 1-4)

As referred to in the 2015 Remuneration Policy, the LTIP
was implemented during the first half year of 2016.
Conditional performance shares were awarded to
members of the Management Board and eligible
members of senior management on 1 April 2016 (LTIP
1-23, 1 April 2017 (LTIP 3) and 1 April 2018 (LTIP 4).

Performance shares are awarded on an annual basis and
vest on the third anniversary of the award date subject
te {i) the participant remaining in continuous
employment during the vesting period and {if) the Group
meeting the predetermined perfermance criteria.
Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during
the vesting period.

For all performance cycles 2016-2019, 2017-2020 and
2018-2021, an adjusted Earnings per Share (adjusted
EPS) growth performance target applied. Subject to
meeting the service condition, the number of LTIP
shares that vest will be between 0% (adjusted EPS
growth below the threshcld) and 150%. The vesting
percentage was allocated linearly between the
Threshold level and 100% and also from 100% to the
Maximum level. For 2016-2019 {LTIP 1 and LTIP 2)
awards a vesting percentage of 104.67% was applied
based on the Adjusted EPS growth of 5.28%. Those
shares vested on 1 April 2019. For the other remaining
LTIP awards, 25% of the awards of the participants were

ol biesit

cancelled and on the remaining awards the performance
criteria was removed on 12 June 2019, The vesting
period was prolonged. A limited number of exceptions
were recognised due ta good leavers. One-third of the
remaining LTIP 3 awards vested on 1 April 2020, and
ancther one-third on 1 April 2021. The remaining LTIP 3
awards will vest 1 April 2022. One third of the LTIP 4
awards vested on 1 April 2021. The remaining LTIP 4
awards will vest 1 April 2022 and 1 April 2023, each for a
half cf the remaining awards.

2. Long-Term Incentive Plan for Executive Committee
(LTIP 5-6)

Far the members of the Executive Committee, awards
were given in LTIP 5 (2019) and LTIP & (2020). Their
awards vest on each anniversary of the award date for 3
years. In each year one-third of the total award will vest
on the condition of {i) continuous employment of the
participant during the vesting period and (ji) the Group
rmeeting the predetermined financial performance
criteria over the first year the award is given. There were
40,238 shares awarded on 1 April 2019, of which 7,738
shares Forfeited and, based on the performance of the
Company, ane-third of 95% of 32,500 remaining number
of LTIP 5 awards vested on 1 April 2020. On 1 April 2021
8,761 shares vested and the remaining part will vest on

1 April 2022. For LTIPS , 72,865 shares were awarded on
1 April 2020. Based on the performance of the Company
no LTIP6 awards will vest and all shares were forfeited.
The rate was defined by the Remuneration Cornmittee
and approved by the Supervisory Board in February
2021.
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3. Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019, 2020 and 2021
{SDP 1-2-3) and SDP ExCo 2021

As continuance of the Long-Term Incentive Plan, the SDP
awards were implemented during the first half year of
2019. Awards were granted Lo eligible employees on

1 Aprit 2019, 1 April 2020 and 1 April 2021. Share
Deferral Plan shares are awarded on an annual basis and
vest on each anniversary of the award date for three
vears. In each year one third of the total award will vest
subject to the participant remaining in continued
employment during the vesting period. Participants are
not entitled to receive dividends during the vesting
period. One third of SDP 2019 outstanding awards were
vested on 1 April 2020, another one third was vested on
1 April 2021. One third of the SDP 2020 grants were also
vested on 1 April 2021.

During 2021 the methodology for LTIP awards to the
Executive Committee changed from backward locking
grants to forward looking grants. As a result, the
Executive Committee received a grant in SDP for the
previous performance (2020) and a grantin the
Performance Share Plan for 2021. The Share Deferral
Plan for Exco also differs to that of other eligible
employees; it vests in full after 3 years and nat equal
thirds over three years.

4. Performance Share Plan 2019, 2020 and 2021 {P5P
1-2-3) and PSP Exco 2021

The Management Board was granted awards under a
new plan on 29 November 2019, called the Performance
Share Plan {'PSP") as described before in this chapter. On
the same basis new awards were granted by the
Supervisary Board on 1 April 2020 and on 1 April 2021 to
the actual members of the Management Board at the
time of the granting. The estimate regarding
performance criteria at year end 2021 is set at a level of
50% For PSP 1, 100% For PSP 2 and For PSP3 and ExCo
PSP 2021 to estimate the number of the awards at the
moment of vesting.

The members of the Executive Committee recejved the
same grants under the same plan and transitioned with
this action to the same remuneration policy for long
term service plan. The same criteria are applicable to
them as to the members of the Management Board with
the exception of the holding period which only applies
to the Management Board.

Business performance
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5. Viteos Rollover Share Plan {VRS)

At the time of the Viteos acquisition in 2019,
management of Viteos received shares of the Company
which are restricted to hold for three years after the
acquisition, each year one-third of that released from |
restrictions every year. The final vesting will take place in
2022. As the shares require continued employment of
the participants, the shares are accounted as share-
based payments in line with IFRS2. The majority of this
population and other senior management in Viteos were
also granted awards in the Company's Share Deferral
Plan in 2020 and in 2021 as part of our normal incentive
and retention activities.

Potential impact from public offer on Share based

payment

In the event that CSC or a Dutch company controlled by

it makes a recommended all-cash public offer for all |
issued and outstanding shares in the capital of Intertrust

and declares this offer unconditional, an accelerated

vesting is triggered.

All perfarmance incentive shares that are unvested on
settlement date, will vest upon settlement at the
maximum pay-out, and lead to a cash amount equal to
the consideration per tendered share payable to the
participants, subject to ernployment.

All shares, that have no performance criteria, and are
unvested on settlement date, will vest upon settlement
at 100% pay-out, and lead to a cash amount equal to the
consideration per tendered share payable to the
participants, subject to employment. The shares of the
participants under the VRS will be released from lock-up
arrangements at settlement date.

From its cash available resources and debt financing,
CSC will be able to fund the acquisition of the shares
under the offer as announced in the press release of
6 December 2021.
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Mavements of awards
The Management Board awards outstanding and movements during the financial year were:

Qther LTI Award date  Outstanding Grantedin Movement Outstanding  Fairvalue Vesting dateZ
as at 1 Jan 202 in 2021 asat 11 per share
2021 Dec2021"  at award
date (EUR)
Shankar Iyer N
PSP shares 2021 § 1 Apr2021 . 42,492 - 42,492 12.81 1 Apr 2024
SDP shares 202173 1 Apr 2021 21,246 21,246 13.56 1 Apr 2024
Mkeos Rollover Share 19 June 2019 147,262 . - 147,262 1741 19 June 2022
Rogler van Wik '
PSPsnares2021 | 1 Apr2021 - 18,550 - 18,550 12.81 1 Apr 2024
PSP shares 2020 1 Apr 2020 23,046 - - 23,046 9.63 1 Apr 2023
PSP shares 2019 29 Nov 2019 4,388 - - 4,388 11.96 29 Nov 2022
SDP shares 20203 1 Apr 2020 3,512 - {1,170} 2,342 9.89 1 Apr 2023
SDP shares 20193 1 Apr 2019 1,588 - {754) 794 15.26 1 Apr 2022
LTIP4 shares? 1 Apr2018 2,700 - {500) 1,800 14.86 1 Apr 2021
Stephanie Miller
PSP shares 2020 1 Apr 2020 21,949 . 21,949 9.63 1 Apr 2023
PSP shares 2013 29 MOV 2U1Y 26,331 - 26,331 1196 29 Nov2022
PSP shares 2018 29 Nov 2019 35,108 - - 35,108 11.96 29 Nov 2022
LTIP4 shares 1 Apr2018 28,534 - - 28,534 14.86 1 Apr 2021

7 The estimate regarding perfarmance criteria at year end 2021 is set at a level of 50% far PSP 2019, 100% fer PSP 2020 and 100% For PSP 2021

2 Following the vesting date, the LTI shares granted to members aof the Management Board are subject ko an additional two-year lock up pericd, except for the LTI
shares that can be sold to cover income taxes due

3 awards From 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020, 1 April 2021 SDP shares and 1 April 2018 LTIP 4 shares do not have performance criteria, neither does the Viteos
Rollover Share Plars.

4 Viteos Rollover Share Plan is described in Note 8.1, e)

Other LTI Award date Outstanding Grantedin Movement Outstanding  Fair value Vesting date’
as at1 Jan 2020 in 20207 as at 31 per share
2020 Dec 20202  at award
date (EUR)
Shankar Iyer e/ s
gf;iof RolloverShare 18 June 2019 - - 147,262 147,262 17.41 19 June 2022
Rogier van Wijk o 77
PSP shares 2020 1 Apr 2020 - 23,046 - 23,046 9.53 Apr2023

PSP shares 2019 29 Nov 2019 4,388 - - 4,388 1196 Nov2022
SDP shares 2020 5 1 Apr 2020 - 3,512 - 3,512 9.89 1 Apr2023

SDP shares 2019 5 1 Apr 2019 2,381 - {793) 1,588 15.26 1Apr20zz
LTiP4 shares 5 1 Apr2018 2,700 - - 2,700 1486 1aApr2021
Stephanie Miller -

PSP shares 2020 1 Apr 2020 - 52,677 (30,728) 21,949 9.63 7 Apr2023

PSP shares 2019 29 Nov 2019 35,108 - @717 26,331 1196  29Nov 2022
PSP shares 20718 20 Nov 2019 35,108 - . 35,108 1186 29Nov2022
LTIP4 shares 1 Apr2018 28,534 - - 28,534 1486 1Apr2021

1 At the end of 2020 our Chief Executive Officer {CEO) changed. Stephanie Miller stepped down and Shankar lyer was nominated as CEO, to assume the role of
acting CEO fram 7 December 2020. Stephanie Miller's awards partially forfeited, the remaining awards were kept and handled as good leaver. Shankar lyer's
rollover share plan disclosed as movement in 2020. Other movements are caused by vesting

2 The estimate regarding performance criteria at year end 2020 is set at a level of 50% for PSP 2019 and 100% for PSP 2020 te estimate the number of the
awards at the moment of vesting.

3 Following the vasting date, the | Tl shares granted to members of the Management Board are subject to an additional two-year lock up perod, except for the LTI
shares that can be sald to cover income taxes due,

4 \iteos Rollover Share Plan is described in Note 8.1 ¢)

5 mwards From 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020 SDP shares and 1 April 2018 LTIP 4 shares da not have perfermance criteria, neither dees the Viteos Raollover Share Plan.

As of 31 December 2021, the members of the Management Board have no toans outstanding with the Group and no
guarantees or advance payments are granted to members of the Management Board.

Supervisory Board
The individual members of the Supervisory Board received the following remuneration:

DTN A 81 Arainy, fooe 2010
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(EUR 000) Member since / {until) 2021 20202 20192 2018 2017
Héléne vietter-van Dort 21 August 2015 80 804 78 80 ]
Toine van Laack 16 May 2017 65 655 63 85 40
Anthony Ruys 21 August 2015 55 55 58 60 &0
Chartotte Lambkin 17 Qctaber 2017 60 60 55 60 12
Paul Willing 17 October 2017 58 58 53 50 10
Stewart Bennett 16 May 2019 58 58 34 - -
Bert Groenewegen 21 August 2015/ (16 May 2017) - - - - 24
Tatal 376 376 341 315 226

T Each member's remuneration excludes EUR 10 thousand expense allowance With effect an 1 July 2021 the Risk Committes was established. Remuneration to
the Chair and Members of this Risk Committee requires shareholder approval, which will only requested for at our 2022 AGM. The Risk Committee annual
remuneération far the chair and member of EUR 15 and EUR 7.5 thousand respectively is not included

2 Each member's remuneration excludes FUR 10 thousand expense allowance.

3 Each member's remuneratian excludes EUR 5 thousand experise allowance

4 In addition, EUR 35 thousand remuneration from affiliated entities as the Chair of the Supervisary Board both for 2021 and 2020.
5 In addition, EUR 25 thousand remuneration from affiliated entities as member of the Supervisory Board beth for 2021 and 2020

The Company does not award variable remuneration, shares or opticns to the members of the Supervisory Board.
They had no loans outstanding any of the year ends for the abave respective years. No guarantees or advance
payments are granted to members of the Supervisory Board.
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The corporate governance framework of the Company is based on our strategy and is in
line with the requirements of both the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Corporate
Governance Cade (the Code). Intertrust Group attaches great value to the principles
embedded in the Code and its vital role in safeguarding the interests of its
stakeholders. Intertrust Group has a two-tier board structure with a Management Board
and a Supervisory Board. In addition, the Management Board has installed an Executive

Committee.

General

Intertrust NV, {Intertrust) is a public company with
limited liability (naamlcze vennootschap) incorporated on
8 September 2014 under the laws of the Netherlands.
On 15 October 2015, shares in the capital of Intertrust
were listed on Euronext Amsterdam. Since 18 March
2016, Intertrust Group's shares have been included in
the AMX index.

tntertrust’'s management and supervision are embedded
in two corporate bodies: a Management Board and a
Supervisory Board. In 2021, the Management Board
consisted of two members and the compasition of the
Supervisory Board remained at six members. In addition,
Intertrust has an Executive Committee which is
entrusted with the day-to-day management of Intertrust
with respect in particular to setting, implementing and
achieving the Group's strategic, operational and financial
objectives. The Executive Committee comprises
members of the Management Board and leaders with
functional or regional responsibility. Maintaining a two-
tier board structure in combination with the Executive
Committee enhances effective corporate governance
and independent supervision.

Each member of the Management Board, Supervisory
Board and Executive Committee has a duty to Intertrust
to properly perform the duties assigned to them and to
actin the interest of Intertrust, extending to the
interests of all its stakeholders.

2021 dividend policy

In early 2021, Intertrust announced that the
Management Board, with approval of the Supervisory
Board, had revised the dividend policy, as part of the
revised capital allocation framework. The revised policy
reccgnises the Company's continued strong cash
generation and the importance of dividends for
shareholders, whilst providing greater flexibility in
capital allocation to drive underlying growth across the
business.

For the revised dividend policy we refer to the
explanatory notes to the agenda of our AGM held on
12 May 2021. In the notice to the AGM held on 12 May
2021, shareholders were requested to discuss this
revised dividend policy, but during the AGM no
shareholder submited a question about this topic.

83

Due to the agreement with CSC on a recommended all-
cash publie offer For all issued and outstanding shares in
the capital of Intertrust Fer the financial year 2021 the
Management Board decided not to propse a dividend to
the AGM over the year 2021. As such, for 2021 Intertrust
deviates from the revised dividend policy.

Management Board

Duties

The Management Board is entrusted with the
rmanagement, strategy, policies, objectives and results of
Intertrust, under the supervision of the Supervisory
Board. The Management Board facuses on long-term
value creation for Intertrust and its affiliated enterprises
and takes into account the interests of all stakeholders
(please refer to the Strategy chapter an page 26 of this
Annuat Report). The Rules for the Management Board
{Management Board Rules) are published on our
website, They describe the duties, tasks, compositicn,
procedures and decision-making of the Management
Board, its relationship with the Supervisory Board and
with the Executive Committee as well as the individual
tasks and responsibilities of each member of the
Management Board.

Certain resotutions of the Management Board require
the approval of the Supervisory Board. These resolutions
are outlined in Intertrust’s Articles of Association
(Articles) and in the Management Board Rules, both of
which are available on the Intertrust website.

Appointment, removal and suspension

The General Meeting appoints a member of the
Management Board pursuant to and in accordance with
a proposal by the Supervisory Board or upon a binding
nemination drawn up by the Supervisory Board. Such a
resolution can be adopted by an absclute majority of the
votes cast irrespective of the capital present or
represented at the relevant shareholders’ meeting. The
General Meeting can overrule a binding nomination of
the Supervisory Board by a majority vote of at least two-
thirds of the votes cast, provided such a majority
represents at least one-third of the issued share capital.

If the General Meeting, with an absolute majority of the
votes cast, overrules the binding nemination, but this
rmajority does not represent at least one-third of the
issued share capital, then a new meeting may be
convened in which the nomination can be overruled by
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an absolute majority of the votes cast irrespective of the
capital present or represented at the meeting.

Intertrust’s Articles provide that the General Meeting
has the authority to suspend and dismiss a member of
the Management Board. A resolution of the General
Meeting ta suspend or dismiss a member of the
Management Board requires an absolute majority of the
votes cast if the suspensicn or dismissal is proposed by
the Supervisory Board. However, such a resclution
requires a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes
cast, which majarity must represent at least one-third of
the issued share capital if the suspension or dismissal
has not been proposed by the Supervisory Board. If the
shareholders support the suspension or dismissal with
an absolute majority of the votes cast, but such majority
does not represent at least one-third of the issued
capital, a new meeting may be convened at which the
resolution may be passed with an absolute majority of
the votes cast, irrespective of the part of the capital
represented at the meeting.

Composition

Intertrust aims tc have a balanced and diverse
compaosition of its Management Board which is reviewed
in more detail in this chapter under 'Diversity'. The
Diversity & Inclusion Charter is available on Intertrust's
website.

Remuneration

Intertrust deviates from the Code as it has not
perfaormed scenario analyses on the Management
Board's STl and LTl remuneration (DCGC 3.4.1 iii). Full
informaticn on the remuneration of the members of the
Management Board can be found in the Remuneration
chapter on page 77 of this Annual Report.

Supervisory Board

Duties

Intertrust’s Supervisory Board is charged with the
supervision of the policy of the Management Board and
the general course of affairs in the Company and the
business affiliated with it, and with advising the
Management Board. The Supervisory Board should
supervise how the Management Board implements
Intertrust’s strateqy.

The Rules for the Supervisory Board (Supervisory Board
Rules) describe the duties, tasks, compaosition,
procedures and decision-making of the Supervisory
Board as well as its relations with the Management
Board, the General Meeting and the Executive
Committee. The Supervisory Board Rules are available
on Intertrust’'s website.

Business performance
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Appointment, removal and suspension

The General Meeting appoints a member of the
Supervisory Board pursuant to and in accordance with a
propesal of the Supervisory Board or upon a binding
nomination drawn up by the Supervisory Board.

A resolution of the General Meeting to appoint a
member of the Supervisory Board, in accordance with a
propaosal of the Supervisory Board, can be adopted by an
absolute majority of the votes cast, irrespective of the
capital present or represented at the relevant
shareholders” meeting.

The General Meeting can overrule a binding nomination
by the Supervisory Board by a majority vote of at least
two-thirds of the votes cast, provided such a majority
represents at least one-third of the issued share capital.
If the General Meeting, with an absolute majority of the
votes cast overrules the binding nomination, but this
majority does not represent at least one-third of the
issued share capital, then a new meeting may be
convened in which the nomination can be overruled by
an absolute majority of the votes cast irrespective of the
capital present or regresented at the meeting.

Each member of the Supervisary Board shall be
appointed for a maximum period of four years. A
Supervisory Board member's term of office shall lapse in
accordance with the rotation schedule drawn up by the
Supervisory Board, available on Intertrust's website:
https://www.intertrustgroup.com/investors.

A member of the Supervisory Board may be re-
appointed once for another four-year period and
thereafter be reappointed again for a period of two
years. In the event of a re-appointment after an eight-
year pericd, the repart of the Supervisory Board shall
elaborate on the considerations to do so.

The General Meeting has the authority to suspend and
dismiss a member of the Supervisory Board. A resolution
of the General Meeting te suspend or dismiss a member
of the Supervisory Board requires an absolute majority
of the votes cast if the suspension or dismissal is
proposed by the Supervisory Board. However, such a
resolution of the General Meeting requires a majority of
at least two-thirds of the votes cast, which majority must
represent at least one-third of the issued share capital if
the suspension or dismissal has not been proposed by
the Supervisory Board.

Composition

Intertrust’s Articles stipulate that the Supervisory Board
must consist of a minimum of three members and a
maximum of seven members, the number of which is to
be determined by the Supervisory Board. The profile and
rotation schedule of the Supervisory Board are available
on the [ntertrust website . The rotation schedule has
been updated after reappointments of three
Supervisory Board members at the AGM held on 12 May
2021. Intertrust aims to have a balanced and diverse
composition of its Supervisory Board, which is reviewed
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in more detail in this chapter under ‘Diversity’. The
Diversity & Inclusion Charter is available on Intertrust’s
website.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board consisted of six
members. An independent member has been appointed
as Chair. From October 2021 (five years after Intertrust
acquired all shares in Elizn) all members of the
Supervisory Beard are considered independent within
the meaning of best practice provision 2.1.8 section i of
the Code.

The composition of the Supervisory Board is detailed on
page 58 of this Annual Report. For the Supervisory
Board biographies please refer to page 58.

Remuneration

Information on the remuneration of the members of the
Supervisory Board can be found in the Remuneration
chapter on page 76 of this Annual Report.

Committees of the Supervisory Board

General

From 1 July 2021, the Supervisory Board has established
three committees from ameng its members: {j) the Audit
Committee, {ji) the Remuneration, Selection and
Appointment Committee and (iii) the Risk Committee.
The Function of these committees is ta prepare the
discussion and decision-making undertaken by the
Supervisary Board. The organisation, duties and warking
methods of the committees of the Supervisory Board
are detailed in separate charters for each committee,
which are available on the Intertrust Group website,

Further details on the different Committees of the
Supervisory Board can be found on page 68 and further
of this Annual Report.

Executive Committee

Roles and duties

As in previous years, throughout 2021, Intertrust
continued warking with an Executive Committee. The
Executive Committee is entrusted with the day-to-day
management of Intertrust in particular with respect to
setting, implementing and achieving Intertrust Group’s
strategic, operational and financial objectives. The
Executive Committee is furthermore actively invelvedin
all important topics related to,.amongst others,
integration, innovation, culture, leadership and ESG. In
the performance of its respansibilities, the Executive
Committee must carefully consider and act in
accordance with the interests of Intertrust and the
business affiliated with it, taking into consideration the
interests of all Intertrust’'s stakeholders.

Members of the Executive Committee will attend

meetings of the Supervisory Board if so requested by
the Supervisary Board and shall provide the Supervisory
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Board with such infermation to properly perform its
duties, through the Management Board. The Executive
Committee Rules are available on Intertrust's website:
https:/fwww.intertrustgroup.com/investors.

Composition, appointment and removal
Members of the Executive Committee, not being
members of the Management Board, are appointed,
suspended and dismissed by the CEQ, after consultation
with the Supervisory Board. As of 31 December 2021,
the Executive Committee consists of (i) the members of
the Management Board, (i) the Chief Operating Officer /
Global Head of Funds & Product (COQ), (iii) the
Managing Director Americas/Rest of the World, (iv) the
Chief Commerciat Officer (CCO), (v) the Chief Risk
Cfficer {CRO) (Fram May 202 1onwards), (vi) the Chief
Hurnan Resources OFficer (CHRQ), and {vii} such cther
members as appointed by the CEQ from time to time.

In 2021, the following changes took place in the

Executive Committee:

- Aileen Gillan joined Intertrust as CRO and member of
the Executive Committee in May 2021, Aileen is
responsible for the group's risk profile and global
compliance in support of the corparate strategy. With
Aileen joining, Rogier van Wijk was relieved from his
temporary CRO respensibility.

- Lee Godfrey stepped down from his position in the
Executive Committee in October 2021, Intertrust
extends gratitude and appreciation for his hard work
and dedication over the last few years. Lee Godfrey
has played a central role in forming and leading
Western Europe. Following his departure, his
responsibilities were split. Intertrust Netherlands,
Belgium, Germany and Switzerland report to Daniel
Jaffe and Intertrust Luxembourg reports to Chitra
Baskar.

On 1 January 2022 Corneel Ryde, Intertrust's General
Counsel, joined the Executive Committee. Since this
occurred in the Following year, his details are not
disclosed in the current corporate governance report.

The composition of the Executive Committee as of
31 December 2021 is detailed on page 62.

Diversity

The Diversity & Inclusion charter, adopted in 2020,
replaced Intertrust's former Diversity Policy. The
Diversity & Inclusion Charter is available on Intertrust
Group's website,

Intertrust applies the principles of our Diversity &
tnclusicn Charter to the composition of its Boards,
whereby the Management Board and the Executive
Committee are combined as one 'Board'. Intertrust will
continue to strive for an adequate and balanced
composition of the Management Board, the Supervisory
Board and the Executive Cemmittee in future selection
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and appointments, by considering all relevant selection attend the General Meeting in such capacity. They have
criteria including gender. an advisory vote. The Chair of the General Meeting may

decide at his or her discretion to admit other personsto

The gender diversity percentage in the combination of the General Meeting.
Management Board/Executive Committee increased to
25% in May 2021 and to 28.5% in October 2021, We Each sharehalder, as well as other persons with voting
reiterate our aim to reach a gender diversity percentage rights or meeting rights, may attend the General
of 30% for the compasition of this combination Meeting, address the General Meeting and, in so far as
ultimately in 2024. For the Supervisory Board'’s they have such right, to exercise voting rights prorata to
composition with a gender diversity of 33% in 2021, its shareholding, either in person or by proxy.

Intertrust is pleased to report that not only it meetsthe Shareholders may exercise these rights, if they are the
30% gender diversity threshold stated in the Diversity & holders of shares an the registration date, which is

Inclusion Charter, but that Intertrust also already currently the 28th day before the day of the meeting,
complies with the quota of at least one-third for both and they or their proxy have notified Intertrust of their
women and men on their supervisory boards, as intention to attend the meeting in writing at the address
prescribed in the Dutch Act of 29 September 2021 to and by the date specified in the notice of the meeting.
amend Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code with the aim of

achieving a better gender balance an supervisary Voting and resolutions

boards. Each shareholder may cast one vote for each share held.

Pursuant to Dutch law, no votes may be cast at a General
whilst the Management Board lacked gender balance in Me@ting in respect of shares which are held by

2021, Shankar lyer, an American national was born in intertrust. Resolutions of the General Meeting are taken
India, lived in the US for nearly 30 years and now lives in by an absolute majority, except where Dutch law or
London. Rogier van Wijk, a Dutch natianal, residesinthe  |nterzrust's Articles provide for a qualified majority.
Netherlands and has lived in China and the US and so the
Management board is considered to be diverse. Powers of the General Meeting

. Important powers of the General Meeting are to:
General Meetlng - Authorise the Management Board to issue shares, to

restrict or exclude the pre-emptive rights of
shareholders and to repurchase shares

- Appoint members of the Management Board upon a
proposal of the Supervisary Board or upon a

Frequency, notice and agenda

The AGM must be held within six months after the end
of each financial year. An EGM may be convened by the nomination of the Supervisory Board
Supervisory Board or the Management Board, whenever  _ Suspend or dismiss members of the Management
Intertrust’s interests so require. Shareholders Board

individually or in aggregate representing at least one-
tenth of the issued share capital may, pursuant to the
Dutch Civil Code, request that a General Meeting be

- Appoint members of the Supervisory Board upon a
proposal of the Supervisory Board or upon a
nomination of the Supervisory Board

convened, If no General Meeting has been held within - Suspend or dismiss members of the Supervisory

eight weeks of the sharehoiders making such request, Board

_they may be authon?ed upon request by a District Cpurt - Adopt the annual accounts of Intertrust

in summary proceedings to convene a Geperal Meeting. - Adopt the Remuneration Policy For the members of
) . ) the Management Board

Notice ,OFa General Meeting mus_t be given a_t least 42 - Castan advisory vote on the remuneration report

days prior to the day of the meeting as required by - Resolve on the reservation or distribution of the

Dutch law. The notice convening any General Meeting profits upon a proposal of the Management Board

mustinclude, among other items, an agenda indicating that has been approved by the Supervisory Board

(tjhe pla_ce andddatg of thhe meem%’.the iftems Fgr ki - Amend Intertrust’'s Articles upon a proposal of the
. |slcu§§|on ﬁn vo_tmg, <t N proceedlngs or reg|sltrz; lmh Management Board that has been approved by the
including the registration date and any proposals for the Supervisory Board.

agenda. Shareholders holding at least three percent of
the issued share capital may request that an item be
added to the agenda. Such requests must be made in
writing, must either be substantiated orinclude a
proposal for a resolution, and must be received by
intertrust at least 60 days before the day of the General
Meeting.

2021 General Meetings

EGM 8 March 2021

On 8 March 2021, Intertrust beld an extraordinary
general meeting (EGM) in accordance with the
Temparary Act COVID-19 Justice and Security (Tijdelijke
o : Wet COVID-19 Justitie en Veiligheid). The FGM was only
Admission to General Meetings virtually accessible for shareholders. One shareholder

Each General Meeting is chaired by the Chair of the submitted questions, both in advance of and during the
Supervisory Board. Members of the Management Board EGM

and of the Supervisory Board shall have the right to
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The following resolutions were adopted in the EGM:

- Appointing Mr Shankar lyer as a member of the
Management Board

- Amending the Articles of Association by including (i) a
provisien regarding the absence or prevention from
acting of members of the supervisory board and {ii)
the possibility for shareholders to participate in the
General Meeting by electronic means of
communication.

AGM 12 May 2021

On 12 May 2021, Intertrust held its AGM, alsa in
accordance with the Temporary Act COVID-19 Justice
and Security (Tijdelijke Wet COVID-19 Justitie en
Veiligheid). Like the EGM, also the AGM was only virtually
accessible for shareholders. Two shareholders submitted
questions in advance. One of these alsa asked follow-up
questions at the AGM.

One of the agenda items was a discussion of the
Remuneration Report 2020 and the enablement of our
shareholders to cast their advisory (non-binding) vote
about this repart.

- Percentage of votes cast in favour of the
remuneraticn report 2020: 92.63%

- Percentage of votes cast against the remuneration
report 2020: 7.37%.

The following resclutions were adopted at the AGM:

- Adoption of Intertrust’s Annual Accounts 2020

- Discharge of the members of the Management Board
fFor their functioning throughout financial year 2020

- Discharge of the members of the Supervisory Board
for their Functioning throughout financial year 2020

- Appointment of Ernst & Young Accountants LLP as
the external auditor for the financial statements for
2021

- Reappointment of Ms C.E. Lambkin, Mr A.H.A.M. van
Laack and Mr P.J. Willing as members of the
Supervisory Board

- Designation of the Management Board to issue
shares and to award rights to subscribe for shares

- Designation of the Management Board to limit or
exclude pre-emptive rights

- Authorisation aof the Management Board to
repurchase shares.

Share capital

Issue of shares

The authorised capital of Intertrust consists of ordinary
shares only. Intertrust cannat issue one or more shares
without voting rights, or with no or limited entitlement
to profits or reserves of Intertrust.

The General Meeting may resolve ta issue sharesin the
capital of Intertrust, or award rights to subscribe for
shares, upon a proposal by the Management Board that
has been approved by the Supervisory Board.

Business performance
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Carperate governance

Intertrust’s Articles provide that the General Meeting
may delegate the authority to issue shares, or award
rights to subscribe For such shares, to the Management
Board, pursuant to and in accordance with a proposal
thereto of the Management Board, which has been
approved by the Supervisory Board. At the designation,
the number of shares which may be issued by the
Management Board must be determined. No resolution
of the General Meeting cor the Management Board is
required for an issue of shares pursuant to the exercise
of a previously aranted right to subscribe for shares.

In March 2021, the Management Board, with approval of
the Supervisory Board, used the authorisation delegated
to it and resolved to issue 240,000 new shares {the New
Shares) in the capital of the Company, having a nominal
value of EUR 0.60, while excluding any statutory pre-
emptive rights to the extent required. On 1 Aprit 2021,
Intertrust, in execution of aforementioned resolution of
the Management Board, issued the New Shares to an
intermediary under the obligation for the intermediary
to inctude the New Shares in the Collective Deposit
pursuant to section 12 of the Giro Securities Act. The
intermediary transferred the New Shares to Euroclear
Nederland forinclusion in the Book-Entry Deposit,
Euroclear Nederland was registered in the shareholders
register of the Company as the party to which the New
Shares have been delivered.

AL the AGM of 12 May 2021, it was resolved to extend
the authority of the Management Board to resolve to
issue shares and award rights to subscribe for shares,
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board and for
a period of eighteen menths, until 12 November 2022.
The autharity of the Management Board is limited to a
maximum of 10% of the issued share capital, at the time
of issue, or at the time of granting of the right to
subscribe for shares.

As per 31 December 2021, the issued share capital
amounted to EUR 54,333,811.20, divided into
90,556,352 shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.60 each
of which 528,813 shares were held by Intertrust on its
custody account.

Pre-emptive rights

Each shareholder has a pre-emptive right to subscribe on
a pro rata basis for any issue of new shares or upon an
award of rights to subscribe for shares. Exceptions to
these pre-emptive rights include the issue of shares and
the award of rights to subscribe for shares (i) to
Intertrust’s employees; (i) in return for non-cash
consideration; or {iii) to persons exercising a previously
granted right to subscribe for shares.

At the AGM of 12 May 2021, it was resolved to extend
the authority of the Management Board as the
competent corparate bedy to limit or exclude the pre-
emptive rights in respect of the issue of shares or the
granting of rights to subscribe for shares pursuant to the
authorisation given above.
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Acquisition of own shares

Intertrust may acquire fully paid-up shares in its own
capital for consideration, subject to the authorisation by
the General Meeting and subject to Dutch law, and after
prior approval of the Supervisory Board. The
authorisation is not required for shares quoted in the
listing of any stock exchange in order to transfer them
to employees of Intertrust or of a3 Group company
pursuant to a scheme applicable to such employees.
Intertrust is not entitled to any distributions from shares
in its own capital. No vote may be cast at the General
Meeting for shares held by Intertrust or by a subsidiary.

At the AGM of 12 May 2021, the authority awarded to
the Management Board to re-purchase shares in the
share capital of Intertrust up to a maximum of 10% of
the issued share capital was extended for a period of
eighteen months, until 12 November 2022.

Share buy-back programme

Intertrust announced a programme to repurchase
ordinary shares in its capital for a total aggregate
consideration of EUR 100 million on 27 September 2021.
This programme was implemented within the limitations
of the authority granted to the Management Board by
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, which
autharised the Management Board to purchase up to
10% of tntertrust’s issued share capital per 12 May 2021,
for a period of 18 months starting 12 May 2021 and
ending 12 November 2022, The Supervisory Board
approved the share buy-back programme on

26 September 2021. IF and to the extent required,
further shareholders’ approval would be reguested as
referred toin Section 2:98 paragraph 4 of the Dutch Civil
Code. The share repurchase programme would be
conducted in accordance with the Market Abuse
Requlation (EU) 596/2014 and the Cammission
Delegated Regulation {EU) 2016/1052 and within the
safe harbour parameters for repurchase programmes.
Intertrust announced the suspension of this programme
until Further notice on 12 November 2021,

Transfer of shares and transfer restrictions
A transfer of shares in the share capital of Intertrust
included in the Statutory Giro System must take place in
accordance with the provisions of the Dutch Securities
Giro Act (Wet giraal effectenverkeer). \ntertrust’s Articles
do not restrict the transfer of shares in the share capital
of Intertrust.

Intertrust is nok aware of the existence of any
agreement pursuant to which the transfer of sharesin
the share capital of Intertrust is restricted. The shares
awarded to the members of the Management Board
under Intertrust’s equity plans shall be held for at least
five years after they are awarded as prescribed by the
Corporate Governance Code.

Business performance
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Articles of Association

The General Meeting can only resolve to amend
Intertrust’s Articles by a proposal of the Management
Board, which proposal has been approved by the
Supervisary Board.

External auditor

The external auditoris appointed by the General
Meeting. At the AGM held on 12 May 2021, the General
Meeting appointed Ernst & Young Accountants LLP as
the external auditor for the financial year 2021. The
external auditor may be questioned at the AGM in
relation to its audit opinion on the financial statements.
The external auditor will therefore attend and be
entitled to address this meeting.

Financial reporting

A description of the most important characteristics of
the management and control systems of Intertrust with
respect to the financial reporting process of intertrust
and its Group companies of which the financials are
consolidated can be found in the Compliance and Risk
Management chapter of this 2021 Annual Report.

Dutch Corporate Governance
Code

Intertrust Group is subject to the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code, which is based on a ‘comply or
explain’ principle. Accordingly, Intertrust is required to
disclose in this Annual Report whether or not it complies
with the various principles and best practice provisions
that are addressed to the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board and provide a substantive and
transparent explanation for any departures from the
principles and best practice provisions.

Considering Intertrust Group's interests and the interest
of its stakehelders, Intertrust deviates from a limited
number of principles and best practice provisions, which
are described as follows;

Best practice provision 2.3.2 (establishment of committees)
Intertrust does not comply with best practice provision
2.3.2, which provides that if the supervisory board
consists of more than Four members, it shall appoint an
audit committee, a remuneration committee and a
selection and appointment committee. For efficiency
purposes, the Supervisory Board has combined the
functions and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee and the selection and appointment
committee in one committee, the Remuneration,
Selection and Appointment Committee.
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Best practice provision 4.3.3 {cancelling the binding nature
of a nomination or dismissal)

Intertrust Group does not comply with best practice
provision 4.3.3, which provides that the General Meeting
of shareholders of a company may pass a resolution to
cancel the binding nature of a nomination for the
appointment of 3 member of the Management Board or
of the Supervisory Beard and/or a resolution to dismiss a
member of the Management Board or of the
Supervisory Board by an absolute majority of the votes
cast.

It may be provided that this majority should represent a
given proportion of the issued capital, which preportion
may not exceed ene-third. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, the General Meeting may only overrule the
binding nature of such nominations by resolution of the
General Meeting adopted with a two-thirds majority of
the votes cast, representing at least one-third of the
issued share capital. If the shareholders support
overruling the binding nature of the nomination with an
absalute majority of the votes cast, but such majerity
does not represent at least one-third of the issued
capital, a new meeting may be convened at which the
resolution may be passed with an absolute majority of
the votes cast, irrespective of the part of the capital
represented at such meeting. A similar provision is
included in the Articles of Association regarding the
removal of members of the Management Board and
Supervisory Board. These provisions are stricter than
best practice provision 4.3.3. Intertrust believes this to
be justified in the interest of the continuity of Intertrust
and its Group companies.

Corporate governance statement

This chapter, including parts of this Annual Report
incorporated by reference, also serves as the corporate
governance statement referred to in section 2a of the
Management Report Decree {Besluit inhoud
bestuursversiag).

Legal transparency obligations

This section includes an overview which sets out where
the information that is required to be disclosed under
Article 1 of the Decree on Article 10 of the Takeover
Directive (Besluit artikel 10 overnamericht{iin) can be
found.

Capital structure

Infermation on the capital structure of Intertrust, the
shares and the rights attached thereto is provided in the
Shares chapter of this Annual Report and in this
Corporate Governance chapter.

No limitations on transferability of shares
There are no limitations on the transferability of
Intertrust’'s shares. See also the paragraph 'Transfer of
shares and transfer restrictions' in this chapter.

Business performance
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Major shareholders

Shareholders are obliged to give notice of interests
exceeding certain thresholds to the Netherlands
Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM). For the
overview of such notifications we refer to the 'Investor
relations and shares' chapter of this 2021 Annual Report.

Special rights of control

As stated above, the authorised capital of Intertrust
consists of ordinary shares only. Intertrust cannot issue
one or more shares to which special rights of control are
attached.

Control mechanisms relating to employee
participation plans

Under none of the Intertrust share plans can the voting
rights on the shares be exercised before the shares
awarded have vested.

No voting limitations
There are no limitations on the voting rights attached to
the shares in intertrust.

Lock-up agreements
This information is included in the paragraph ‘Transfer of
shares and transfer restrictions’ in this chapter.

Provisions regarding the appointment and
dismissal of members of the Management

Board and Supervisory Board

This information is included in the subparagraphs
'Appointment, removal and suspension’ of the
Management Board (see page 83) and Supervisory
Board (see page 84) sections respectively of this
Corporate Governance chapter.

Authority of the Management Board to issue
and repurchase shares

Information on the autharity of the Management Board
to issue and repurchase shares is included in the
subparagraphs 'Issuance of shares’ and 'Acquisition of
own shares' in the 'Share Capital' section (see page 87)
of this Corporate Governance chapter.

Change of contrel

A change of contraol provision is included in the Senior
Facilities Agreement, Senior Notes and in the
Management Agreement aof Rogier van Wijk.

Severance paymerts

The agreements of the members of the Management
Board provide for severance payments in the event cf a
termination other than for urgent cause.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Other infarmation

{EUR 000)

Revenue

Staff expenses

Rental expenses

Other operating expenses

QOther operating income

impairment losses on financial assets
Depreciation and amortisation of other intangible assets
Amortisation of acquisition-related Intangible assets and Impairment of goodwill
Profit from aperating activities
Finance incorme

Finance expense

Financial result

Profit before income tax

Income tax

Profit for the year after tax

Frrfa for e e affer fax aef ot alife do
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Profit For the year

Basic earnings per share (EUR)

Diluted earnings per share (EUR)

Note

12
18

18

i
rJ

13
12

2021 2020
571,295 564,469
(291,978) (284,840)

(8,708) (8,380)

(86,249) {76,983)
170 2,490
(3,681) {3,839)
(29.142) {30,586)
(49,189) {73,205)
102,518 89,126
22.416 1,581
(36,965) (54,913)
(14,549) {53,322)
87,969 35,794
(22,679) {14,954)
65,290 20,840
65,273 20,805
17 35
65,290 20,840
Q.72 a.23
0.71 0.23
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QOther infarmation

{EUR 000) Note 2021 2020
Profit For the year after tax 65,290 20,840
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans 28 332 (10)
Income tax en actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (1 27
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss 33 17
Foreign currency translation differences - foreign operations 42,460 {41,691)
Net movemnent on cash Flow hedges in other comprehensive income i 4,508 {2,786)
Income tax on net movement on cash flow hedges in other comprehensive income 26 2} (27)
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss 46,966 {44,504)
Other comprehensive income/{loss) for the year, net of tax 47,297 {44,487)
Tatal comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 112,587 (23,647)
Toadaf campiehiens e e e Ao for the yoar alobutablo e
Owners of the Company 112,573 (23,687)
Non-controlling interests 14 40
112,587 {23,647)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) For the year

The Notes on pages 97 te 165 are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Other information

(EUR 008) Nate 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 1£ 110,319 92,096

Other intangible assets 17 25,549 22171

Acquisition-related intangible assets iv 1,609,340 1,591,846

Other non-current financial assets 21 50,682 29,828

Deferred tax assets N 11,318 8933

Non-current assets 1,807,209 1,744,874

Trade receivahles 12 111,863 94,213

Other receivables 14 43,458 30,782

wark in progress i 40,817 35471

Current tax assets 1,349 1,051

Other current financial assets 21 2,385 1,704

Prepayments 12,650 12,171

Cash and cash equivalents 13 136,022 141,311

Current assats 348 544 316,703

Total assets 2,155,753 2,061577
Equity

Share capital 54,334 54,190

Share premium 630,441 630,441

Reserves (23,689) (65,494)
Retained earnings 210,511 140,870
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 871,597 760,007

Non-controlling interests 25 321 307

Tatal equity 24 871,918 760,214
Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 26 790,642 888,676

Cther non-current financial liabilities 7 96,796 83,809

Employee benefits liabilities i} 3,195 2,797

Deferred income 13 4,166 4,209

Pravisions 2% 705 1,042

Ceferred tax liabilities 27 79,826 80,673

Non-current liabilities 975,330 1,061,206
Loans and borrowings 24 108,058 8,847
Qther current: financial liabilities 71 19,622 17,753
Deferred income 13 45,764 66,028
Provisions 25 7,373 3,472
Current tax liabilities 22,896 29,480
Trade payables 16,584 15,033

Other payables 14 84,208 95,444
Current liabilities 308,505 240,057
Total liabilities 1,283,835 1,301,263
Total equity and liabilities 2,155,753 2,061,577

The Notes on pages 97 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ctherinformation

(EUR 000)

For the period ended 31 December 2021

Abtributable Yo ownecs of the Company

Note Share Share Retained  Transiclon  Hedgng  Trecswiy Tolad Non- Tolol equity
cansikal DrEMILT escrnings reserie reserve sheve controliing
reserue inerests
Balance at 01 January 2021 54,190 630,441 140,870 {55.680) (7,792) (2,022) 760,007 307 760,314
Profit/(loss} for the year - - RR2TR - - - 65,273 17 65,290
QOther comprehensive income/{loss)
for the year, net of tax - v 331 42 463 4,506 - 47,300 (3 47,287
Total comprehensive income/{loss)
for the year - - 65,604 42,463 4,506 - 112,573 14 112,587
vantimutions and qiscributiong
Equity-settled share-based payment 8 - - 5,808 - - - 5,808 - 5,808
Treasury shares delivered 8 - - (1,627) - - 1,627 - - -
Sitdie buyback o - - - - - (6,791) {6,791) - 6,791)
Share issuance g 144 - (144) . - - - - -
Total contributions and - -
distributions 144 - 4,037 - {5,164) {983) (983)
Tntal Fransactinne with awners of
the Company 144 - 4,037 - {5164) {983) (983)
Balance at 31 December 2021 54,334 630441 210,511 {13,217) (3,286) (7,186) 871,597 321 871,918
{EUR 000) Far the period ended 31 December 2620
Attributable £y owners of the Company
Noie Share Share Retgmnad  Transiaton  Hedging Treasury Tatal Nea- Torol equity
capreal premiim earniags fesgrve resarya share contioiling
resefve mniere iy
Balance at 01 January 2020 54,190 630,441 113,117 {13,984) {4,979) (4,313} 774472 267 774,739
Profit/(loss) for the year - - 20,805 - - - 20,805 35 20,840
Other comprehensive income/{loss) R
For the year, net of tax - 17 {41,696} (2,813 (44,492) s {44,487)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
For the year - - 20,822 (41,696) (2,813) - {23,687) 40 {23,647)
Contihutions and Jisiobutions
Equity-settled share-based payment & - 9,222 - - - 8,222 - 9,222
Treasury shares delivered 8 - (2,291) - - 2,291 - - -
Total contributions and M -
distributions - - 6,931 - 2,291 9,222 9,222
Total transactions with owners of
the Company - - 6,931 2,291 9,222 9,222
Balance at 31 December 2020 54,1930 630441 140,870 (55,680) (7.792) (2,022) 760,007 307 760,314

The Notes on pages 97 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

{EUR Q00Q) Note 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit For the year 65,29) 20,840
Acpasimens far
Income tax expense 2¢ 22,679 14,954
Financial result 72 14,549 53,332
Depreciation and amertisation of other intangible assets 18 29,142 30,586
Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets and impairment of goodwill 18 45,189 73,205
{Gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets (117} 58
Qther non cash items 74 6,799 10,004
187,531 202,979
Thangds m
{Increase)/decrease In trade working capital * (38,304) (4,930
{Increase)fdecrease in other working capital 2 {10,645) 3,824
Increase/{decrease) in provisions 2,963 2,617
Changes in foreign currency 589 503
142,134 204,993
tncome tax paid {30,273) (29,892)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 111,861 175,101
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 170 2
Proceeds from sale of Investments - 100
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16 {7,660} {7,881)
Purchase of intangible assets 14 {9,837) (10,698)
Cash collection relating to lease assets 1,448 1,394
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 1€ (1,514) {4,253)
(Increase)/decrease in other Financial assets {1,194) {1,328)
Interesk received 27 1,008 796
Net cash from/{used in) investing activities {17,579) (21,868}
Cash Flows from financing activities
Praceeds from borrowings 20 12,023 10,000
Acquisition of treasury shares 6,791) -
Repayment of loans and banks 22 {41,510) {99,923)
Interest and other finance expenses paid {30,812) (33,607)
Payment of financing costs {362) {171}
Lease payments e {15,496) (22,110)
Net cash from/{used in) Financing activities {83,348) {145,811}
Net increasef{decrease) in cash 10,934 7,422
Cash attributable to the Company at the beginning of the period 1% 111,186 110,218
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash attributable to the Company 5,780 (6,454}
Cash attributable to the Company at the end of the period 127,900 111,186
Cash held on behalf of clients at the end of the periog 19 8,122 30,125
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 15 136,022 141,311

7 {increase)/decrease in trade Warking capital is defined by the net {increase)/decrease in Trade receivables, Work in progress, Trade payables and Deferred
income

? {Increase)/decrease in other working capital is defined by the et (increase)/decrease in Other receivables, Prepayments and Other payables {excl. liabilities For
cash held on behalf of clients)

The Neotes on pages 97 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SECTION 1

General information and basis for
reporting

1. Reporting entity

Intertrust N.V. ("Intertrust” or the “"Company") is a publicly traded international trust and corporate management
company with limited liability domiciled in the Netherlands. The Company was incorporated on 8 September 2014in
the Netherlands, registration number at the Chamber of Comnmerce is 61411809. The principal place of business is
the Netherlands and the address of the Company's registered office is Basisweg 10, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

The financial statements of the Company for the period from 1 January 2021 toe 31 December 2021 comprise the !
Campany and its subsidiaries (together referred as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities™),

The Company began trading its shares on Euronext Amsterdam on 15 October 2015 Following an Initial Public
Offering (IPO). The Group provides corporate, fund, capital markets and private wealth services. As at 31 December
2021, the Group has operations in more than 30 countries and directly employed 4,175 internal FTEs as at

31 Oecember 2021 (31 December 2020: 4,076 internal FTES).

On 12 May 2021 at the AGM a new independent Auditor, Ernst & Young Accountants LLP, was appainted for the
Company.

». Basis of preparation

2.1, Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial staterments have been prepared in accardance with International Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRS) as adopted by the European Union for use in the EU (EU IFRS) effective as at 31 December 2021 and
in accordance with Title 9 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

These consolidated Financial statermnents have been prepared on the basis of the going concern assumption.

These consolidated financial statemnents were authorised for issue by the Management Board and approved by the
Supervisory Board on 17 February 2022. They are subject to approval by the AGM to be held on 12 May 2022.

2.2. Basis of measurermernt

The consolidated Financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except For the Following

material items in the consolidated statement of financial position:

- Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;

- Goodwill where an impairment was recognised in the past, explained in Note 17.1;

- Defined benefit liabilities/{assets) are recognised at the fair value of plan assets less the present value of defined
benefit ebligation, as explained in Note 28.

2.3, Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company's functional currency. All
financial information presented in Euro has been rounded to the nearest thousand (EUR 000), unless otherwise
indicated.

2.4. Use of estinates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in canformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recagnised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material

adjustment within the next financial year is included in the fotlowing notes:

- Note 12: Impairment losses on financial assets;

- Note 16:IFR516 related assumptions;

- Note 17.1: impairment test: key assumptions underlying recoverable amounts of cash generating units;

- Note 23.5: early redernption valuation adjustment;

- Note 27.1: recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which carry forward tax
losses can be used;

- Note 25 and 32: recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

Determination of fair values
A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both

financial assets and {iabilities.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as much as possible.

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a Fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation

techniques as follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

- Level 3:inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (uncbservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is cateqorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value
hierarchy as the lowest levelinput that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.

Further information about assumptions made in measuring fair valuesis included in the Fellowing notes:
- Note 8.1: description of share-based payment arrangements;
- Nate 23.5: fair values of financial instruments.

3. Significant accounting policies and standards

3.1, Changes in accounting policies and new standards

The accounting palicies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consclidated
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. There have been no significant changes
compared to the prior year consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020.

To the extent relevant, all IFRS standards and interpretations including amendments that were in issue and effective
from 1 January 2021, have been adopted by the Group from 1 January 2021, These standards and interpretations
had ne material impact for the Group.

New standards and interpretations issued and effective from 1 January 2021:

- Amendments to IFRSS, 1AS39, IFRS7, IFRS4 and IFRS16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2.1n 2021 the
Group has amended the Senior Facilities Agreement in order to replace the reference to GBP Libor by Sonia, with
effective date 30 September 2021, The Group has also included the mechanics te switch the USD Libor to a new
reference rate, which will become effective at a later point in time. The impact of the replacement is not deemed
material. We refer to Note 20.

- Amendments to IFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021.
Cn 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to [FRS 16 Leases. The
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent

concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic.

These amendments had limited impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

AllLIFRS standards and interpretations that were in issue but not yet effective for reporting periods beginning on

1 January 2021 have not yet been adopted and disclosed in the Group's consolidated financial statements as at and
For the year ended 31 December 2021.

QOther standards

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2021 reporting periods and have not been adopted early by the Group. These standards are not expected ta have a
material impact en the entity in the current or Future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

3.2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The general accounting policies applied to the consolidated financial statements as a whole are described below,
while other significant accounting policies related to specific items are described under the relevant note. The
description of accounting policy in the notes forms an integral part of the description of the accounting policies in
this section. Unless otherwise stated, these palicies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

Nate
Revenue 6
Share-based payment arrangements 8
Trade receivables 12
Acquisition of subsidiaries 15
Preperty, plant and equipment 16
Intangible assets and goodwill 17
Impairment aof non-financial assets 17.1
Financial instruments 23
Employee benefits 28
Provisions 29

3.3, Basis of consolidation

The consclidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
either directly, or indirectly, by the Company. Contral is achieved when the parent is exposed to, or has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policy in line with the Group.

In the ordinary course of business, Intertrust establishes and provides services to legal entities which serve the
business purpose of Intertrust's clients. Management makes an assessment of the requirement to consolidate these
entities based on the applicable facts and circumstances. Where the requirements of IFRS10 are not met, these
entities are not consolidated.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreigrn currency
Fareign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date, Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
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measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured based on historical cost are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in
profit or {oss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognised in other

comprehensive income:

- Financial tiabilities designated as hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge
is effective; and

~ qgualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is effective.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising cn acquisition,
are translated into Euro at the exchange rates at the reporting date {closing rates). The income and expenses of
fareign operations are translated into Euro at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

The Group doesn't cwn nor control any foreign aperations in hyperinflationary ecenomies.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and accumulated in the Foreign
currency translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary, then the relevant proportion of the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.

when a foreign operation is disposed of such that contral, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to that Foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain
or loss on dispasal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-
controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investrnent in an asscciate or joint venture that
includes a Foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely in the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses arising from such itern are considered to form part
of a net investment in the foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in
the translation reserve in equity.

Hedge of a net investment in Foreign operations
The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising between the Functional currency of
foreign operation and the Company’s functional currency (Euro).

To the extent that the hedge is effective, Foreign currency differences arising on the translation of a financial liability
designated as a hedge of a netinvestment in a foreign operation are recognised in Other comprehensive income
(OCl) and accumulated in the translation reserve. Any remaining differences are recognised in profit or loss. When
the hedged net investment is disposed of, the relevant amoeunt in the translation reserve is transferred to profit or
loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

3.4. Cash flow statement

Cash Flow statements are prepared using the indirect method. Cash flows from derivative instruments are classified
consistently with the nature of the instruments. Dividend income is presented under investing activities.
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4. Non IFRS financial measures

4.1. Definitions
For the definitions of non-financial measures we refer to the Glossary, Other than those defined there, we give more
clarification as listed below on:

Adjusted basic earnings per shares (Adjusted basic EPS) is defined as adjusted net income (or adjusted basic
earnings) attributable for equity holders divided by average shares outstanding during the period.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share (Adjusted diluted EPS) is defined as adjusted net income {or adjusted basic
earnings) attributable For equity holders divided by average fully diluted shares outstanding during the period.
Adjusted EBITA is defined as Adjusted EBITDA excluding depreciation and amortisation of other intangible assets.
Adjusted EBITA margin is defined as adjusted EBITA divided by revenue, and is expressed as a percentage.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA excluding specificitems.

Adjusted earnings per share is defined as adjusted net income divided by the weighted-average number of basic
shares far the period.

Adjusted net income {or adjusted basic earnings) is defined as adjusted EBITA less adjusted net interest costs, less
adjusted tax expenses and share of profit of equity accounted investees (net of tax) and excluding adjusted items
in financiat results and income taxes.

Adjusted netinterest is defined as net finance cost fair value adjustments (For specific financial instruments)
recognised in the Statement of profit or loss.

Basic earnings per share {Basic EPS) is defined as net result attributable for equity holders divided by average
shares outstanding during the period.

Capital expenditure {Capex ) is defined as investments in property, plant, equipment, saftware and other
intangible assets not related to acquisitions and excludes right-of-use assets.

Diluted earnings per share (Diluted EPS) is defined as net result attributable for equity holders divided by average
fFully diluted shares outstanding during the period.

EBITA is defined as profit/(loss) from operating activities excluding amortisation of acquisition related intangibles
and impairment of goodwill.

EBITDA is defined as profit/{loss) from operating activities excluding depreciation, amortisation and impairment of
goodwill.

Effective tax rate (ETR) is calculated as minus one times income tax expense divided by the profit before tax of the
Group.

Incremental Borrowing Rate is defined as the rate of interest a lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-ofuse asset in
a similar economic environment.

Leverage ratio is defined as total net debt {on "last twelve months” (LTM} average FX rates) divided by the
adjusted EBITDA excluding IFRS16, preforma contribution for acquisitions and full year run-rate synergies related
to acquisitions and other Senior Facility Agreement (SFA) adjustments such as the addback of ITM LTIP, Share
deferral plan (SDP) accruals.

Net debt is defined as the net of the cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on behalf cf customers and gross
value of the third party indebtedness.

Net finance costs is defined as financial results excluding foreign exchange {FX) gains/losses.

Other working capital in the Statement of financial position is defined as the total of Other receivables,
Prepayments and Other payables.

Specific items are income and expense items that, based on their significance in size or nature, should be
separately presented to provide further understanding about the financial perfarmance. Specific items include
Transaction costs, Integration and transformation costs, rollover share-based payments and income/expenses
related to disposal of assets. Specificitems are not of an operational nature and do not represent the core
operating results.

Trade working capital in the Statement of cash flows is defined as the total of Trade receivables, Work in progress,
Trade payables and Deferred income.

Underlying is defined as current and prior period at constant currency and, if applicable, including proforma
figures For acquisition(s).

woarking capital (WC) in the Statement of cash Flows is defined as the total of the trade working capital, other
working capital and net current tax.
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SECTION 2

Our 2021 results

This section presents the notes related to items in the income statement (except for depreciation, amortisation and
impairment of goodwill, leases, financial results and taxes) and disclosure of operating segments. If applicable,
relevant notes on balance sheet items, which also relate to items in the income statement, are also presented in this
section. A detailed description of the results for the year is provided in the financial performance section in the
Management Board report.

olln| Performance

AN

Fuli year revenue Basic EPS
in EUR million in EUR

571 0.72
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5. Covid-19 impact

The Group has been working under our Business Continuity Plan since the outbreak of Covid-19. As a result of
continued investments in the IT infrastructure our employees were mostly working from home at the peak providing
uninterrupted service to our clients. The impact of Covid-19 on revenue and adjusted EBITA margin in 2621 was not
material. As a result of the recurring nature of the revenue and long-term client contracts, the existing business
remains resilient and productivity of our employees continues to be at pre-Covid level. Productivity however was
materially impacted in the Netherlands by remediation efforts and in The Netherlands and Luxembourg by elevated
employee attrition Following the first Covid-19 wave(s). Management has performed a scenario analysis and stress
test for at least the next 13 months after the publication date of these financial statements. The outcome is that
management believes it can continue as a going concern and will stay within its banking covenants during that
periad. One-off Covid-19 related costs incurred For the year ending 31 December 20271 {(EUR 0.8 million) mainly
related to IT costs, staff accommodation, office preparation costs and others. On top of that 2 jurisdictions received
governmental grants added up to EUR 0.2 million. An assessment was performed of patential valuation adjustment
for aur asset base, that might be required as 3 result of the possible impact of Covid-19 on our future profitability
and cash flow generation but no impairment was recognised in 2021.

e. Operating segments

6.1. Basis for revenue recognilion and segmentation

Revenue is recognized by the Group following the five-step model in IFRS 15, consisting of 1. identification of the contract; 2. identification
of the performance obligations in the contract; 3. determination of the transaction price; 4. atlocation of the transaction price to
performance obligations in the contract, and 5. recognition of revenue.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. Revenue is measured at the consideration
received or receivable, excluding components as discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duty. The Group generally does not have any
significant contracts where the period between the Fransfer of the promised services to customer and the payment by the customer, as
contractually agreed, exceeds one year, The Group minimizes the revenue collection and credit risk by advanced billings for which the
revenue recognition is deferred until the delivery of the services. When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the
principal in a transaction, the revenue recognised is the net amaunt of commission made by the Group.

Fixed fee revenue generatly relates to agreed services for which up-front price agreements are in place and these services are often billed
in advance in part or in full. Time based revenue are provided on a time spent basis as per the applicable hourly rates agreed in the
contract. Time based revenue is accrued on the work in progress position and perfodically invoiced to the client.

Fixed fee revenue is recognized over time for services that the customer benefits from during the period when services are rendered or
upon the paint in time when a distinct performance obligation is satisfied. Time based revenue is recognized over time at the contractual
rates for the time spent where only chargeable and recoverable hours are recorded as revenue.

The Management Board is the Chief Operating Decision Maker of the Group (CODM). The responsibility of the
Management Board is to assess performance and to make resource atlocation decisions acress the Group.

The analysis of the business is organised and managed from a geographical perspective.

Intertrust reports on three segments consisting of the fallowing jurisdictions:

- Western Europe: Belgium, France, Germany, ltaly, Luxembourg, Netherlands and Switzerland.

- Americas: Bahamas, Brazil, BVI, Canada, Cayman Islands, Curacao, India Fund Services and the United States of
America.

- Rest of the World: Asia Pacific (Australia, China, Hong Kong, India excluding US Fund Services (Ffrom Q4 2020),
Japan, Singapore and New Zealand); Northern and Southern Europe (Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, Greece {(from Q2
2021), Guernsey, Ireland, Jersey, Norway, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdem) and Middle-East (the United
Arab Emirates).

All operating segments are regarded as reportable segments due to their size/importance for the overall

understanding of the geographical business. They are repcrted in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to and used by the Management Board.
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The Management Board evaluates the performance of its segments based on Revenue and Adjusted EBITA
("segment Revenue” and “segment Adjusted EBITA"). Management considers that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of the respective segments.

The reconciliation of EBITDA to Adjusted EBITA is included in Note 6.3.

The individual Adjusted EBITA by operating segment excludes the allocation of Group HQ and IT costs, which is
subsequently deducted From the total,

Profit/(loss) before income tax is not used to measure the perfermance of the individual segment as items like
amortisation of intangibles {except For software) and net finance costs are not allocated to individual segments.

Consistent with the aforementioned reasoning, segment assets/liabilities are not reviewed reqularly on a segment
basis by management and are therefore not included in the IFRS segment reporting.

6.2. Information about reportable segments

(EUR 000) 2021 2020

Revenue %' Revenue %
Western Europe 221,758 39% 232,760 41%
Rest of the World 214,075 37% 197,224 35%
Americas 135,462 24% 134,485 24%
Segment Revenue 571,295 100% 564,469 100%

? Revenue % is calculated from non-rounded figures.

(EUR 000} 2021 2020

Meama  » " %
Western Europe 100,319 59% 116,533 63%
Rest of the world 89,998 53% 81,462 A44%
Americas 61,892 36% 72,089 39%
Group HQ and IT costs? (82,397) -49%  (84,964) -46%
Segment Adjusted EBITA 169,812 100% 185,120 100%

1 adjusted EBITA % is calculared Fram non-rounded fiqures
2 Group HQ and [T costs are not allocated to the operating segments

6.3. Reconciliation of reportable segments 10 profit before income tax

(EUR 000) Note 2021 2020
EBITDA 180,849 192,917
Integration and transformation costs * 9 11,273 16,230
Share-based payment upon IPQ, integration 8 2,104 4,291
Transaction costs B 4,707 2,022
Other operating expenses 21 246
Adjusted EBITDA 198,954 215,706
Depreciation and amortisation of other intangible assets 18 (29,142) {30,586)
Adjusted EBITA 169,812 185,120

7 Balance consists of integration and transfarmation costs 2021 EUR 6,466 thousand {2020: EUR 6,447 thousand) and other expenses 2021 EUR 4,807 thousand
(2020: EUR 9,789 thousand)
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{EUR 000) Note 2021 2020
Adjusted EBITA repertable segments 169,812 185,120
Share-based payment upon IPQ, integration 8 (2,104) (4,291}
Transaction costs 9 (4,707) (2,022)
Integration and transformation costs g {11,273) {15,230}
Other operating expenses 9 271 (246}
gcr;)%r\ijisl?tion of acquisition-related intangibles and impairment of 13 (49,189) (73,205)
Financial result 22 (14,549) (53,332)
Profit before income tax 87,969 35,794

6.4. Entily-wide disclosures

Other than these operating segments, Intertrust reparts revenues on service line basis. The following service lines

are distinguished:

- Corporates: The Group assist clients with the incorporation, management and administration of legal entities for
their corporate, investment and finance transactions.
- Funds: The Group provides services covering the incorporation and administration of funds, including private
equity funds, real estate funds, hedge funds and venture capital.

- Capital Markets: The Group provides trustee and agency services in capital markets transactions plus

incorporation and management of securitisation and structured finance transactions for issyers and originators.
- Private Wealth: The Group offers Fund, trust and foundation establishment plus administration for
entrepreneurs, family offices and high net worth individuals.

Revenue per service line as at 31 December 2021 are as follows.

(EUR 009} 2021 2020
Carporate services 186,360 33% 187,754 33%
Funds services 253,987 44% 247,548 44%
Capital markets 70,873 12% 66,461 12%
Private wealth 56,967 10% 59,286 10%
Other 3,108 1% 3,420 1%
Group 571,295 100% 564,469 100%
There is no single customer amounting te 10% or more of the Group's revenues.

7. Staff expenses

(EUR 00Q) Note 2021 2020
Salaries and wages (212,934) {212,666)
Social security contributions (18,950) (18,631)
Pensions and benefits (11,459) {11,003)
Share-based payment tong term incentives 8 (3,668} {4,943)
Share-based payment upon IPO and integration 8 (2,104) (4,291)
Other personnel expenses {42,865} {33.306)
Staff expenses (291,978) {284,840)

Pensions and benefits includes defined contributions of EUR 10,617 thousand (2020: EUR 10,337 thousand) and
defined benefits amounting to an expense of EUR 843 thousand (2020: expense of EUR 666 thousand).
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Staff expenses included specific items for share based payments. In 2021, the majority of the specific itemns for share
based payments was relating to the Viteos Rollover Share Plan of EUR 2,104 thousand (2020: EUR 4,135 thousand) as
a result of the Viteos acquisition in June 2019.

The number of FTEs at year end amounts to 4,175 (2020: 4,076). Average number of FTEs in 2021 amounts to 4,072
{2020: 3,868).

The other personnel expenses increased with EUR 9.6 millicn, of which large part is attributable to the remediation
effortin the Netherfands.

5. Share-based payment arrangements

The Company cperates eguify-settied share-based payment arrangements, under which services are received from Management Board
members and eligible employees.

The tokai amount to be expensed for services received is determined by reference to the award date fair value of the share-based payment
awards made, including the impact of any non-vesting conditions and market conditions.

Service conditions and non-market performance conditions are taken into account in the number of awards expected to vest. The fair
value determined at the award date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of the
number of awards that will eventually vest, with a corresponding credit to equity.

At each reporting date, the Company revises its estimates of the number of awards that are expected to vest. The impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, is recognised in the income statement for the period,

The employer social security contributions payable in connection with an award made is considered an integra! part of the award, and the
charge is treated as a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.

8.1. Description of share-based payment arrangements

The Company has implemented and granted awards to members of the Management Board and selected eligible
employees under the following equity-settled share-based payment plans which are still outstanding as at

31 December 2021:

a) Long-Term Incentive Plan for employees awarded in 2017 and 2018 (LTIP 3-4);

b) Long-Term Incentive Plan for Executive Committee {LTIP 5-6);

<) Employee Share Deferral Plan (SDP 1-2-3 and ExCo SDP 2021);

d} Performance Share Plan (PSP 1-2-3 and ExCo PSP 2021); and

e) Viteos Rollover Share Plan (VRS).

a) Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP 3-4)

As referred to in the 2015 Remuneration Policy (replaced in 2019), the LTIP was implemented in the first half year of
2016. Conditional performance shares were awarded to members of the Management Board and eligible members
of senior management on 1 April 2017 (LTIP 3) and 1 April 2018 (LTIP 4) and are stiil outstanding as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020.

Performance shares were awarded on an annual basis and vested on the third anniversary of the award date subject
ko {i) the participant remaining in continuous employment during the vesting period and (i) the Group meeting the
pre-determined performance criteria.

For LTIP 3-4, an adjusted Earnings per Share (adjusted EPS) growth performance target applied. Subject to meeting
the service condition, the number of LTIP Shares that vesks was set between 0% (adjusted EPS growth below the
threshold) and 150% at grant date. The vesting percentage was allocated linearly between the threshold level and
100% and also from 100% to the maximum level. For the LTIP 3-4 awards, 25% of the awards of the participants were
cancelled and on the remaining awards the perfermance criteria were remeved on 12 June 2019. Limited number of
exceptions were recognised due to good leavers.
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Details of the number of LTIP Shares (LTIP 3-4) awarded and outstanding (at target) are as follows:

in number of shares 2021 2020
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 309,798 443,225
Cancelled during the year (13,600) -
Farfeited during the year (28,924) (70,302)
Vested during the year (146,931) (63,125)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 120,343 309,798

Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during the vesting period. As dividends are expected during the
vesting period, the fair value at award date of the performance shares is equal to the share price at award date less
the discounted value of expected dividends. The Fair value of the LTIP Shares awarded in 2021 and 2020 are
presented under b}, ), d) and &).

The Management Board's LTIP awards outstanding and movements during the financial year are disclosed in Note
33.2.

b} Long-Term {ncentive Plan for Executive Committee (LTIP 5-6)

For the members of the Executive Committee, awards were given in LTIP 5 (2019) and LTIP 6 (2020). Their awards
vest on each anniversary of the award date for 3 years. in each year one-third of the total award will vest on the
condition of (i) continuous employment of the participant during the vesting period and (i) the Group meeting the
predetermined financial performance criteria over the first year the award is given. There were 40,238 shares
awarded on 1 April 2019, of which 7,738 shares forfeited and, based on the performance of the Company, cne-third
of 95% of 32,500 remaining number of LTIP 5 awards vested on 1 April 2020. On 1 April 2021 8,761 shares vested and
the remaining part wiil vest on 1 April 2022. For LTIP&, 72,865 shares were awarded on 1 April 2020. Based on the
performance of the Company no LTIP6 awards will vest and all shares were forfeited.

The rate was defined by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Supervisory Board in February 2021.
Details of the number of LTIP Shares (LTIP 5 and L TIP 6) awarded and outstanding (at target) are as foilows:

tn number of shares 2421 2020
Qutstanding at the beginning of the year 78,394 32,500
Awarded during the year - 72,865
Cancelled during the year (60,994} {1,625)
Forfeited during the year {566) {15,059)
Vested during the year {8,761} {10,287}
Outstanding at the end of the year 8,073 78,394

Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during the vesting period. As dividends are expected during the
vesting period, the fair value of the performance shares at award date is equal to the share price at award date less
the discounted value of expected dividends.

¢) Employee Share Deferral Plan 2019, 2020, 2021 {SDP1, SDP2, SDP3 and ExCo SDP 2021)

As continuance of the Long-Term incentive Plan, the SDP awards were implemented during the first half year of
2019. Awards were granted to eligible employees on 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020 and 1 April 2021. In 2021 the
members of the Executive Committee received two LTIP grants as they transitioned to a forward locking incentive
modelin line with the Management Board. They received a backward leoking grant in the SDP for their perfarmance
over 2020 and a PSP grant For 2021 in line with transitioning to a forward locking incentive model.

Performance shares are awarded on an annual basis and vest an each anniversary of the award date for 3 years. In
each year 1/3 of the total award will vest subject to the participant remaining in continued employment during the
vesting period. Participants are not entitled to receive dividends during the vesting period. As dividends are expected
during the vesting period, the fair value of the shares at award date is equal to the share price at award date less the
discounted value of expected dividends. The fair value of the SDP shares awarded in 2021 was EUR 13,56 per share.

Details of the number of SDP awards granted and outstanding (at target) are as follows:
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In number of shares 2021 2020
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 515,625 234,648
Awarded during the year 422,646 416,607
Forfeited during the year (117.851) {(62,177)
Vested during the year {183,658) {73,453)
Outstanding at the end of the year 636,762 515,625

d) Performance Share Plan 2019, 2020, 2021 (PSP, PSP2, PSP3 and ExCo PSP 2021)

The Management Board was granted awards under a new plan on 29 November 2019, called the Performance Share
Plan ('PSP'). On the same basis new awards were granted by the Supervisory Board on 1 April 2020 and on 1 April
2021 to the actual members of the Management Board at the time of the granting. The estimate regarding
performance criteria at year end 2021 is set at a level of 50% For PSP 1, 100% for PSP 2 and 100% for PSP 3 and ExCo
PSP 2021 to estimate the number of the awards at the moment of vesting.

The members of the Executive Committee received grants under the same plan and transitioned with this action to
the same remuneration policy For the long-term service plan. Except the holding period, the same criteria are
applicable to them as to the members of the Management Beard.

A PSP award consists of an award of conditional performance shares that become unconditional at the end of a
three-year performance period. It is subject to achieving predetermined targets based on Absolute Total Shareholder
Return (Absolute TSR) with 70% weighting, Underlying Revenue Growth with 30% weighting and to centinued
employment. The number of conditional performance shares that vest after three years may vary between 0% and
200% of the number of canditionally awarded shares. The shares will vest For 100% upon attainment of a
compounded annual growth rate for Absolute TSR between 7% and 11% over the three-year performance period.
The Supervisory Board adjusted the Threshold target and broadened the At target range for the 2020-2023 cycle,
based upon probability analysis of vesting, the Maximum target was unchanged from the 2019-2022 cycle. For the LTI
cycle 2021-2024 the following targets apply:

Absolute TSR {compounded anntual growth) Vesting
Below threshold < 2% 0%
Threshold 2% 50%
Attarget 7%-11% 100%
Maximum >= 16% 200%

The vesting percentage is allocated linearly between the threshold, at target and maximum levels, based on the
principles set out in the Remuneration Policy and will be a number between 0% and 150% {CFO) and 200% (CEO) of
the number of performance shares awarded, as set cut above. The estimate regarding performance criteria at year
end 2021 is set at a level of 50% for PSP 1, 100% for PSP 2 and 100% for PSP 3 including ExCo PSP 2021 to estimate
the number of the awards at the moment of vesting.

Shares acquired at the end of the performance period by members of the Management Board are required to be
held For a further period of two years in accordance with the best-practice provisions of the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code, excapt for the LTIP and SDP shares that can be sold to cover income taxes due. LTIP and PSP
awards to members of the Management Board are made at the discretion of the Supervisory Board in accordance
with the Remuneration Policy.
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Details of the number of PSP awards granted and outstanding (at target) are as follows:

in number of shares 2021 2920
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 110,822 74,604
Awarded during the year 153,148 75,723
Forfeited during the year (7,967) (39,505)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 256,003 110,822

CEQ, Shankar Iyer, was awarded 42,492 shares for the year 2021, based upon an award price of EUR 14.12. CFO,
Rogler van Wijk, was awarded 18,590 shares for the year 2021 an the same award price basis. Both Management
Board members are entitled to dividends on the basis of their PSP awards during the vesting period, which was taken
into account in the valuation.

The Management Board's awards outstanding and movements during the financial year are disclosed in Note 33.2.

e} Viteos Rollover Share Plan (VRS)

At the time of the Viteos acquisition in 2019, management of Viteos received shares of the Company which are
restricted to hold For three years after the acquisition, each year 1/3 of that will be released from restrictions. As the
shares require continued employment of the participants, the shares are accounted as share based payments in line
with IFRS2. Fair value of these shares is EUR 17.41, Participants are entitled to dividends during the vesting period
which was taken into account in the valuation.

Details of the number of VRS shares given and outstanding are as follows:

In number of shares 2021 2020

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 374,110 561,150
Awarded during the year - -
Forfeited during the year - -
Vested during the year (191,383) (187,040)
Cutstanding at the end of the year 182,727 374,110

Potential impact from public offer on Share based payment

In the event that CSC or a Dutch company controiled by it makes a recommended all-cash public offer for all issued
and outstanding shares in the capital of Intertrust and declares this offer unconditional, an accelerated vesting is
triggered.

All performance incentive shares that are unvested on settlement date, will vest upan settlement at the maximum
pay-out, and lead to a cash amount equal to the consideration per tendered share payable to the participants, subject
to employment.

All shares, that have no perfarmance criteria, and are unvested on settlement date, will vest upon settlement at
100% pay-out, and lead to a cash amount equal to the consideration per tendered share payable to the participants,
subject to employment. The shares of the participants under the VRS will be released from lock-up arrangements at
settlement date.

From its cash available resources and debt financing, CSC will be able to fund the acquisition of the shares under the
offer as announced in the press release of § December 2021.
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8.2 Fxpenses recognised during the pericd

QOther infarmation

The equity-settled share-based payment expenses recognised during the period, per plan and in total are as follows:

(EUR 000) 2021 2020
Long Term Incentive {excluding integration cost) {3,666) (4,943)
Long Term Incentive - integration cost (2,104) (4,291)
Total {5,770} {9,234)

The Group did not recognise expenses for employer social security contributions payable as changed its accounting
policy to account for the liabilily gl Lhe time of vesting. The impact of the accounting policy change is not material to
the group. All accrued remaining socizl securities after 1 April 2021 vesting date were reversed and accounted for in

the Statement of profit or loss.

s. Other operating expenses

(EUR 000) 2021 2020

IT expenses {33,244) (33,523)
Professional fees {15,224) (13,018)
Erlfvgisriaot;o;\xa‘;r;ist;asnsformation costs including restructuring (6,466) (6,441)
Transaction costs (4,707) (2,022)
Recruitment costs (4,205) (3,287)
Provisions expenses excluding restructuring provision expenses (4,170) (1,977
Marketing and sales expenses (3.666) (3.534)
Insurance (2,705) (2,122)
Travelling (1,164) (2,090)
Other expenses (10,698) (8,971)7
Other operating expenses {86,249) {76,983)

T Impairment losses an Financial assest included here in 2024 is separately disclosed in Note 12

QOther operating expenses increased by EUR 9.2 million year-on-year, mainly due te higher provisions, professional
fees and transaction costs. Provisions alsa include costs associated with the CIMA case and legal and compliance
cases from other jurisdictions. The increase of professional fees is mainly attributable to the increased remediation
effortin Cayman. Transaction cost include costs associated with the preparations for the CSC offer,
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10 Earnings per share

2021 2020
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (euro) 0.72 0.23
Diluted earnings per share (euro) 0.71 0.23

10.1. Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the Following profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding.

(EUR 000} 2021 2620

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
Profit for the periad, attributable to the owners of the Company 65,273 20,805

Profit/{loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 65,273 20,805
in number of shares

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares {basic)

Qutstanding ordinary shares at 1 January 90,198,016 90,055,506
Effect of distribution of treasury shares faor vested shares and share 155,394 107,077
buyback

(V;:;?ch)ted-average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 90,353,410 90,162,583

10.2. Diiuted carnings per share

The caleulation of diluted earnings per share has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders and weighted-average number of ordinary shares cutstanding after adjustment for the effects of all
dilutive patential ordinary shares.

{EUR 00Q) 2021 2020

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
Profit For the period, attributable to Ordinary shareholders 65,273 20,805

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 65,273 20,805
In number of shares

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares {diluted)

weighted-average number of ordinary shares {basic) 990,353,410 90,162,583
Effect of share-based payment on issue 1,095,584 1,027,448
\(J:ielll:_;tl;;e)d-average number of ardinary shares at 31 December 91,448,994 91,150,031

10.3. Adjusted net income per share

The Group calculates the Adjusted net income for 2021 to be EUR 117.7 million (2020: EUR 132.1 million). Adjusted
net income is defined as Adjusted EBITA (2021: EUR 165.8 million, 2020: EUR 185.1 million), less adjusted net interest
costs of EUR 35.2 million (2020: EUR 38.7 million), less adjusted tax costs of EUR 16.8 million (2020: EUR 14.3 million),

Based on this Adjusted net income and taking the weighted-average number of basic shares for the year of
90,353,410 (2020: 90,162,583), the adjusted net income per share is EUR 1.30 {2020: EUR 1.47).
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SECTION 3

Working capital

The notes in this section specify items that form part of Group's working capital.

alln| Performance

N
Working Capital Capital employed
as % of revenue in EUR million

7.1% 1,839

Other infoermation
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17. WOrk In progress
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Other information

Work in pragress represents the net unbilled amaount expected to be collected from clients for work performed ta date. It is measured at
the chargeable rate agreed with the individual clients less progress billed.

12. 'Trade receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at Eransaction price, and subsequently measured at amortised cost (if the time vaiue is material),
using the effective interest methad, less provision for impairment. For trade receivables and contract gssets, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating Expected Credit Loss (ECLs). Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each regorting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its histerical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic enviromment. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the amount caleutated by the expected credit loss model. The model
calculates the default loss percentage adjusted for forward tooking information. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recagnised in the income statement within ‘Other operating expenses”. When a
trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables, Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against “Other operating expenses” in the income statement.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables net of the allowances is as follows:

{EUR 000) 31.12.2021
Gross receivables Allowance for Frade Net receivables

receivables
Not yet due 50,001 (3886) 49,615
Past due 1-90 days 37,714 (704) 37,010
Past due 91-180 days 10,508 (7086) 9,802
Past due 181-350 days 13,566 (2,223) 11,343
Past due more than 360 days 8,549 (4,456} 4,093
Total 120,338 (8,475) 111,863
31.12.2020
Grass receivables Allowance far trade Net recensables

receivables
Not yet due 44,351 {326) 44,025
Past due 1-90 days 29,666 (568) 29,098
Past due 971-180 days 10,225 (671) 9,554
Past due 181-360 days 10,747 (2,040) 8,707
Past due more than 360 days 6,854 (4,065) 2,829
Total 101,883 {7,670) 94,213
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The movements in the allowances in respect of trade receivables during the period were as follows:

Other infarmation

{EUR 000)

Balance at 01 January 2020 {7,656)
Losses recognised in P&L (5,592)
Amounts written off during the year 1,477

Unused amounts reversed 3,778

Effect of movements in exchange rates 323

Balance at 31 December 2020 (7,670)
Balance at 01 January 2021 (7,670)
Losses recognised in P&L (3,718)
Amounts written off during the year 1,260

Unused amounts reversed 2,021

Effect of movements in exchange rates (368)
Balance at 37 December 2021 (8.475)

The impairment losses and unused amounts reversed during the period are recognised as per below. The write-back
of specific allowances included belew, mostly occur as those accounts are written off afterwards, For credit risk refer

to Note 23.1.

{EUR 000) 2021 2020
Impairment losses on financial assets (3,681) {3,839}
impairment losses on Financial assets {3,681) {3,839)
Trade accounts receivable include amounts denominated in the Following major currencies;

{EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
EUR 51,473 41,584
usD 40,225 35175
Gap 12,756 10,927
Cther 7,409 6,127
Total 111,863 94,213

12. Deferred income

Deferred income represents fixed fees invoiced to customers mainly in November-December for the next year(s).
This early invoicing drives higher trade receivables and deferred income at the end of the period, with the deferred
income released in the Following year. In some cases the Fees are invoiced in advance fer the complete life of the
structures resulting in non-current deferred income. The expected reversal of the balance of deferred income is

shown in the following table:
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{EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
To be released within one year 49,764 66,028
To be released between one and five years 4,008 3,058
To be released later than five years 158 1,151
Total 53,930 70,237
Balance at 31 December

Total current 49,764 66,028
Total non-current 4,166 4,209

14. Other receivables and other payables

14.1. Other recelvables

{EUR 000) 31.12.2021% 31.12.2020
Accrued income 29,281 19,395
Due from customers 6,877 5,052
VAT and other tax receivables 4,931 4,461
Qthers 2,369 1,874
Other receivables 43,458 30,782

Accrued income is primarily driven by chargeable hours for time spent.

Due from customers relates to receivables from clients For disbursements and expenses where payments were made
on behalf of the customers.

There is no material credit risk nor impairment in the Other receivables.

14.2. Other pavyables

(EUR 000) Note 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Accrued expenses for short term employee benefits 34,143 32,252
Accrued expenses 18,048 19,624
Due Lo custormers 12,816 4,625
VAT and other tax payables 10,310 12,060
Liabilities for cash held on behalf of clients 19 8,122 30,125
Cthers 769 758
Other payables 84,208 99,444

Accrued expenses for short-term employee benefits includes mainly bonus accruals, social charges and holiday
allowances.

Liabilities For cash held on behalf of clients relates to advances from clients for future fees, unapplied cash received
from clients and disbursements invoiced in advance.
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SECTION 4

Investments

The notes in this section specify the group's non-current assets including investments made during the year either
through separate asset acquisitions or business combinations and related impact on the Consolidated statement of
proft or loss.

DJ]_[[ Performance

AN

Capital expenditure IFRS16 impact
{Capex) on total assets
in EUR million excluding in EUR million as at
Right-of-use Assets {(RoA) 31 December 2021

17.2 104.5

Acquisition related
intangibles

in EUR million

1,609
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15. Acquisition of subsidiaries

Business combinatllons

Business combinations are accotnted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net
assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase s recognised in profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships, Such amaounts are
generally recognised in profit or loss. Any contingent cansideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the
contingent consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes are recognised in the profit or loss.

Fair value measurement al acquisition

Cost fechnique js a valuation model which considers market prices for similar items when they are available, and depreciated replacement
costs when appropriate. Depreciated replacement costs reflects adjustments for physical deterforation as well as functional and economic
obsolescence.

Relief-from-rovalty method considers the discounted estimated royalty payments thaot are expected to be voided as a resull of the
software being owned.

Multi-period excess earning method considers the present vatue of net cash flows expected to be generated by the customer relationships,
by excluding any cash flows related to contributory assets.

Income method determines the fair value based on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and sate, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and setf services.

Equity accounied subsidiary
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controfled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its fnvolvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which cantrol commences untit the date on which
controf reases.

Loss of control

When the Group loses controf over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and tiabilities of the subsidiary, and any related non-controlling
interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

15.1. Expanding intertrust’s global footprint

2021
In 2021 the Group had no acquisitions that qualified as business combinations under IFRS3.

2020

Round Hil{ Capital
On 21 January 2020, the Group acquired Round Hill Capital's legal and corporate administration services business.

Van Doorn AG
On 1 September 2020, the Group acquired the client portfolio of Van Doorn AG, a Swiss corpeorate management and
private wealth services company based in Zug.

Sameer Mittal & Associates LLP
On 1 October 2020, the Group acquired the corporate services business of Sameer Mittal & Associates a leading
provider based in India.
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All acquisitions incurred in 2020 have no material impact individually or cumulative on the Company’s financial
positions or results and accounting of these transactions are in accordance with IFRS3. All together the acquisitions
resulted in an addition of acquisition related intangibles and goodwill amounting to EUR 6.8 million, EUR 2.8 million
cash outflow, EUR 3.7 million estimated accrual for future payments and EUR 0.3 million classified under other type
of assets and liabilities. In accordance with IFRS3 no further information is disclosed.

16. Property, plant and equipment

items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and all costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to working condition for its intended use. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment and borrowing
cost, if the recagnition criteria are met, When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individua! assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. All other repair and
maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Regarding right-cf-use assets, at inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration, in which case it is classified as a lease. The Group recognises a right-cf-use asset
and a lease liability af the lease commencement date. These assets are mostly relating to real estate and fleet.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

« the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

« any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

« any inftial direct costs, and

= estimated restoration costs,

The cost of lease liabilities is determined with reference to the median credit rating of the peers of Intertrust N.V. adjusted by a one riotch
up, given that leases are backed by collateral and therefore should reflect an estimated credit rating on secured debt, in line with the
methodology used to colculate the incremental Borrowing Rate (IBR) applicable for the Group's leases.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-tine method from the commencement date fo the end of the useful
life of the right-af-use asset, considered to be indicated by the strategic lease term assessed by management. The right-of-use asset is
periodicatly adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability and impairment losses (if any).

A sublease is @ transaction for which an underlying asset is re-leased by Intertrust (‘intermediate lessor’) to its customers, and the lease
(*head lease’) between the head lessor and Intertrust remains in effect. An intermediate lessor shall classify the sublease as a finance lease
or an operating lease as follows:

(a) if the head lease is a short-term lease that the entity, as a lessee, has accounted for using the practical expedient, the sublease is
classified as an operating lease.

{b) otherwise, the sublease is classified by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to the
underlying asset.

Depreciation for any other property, plant and equipment is calculated to wiite off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 to 15 years — not exceeding the remaining lease terms;

Eguipment & motor vehicles 3 to 10 years;

IT equipment 3 to 5 years.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised, is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or dispasal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (colculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset} is included in the profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial period end, and adjusted prospectively,
if appropriate.
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The movements of all tangible assets are as follows:
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Other information

{EUR 000} Leasehold Eguipment& IT equipment  Right-of-use Total

improvements motor assets

vehicles

Cost 16,078 6,346 17,620 108,498 148,542
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (8,430) (4,218) {11,249) (16,874) {40,829)
Balance at 1 January 2020 7,588 2,130 6,371 91,624 107,713
Business combinations, incoming entities - 5 1 - 6
Additions 5,801 440 1,640 8,251 16,132
Disposals (11} 21} (69) (2,447) (2,548)
Depreciation of the periad (2,549) (597) (2,547 (19,235) (24,928)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (257) (60) (302) (3,660) (4,279)
Movementks in 2020 2,984 (233) (1,277) (17,091) (15,617)
Cost 21,055 6,621 20,792 108,781 157,249
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (10,483) (4,724) (15,658) (34,248) {65,153)
Balance at 31 December 2020 16,572 1,897 5,094 74,533 92,096
Balance at 1 January 2021 10,572 1,897 5,094 74,533 92,096
Business combinations, incoming entities - - - - -
Additions 4,269 2,118 1,273 31,238 38,898
Disposals 170 (50) (5) (2,126) {2,011)
Depreciation of the period (2,773) (583) (2,230) (17,182) (22,768}
Effect of movemnents in exchange rates 228 85 172 3619 4104
Mavements in 2021 1,894 1,570 {790) 15,549 18,223
Cost 23,510 7,387 22,754 135,329 188,980
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses {11,044) (3,920 (18,450) (45,247) {78,661)
Balance at 31 December 2021 12,466 3,467 4,304 90,082 110,319
No interest costs have been capitalised in property, plant and equipment during 2021 and 2020.
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are as follows:
(EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Buildings right-of-use asset
Cost 132,118 105,989
Accumulated depreciation {44,201) {33,282)
Carrying amount at 31 December 87,915 72,707
(EUR 000) 3.12.2021 31.12.2020
Fleet right-of-use asset
Cost 1,818 1,853
Accumuliated depreciation {570) (772
Carrying amount at 31 December 1,248 1,081
{EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Other right-of-use asset
Cost 1,398 939
Accumulated depreciaticn {477) (193)
Carrying amount at 31 December 9 745
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17. Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill
Goodwill that arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented with intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill at initial
recognition, see Note 15,

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted investees, the
carrying amount of goadwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and any impairment loss is allocated to the carrying
amount of the equity-accounted investee as a whole.

Intangible assets acquired separately
intangible assets that are acquired separately by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumutated
amortisation and gccumulated impairment losses. The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Amertisation Is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the date that they are available
for use. The amortisation expense is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the "Amortisation of acguisition-related
intangible assets” caption. The estimated usefid tives are as follows:

* Other Intangible assets 1 to 5 years;

» Acguisition related software 5 years;

« Brand name 20 years;

« Customer relationships 3 to17 years.

Amortisation methods, estimated useful (ives and residual value, are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis,

Intangible agsers acquired in a business cambination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date fwhich is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured at cost less accumulated
amaortisation and accumulated impairment iosses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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The moverments of the intangible assets and goodwill are as follows:

Other infarmatioen

{EUR 000) Goodwill Brand name Customer Acquisition Other Tatal

relationships related intangible

software assets

Cost 1,195,235 33,949 727,351 14,689 52,023 2,023,247
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses - (11,459) {229,180) {1,574) (34,469) (276,682)
Balance at 1 January 2020 1,195,235 22,490 498,171 13,115 17,554 1,746,565
Business combinations, B
incoming entities 4854 ) 1994 . 6.848
Additions - - - - 10,547 10,547
Amortisation of the pericd - {1,682) (44,634) {2,889) (5,658) {54,863)
Impairment losses {24,000} - - - - {24,000}
Disposal - - - - (i32) (132}
Effect of movementsin
exchange rates (50,290} (880) (18,930) (908) {(140) (70,948)
Movements in 2020 {69,436) {2,362) {61,570) (3,797) 4,617 {132,548)
Cost 1,149,554 32,867 702,247 13,448 62,008 1,960,124
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses {23,755) (12,739) (265.646) (4,130 (39,837} (346,107}
Balance at 31 December 2020 1,125,799 20,128 436,601 9218 22,171 1,614,017
Business combinations, ) B ) . } R
inceming entities
Additions - - - - 9,556 9,556
Amortisation of the period - (1,6639) (44,731} {2,730 (6,374} {55,564}
Impairment losses - - - - - -
Dispasal B - - - - -
Effect of movements in
exchange rates 47,856 616 17,558 653 196 66,879
Movements in 2021 47,856 {1,053) (27,113) (2,137) 3,378 20,871
Cost 1,195,043 33,915 729,243 14,570 70,692 2,047,463
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (25,388} {14,840) (319,813) (7.390) (45,143) {412,574)
Balance at 31 December 2021 1,173,655 19,075 409,430 7,180 25,549 1,634,889

During the year, the Group invested in other intangible assets for an amount of EUR 9,556 thousand (2020:

EUR 10,547 thousand).

At 31 December 2021 an amount of EUR nil (2020: EUR 281 thousand) remains payable on the balance sheet.

The brand name and logo “Intertrust” is a registered trade narme (or in the process of registration) for all countries in
which the Company has operational activities or may expand in the near future. The remaining useful life on average
is 11 years as at 31 December 2021.
The customer relationship is the Company's client portfolio acquired and has an average remaining useful life of 9
years as at 31 December 2021.
The acquisition related software is the Company's software acquired during the Viteos acquisition and a remaining
useful life of 2.5 years as at 31 December 2021.
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174, Impairmens testing for cash-generating units centaining goodwill

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than work in progress, current and deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
(CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount,

The recoveruble uniount of an asset or COU is the greater of its fair value less cost of disposal or value in use. in assessing vatue in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assef or CGU.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGlUs. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,

Impairment losses are recagnised in profif or loss. impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUS), and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assels in the
CGU {group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined. net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group's operating divisicns. That is not the same
as our reportable segments disclosed under Note 6. In sarne cases the Group identified its cash-generating units for
goodwill at one level below that of a reportable operating segment. Cash flows at this tevel are substantially
independent from the other cash flows and this is the lowest level at which goodwill is menitored by the Executive
Commitee.

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allecated to each CGU are as follows:

(EUR 000) Balance at Business Movements Impairment Balance at
01 January combinations exchange 31 December
2021 rates 2021
CGU Netherlands 304,756 - 2,854 - 307,610
CGU Luxermboury 166,591 - 2,185 - 168,776
CGU'Amerlcas excluding US Fund 229807 ) 19.165 ) 248,972
Services
CGU Jersey 169,116 - 12,098 - 181,214
CGU US Fund Services 82,849 - 6,913 - 89,762
CGU Rest of the World excluding Jersey 172,680 - 4,641 - 177,321
Total 1,125,799 - 47,856 - 1,173,655
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{EUR 000) Balance at Business Movements Impairment Balance at
01 january combinations exchange 31 December

2629 rates 2029

CGU Netherlands 307,914 - (3,158) - 304,756
CGU Luxembourg 165,813 3195 {2,417) - 166,591
gGU‘Amerlcas excluding US Fund 251,009 ) (21,202) } 229 807

ervices

CGU Jersey 204,453 - {11,337} {24,000 169,116
CGU US Fund Services 90,497 - (7,648) - 82,849
CGU Rest of the World excluding Jersey 175,549 1,659 {4,528) - 172,680
Total 1,195,235 4,854 (50,290) {24,000) 1,125,799

The recoverable amount of gcodwill has been determined for the six cash generating units as at 31 December 2021
and at 31 December 2020. For each of the CGUs, the recaverable amaount is individually at least equal and higher than
its carrying amount.

CGUs Netherlands has a recoverable value that approximates the carrying value leaving EUR 7 million headroom.
CGU Netherlands recoverable value decreased in 2021 due to revised business outlook and increase in WACC.
CGU Jersey has slightly increased its headrcom after we have recegnized an impairment in 2020 due to improved
business performance. CGU Jersey recognized an impairment loss of EUR 24.0 million as at 30 June 2020, reducing
the carrying amount of the goodwill to EUR 169.1 million as at 31 December 2020. The main indicator for this
impairment loss in CGU Jersey was the decrease of revenue in the Private Wealth and Corporate Services service
lines.

Key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projection calculations

The year 1 cash Flow projections are based on detailed financial budget, the years 2 and 3 on detailed outlook and
the years 4 and 5 on estimates, prepared by management for each cash generating unit based on expectation of
future outcomes taking into account past experience. The revenue growth rate assumed beyond the initial 5-year
period is between 0.0% - 2.2% (2020: 0.0% - 1.6%), that has been based on the expected lang term inflation rate. The
pre-tax discount rate applied is detailed further below.

The values assigned to the key assumptions used in the calculations are as follows for the years 4 to 5:
- Market growth: between 1.0% to 7.4%;
- Annual Margin Evolution: Improvement 2.1% - 8.1%.

Other key assumptions used in the calculations are:

- CGU Netherlands: terminal growth rate 0.0% and discount rate 8.7% (year end 2020: 0.0% and 8.5% respectively);

-~ CGU Luxembourg: terminal growth rate 0.0% and discount rate 8.7% (year end 2020: 0.0% and 8.5% respectively);

- CGU Americas excluding US Fund Services: terminal growth rate 2.1% and discount rate 9.9% (year end 2020: 1.6%
and 9.7% respectively);

- CGU US Fund Services: terminal growth rate 2.2% and discount rate 12.9% (year 2020: 1.6% and 12.0%
respectively);

- CGU Rest of World excluding Jersey: terminal growth rate 0.0% and discount rate 9.0% (year end 2020: 0.0% and
8.8% respectively);

- CGU Jersey: terminal growth rate 1.2% and discount rate 8.7% (year end 2020: 0.7% and 8.5% respectively).

The changes in discount rates and terminal value growth rates are mainly driven by external economi¢ factors,
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Discount rate

Discount rates represent a pre-tax measure that reflect management’s estimate of the time value of money and the
risks specific to each unit that are not already reflected in the cash flows. In determining appropriate discount rates
for each unit, regard has been given to the industry average Weighted Average Cost of Capitat (WACC). The WACC
takes into account both debt, lease and equity since the implementaticn of IFRS16 From 1 January 2019. The cost of
equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Group's investors. The cost of debt is determined by
adding a debt risk premium to the risk-free bond rate with a maturity of 20 years. CCGU-specific risk is incorporated by
applying industry beta factors that are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.

Key assumptions used in determination of fair value less cost of disposal (FV)

On 6 December 2021 CSC and Intertrust have reached conditional agreement on a recommended ail-cash public
offer for all issued and outstanding shares in the capital of Intertrust at an offer price of EUR 20.00 {cum dividend)
per Share, with anticipated settlement in 12 months and without significant cost for The Group. This offer is
considered te represent the FV exceeding the carrying value. The FV has been allocated to the CGUs using forecasted
long term and terminal EBITA contribution of each CGU in line with discounted cash flow projections as discussed
above.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amcunt
is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the CGUs.

For CGU Netherlands the headroem is EUR 7 million. Given the limited headroom an increase in WACC of 12 bps
reduces the recoverable amount to the carrying value. Since terminal growth rate for CGU NL is set at nil a generic
market decline may trigger an impairment. A change of 10 bps in terminal growth corresponds to EUR 5 million value
change.

For CGU Jersey the headroom is EUR 51 million. An increase of WACC for 97 bps reduces the recoverable amount to
the carrying value. A decrease of terminal growth for 150 bps reduces the recoverable amount to the carrying value.
A change in terminal growth of 10 bps corresponds to EUR 4 million value change.

1. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of goodwill

{EUR 000) MNote 2021 2020
Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets 17 (49,189) {49,205)
Impairment of goodwill 17.1 - {24,000)
Amartisatian of other intangible assets 17 (6,374) (5,658)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16 (22,768) (24,928)
Depreciation, amortisaticn and impairment of goodwill (78,331) {103,791)
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SECTION 5

Financing, financial risk management and
financial instruments

This section includes notes related to financing items such as equity and berrowings as well as financial risk
management and financial instruments. Related items such as earnings per share calculation as well as financial
income and expenses, are included in this section.

ﬂﬂ[] Performance

W4

Net debt Leverage ratio
in EUR million

774.5 3.75X
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19. Cash and cash equivalents

Casti and cash equivalents comprise cash balances in bank accounts, cash on hand and cash in short-term deposits with maturities of
three months or less.

(EUR 000} 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Bank balances 134,329 138,685
Short term deposits 1,684 2,618
Cash on hand 9 8
Total 136,022 141,311
OF which:

Cash attributable to the Cempany 127,900 111,186
Cash held on behalf of clients 8,122 30,125
Total 136,022 141,311

Bank balances includes cash in current and call accounts and exclude a cash pool batance of (EUR 17,446 thousand)
classified under Loans and borrowings. See Noke 20. The net of cash attributable to the Company and the cash pool
bzlance amounted to EUR 110,454 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (EUR 104,855 thousand as at 31 December
2020).

Cash held on behalf of clients with tntertrust's own bank accounts is driven by funds to pay government fees on their
behalf, intellectual property activity and other advances. Intertrust is exposed to the credit risk associated with the
cash and is entitled to all income accruing. Hence, Intertrus recognise the cash as an asset and a corresponding
liability in “Other payables —liabilities For cash held on behalf of clients”.

0. Loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group's exposure to interest rate, Foreign
currency and liquidity risk refer to Note 23.3.

Far more informaticn about the embedded derivative, the early-repayment option relating to our senior notes,
please refer to Note 21.1,

The Group has Fully refinanced its debt under the 2015 and 2016 Senior Facilities Agreement in November 2018 by
the issuance of EUR 500 million senior notes {maturing in November 2025), a USD 200 million term loan, a GBP
100 million term loan and a EUR 150 million undrawn Revolving Credit Facility (all maturing in Nevember 2023).

In 2019 due to the acquisitions, the Greup entered into an agreement of USD 150 million term loan (maturing in June
2022).

In 2020 the Revolving Credit Facility was Fully repaid. As per 31 December 2021, an amount of EUR 3 million was used
fFor the issuance of bank guarantees.

In 2021 the Group has amended the Senior Facilities Agreement.in order to replace the reference to GBP Libor by
Sonia, with effective date 30 September 2021. The Greup has also included the mechanics to switch the USD Liber to
a new reference rate, which will become effective at a later point in time. The impact of the replacement is not
deemed material.

The financing arrangements are on an unsecured basis.

Under the Facilities agreement there is a requirement tc ensure that the leverage ratio in respect of any relevant
period on or after 31 December 2018 shall not exceed 4.50x.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 the covenant was met with a headroom of 16.7% (Ratio: 3.75x) (2020: 23.4%,
ratio: 3.83x).

The 2018 Senior Facilities Agreement is quaranteed by the Company, Intertrust Group BV, Intertrust (Netherlands)
BV, Intertrust Administrative Services BV, Intertrust Management BV, Intertrust Corporate Services (Cayman)
Limited, Intertrust SPV (Cayman) Limited, Intertrust Fiduciary Services (Jersey} Limited, Intertrust International
Management Limited and Intertrust Corporate and Fund Services LLC.

The 2018 Senior Facilities Agreement includes certain restrictions on, among other things, our ability to pay dividends
and make other restricted payments (such as payments in relation to share buybacks). The table below indicates the
restrictions to dividends and share buybacks:

Pro forma leverage Maximum annual dividend / share buyback
> 4.50% 5.00% of Market Capitalisation

3.50x - 4.50% 7.50% of Market Capitalisation

< 3.50% Unrestricted

20.1. Terms and debt movement schedule
Termms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

{EUR 000)
Debt arrangement Currency  Yeor fretial interest rate Repayment 311220271 31.12.2020
of

maturity
Principal value
Senior Notes EUR 2025 3.375% Bullet 500,000 500,000
Facitity A1 ush 2023 Libor + 2.25% a)  Bullet 176,584 162,986
Facility A2 GBP 2023 Sonia+2.25% a) Bullet 119,008 111,231
Facility A3 ust 2022 Libor + 1,9% a) Bullet 88,292 122,239

Libor + 1.85% +

Revolving credit facility  Multicurrency 2023 Utitisation Fee a)Revelving - -

Negative balances in .

Cashpool Multicurrency 17,446 6,331
901,330 902,787

Financing costs (3.712) {6,346}

Early redemption valuation

adjustment 1,082 1,082

Total debt 898,700 897,523

Total current 108,058 8,847

Total non-current 790,642 888,676

(3) If the Sonia/Libor rates are below 0%, the rate is 0%. The margin can change depending on leverage ratio.
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The schedule below shows the mavements of the loans and borrewings during the period:

Other information

(EUR 000}

Balance at 01 Jonuary 2020 Principal value 1,025,012
Draw down facilities 10,000
Repayments (99,923)
Effect of exchange rate (32,302)
Balance at 31 December 2020 Principal value 902,787
Balance at 01 January 2020 Financing costs {9,057)
Capitalised financing costs 109
Amortised financing costs 2,855
Effect of exchange rate {1)
commian oes =2
Balance at 31 December 2020 Financing costs (6,346)
Balance at 01 January 2020 Early redemption valuation adjustment 1,082
Valuation adjustment 2 )
Balance at 31 December 2020 Early redemption valuation adjustment 1,082
Balance at 31 December 2020 Net 897,523
Balance at 01 January 2021 Principal value 902,787
Draw down facilities 12,023
Repayments (41,910)
Effect of exchange rate 28,430
Balance at 31 December 2021 Principal value 901,330
Balance at 01 January 2021 Financing costs {6,346)
Capitalised financing costs -
Amortised financing costs 2,830
Effect of exchange rate -
commiment faea e
Balance at 31 December 2021 Financing costs (3,712)
Balance at 01 January 2021 Early redemption valuation adjustment 1,082
Valuation adjustment -
Balance at 31 December 2021 Early redemption valuation adjustment 1,082
Balance at 31 December 2021 Net 898,700

7 This repayment is included in the "Repayment of laans and borrowings banks" line in the Consolidated statement of cash Alows.

2 The early redemption option was at initial recognition recognised an fair value At inception, the adjustment was made and parallel the Group recognised a
finandial other asset {option} which was subsequently valued at FVTPL.
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21 Other financial assets and other financial liabilities

Financial instruments
Classification and measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, FVOC! - debt instrument, FVOU - equity instrument or
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing finoncial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the
first reporting period fotlowing the change in the business madel.

MNon-derivative financiat assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including
assets designated at fair value Ehrough profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

The Group derecognises a financiol assetr when the controctual rights fo the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial asset that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or
liability.

Financial assets and financial tiabitities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets at amortised cost

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include trade receivables, other receivables, other current finacial assets and cash and cash
equivalents. Such assets are recagnised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. These assels are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by expected credit losses using both
specific estimations and generic models that include forward information. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss if any. Any gain or loss on derecognition Is recognised in profit or loss.

FVPL financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The Group's FVPL include early redemption option which is categorised under other
financial assets.

FVOCI financial assets

FVOCH financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are hetd to collect and sell, or are not classified in any of the above
categories of financial assets. FVOCI financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
These dssets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCt and ore never reclassified to
profit or tass if equity instruments or reclassed to profit or loss in case of debt instruments.

When investments in equity instruments do not have a quoted market price in an active market and its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, they are measured at cost.

VYO financial assets comprise equity shares.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FYTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPLIf it is classified as
held-for-trading, it is @ derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial tiakilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value
and ner gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

ERE I 130 LR



«Contents

Consolidated Financiai Statements Notesto the consolidated Company Financial Statements Other information
financial statements
Frog-ng S -ansda re e el ang

frazmaa irerements

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group also
derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in
which case a new financial liability based on the medified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the ofher financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent ko initial recognition, these financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, Gther financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and
other payables,

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initiatly recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All ather financial
tiabilities (including liabilities designated at fair vaiue through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date
that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Derivative Financial instruments {assets and liabilities), including hedge accounting and early redemption opticn
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk exposures. Other than the hedges, when the Group issued
senior notes with an early redemption option, the initial value of the option is accounted for and a new derivative financial asset is
recognised at fair value. The asset is defined as embedded derivative of the senior notes.

Subsequently the financial liability is amortised through profit and loss as a financial cost adjustment, The financial asset is measured
subsequently as FVTPL.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as they are
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and the accounting for the changes therein depend on
whether the derivative s designated as a hedging instrument or not.

The Group applies the following with regard fo the embedded derivatives in the hybrid contract (e.g. early redemption option relating to
the senior notes). Embedded derivatives are separated fram the host contract and accounted for separately if the hast contract is not a
financial asset and the following criteria are met:

« the economic characteristics and risk of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the
host contrack;

+a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivate; and

« the hybrid contract is not measured at fair vaiue with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

if an embedded derivative is separated from the hybrid contract, the host contract is accounted for in accordance with the determined
policies for such a contract. The embedded derivative is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s principles for the applicable
derivatives.

Cash flow hedges
When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of changes in fair value of the derivative is

recognised in ether comprehensive income and accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of
the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The amount accumulated in equity is retained in other comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or
periods during which the hedged item affects profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation
is revoked. then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the
amount accumutated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Other non-trading derivatives
When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting, all changes in its fair

value are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The lease liabilities are financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. They are initially measured at the present vailue of outstanding
lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Cenerally, the group uses its incremental borrowing rate ("1BR") as the discount rate. The lease tiability is
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measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and is remeasured when there is a change in fulure lease payments arising
from a change ip an index or rate or if the group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. A corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset with any excess ever the carrying amount of
the asset being recognised in profit or loss. The group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease fiabilities for short-term
leases fleases with g term of 12 months or less} and leases of low-uglue assets (EUR 5 000), including IT equipment. The group recognises
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on d straight-line basis over the lease term.

Assels and linbilities arising from a lease are initially measured on @ present value basis, Leqse liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

= fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

= variable lease payments that are based on an index or g rate;

= the exercise price of @ purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

= payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets nol classified at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity-accounted investee, are assessed at
each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is impaired ff there is objective
evidence of impdirment ds a result of oné or mare events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that loss evend(s} had
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinguency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the
Group on terms that the Group waould not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in
the payment status of borrowers of issuers, economic canditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for
a security. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value befow its cost is objective
ewidence of impairment.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group considers avidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost floans and receivables) at bath a specific
asset and collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that fias been incurred buf nof yet identified.

Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together assets with similar risk
characteristics.

in assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount
of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as fo whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual
losses are likely Lo be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairrent loss in respect of a financicl asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying omount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in
profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be
recognised. When an event accurring after the impairment was recognised cawses the amount of impairment loss.

FvOCl financial assets

impairment losses af FVOC! financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to
profit or loss. The cumutative loss that is rectassified from equity to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, pet of any
principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment toss recognised previously in profit or loss. Changes
in cumudative impairment losses attributable to application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest
income,

if in @ subsequent perfod, the fair value of an impaired FVOC debdt security increases and the increase can be related alijectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment toss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal
recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired FVOC! equity security is recognised to
decrease, the decrease in impairment {oss Is reversed ehrough profit or (oss.
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21.1. Other financial assets

{EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Financial instruments at FVTPL

Early redemption aption 30,163 10,384
Total Financial instruments at FVTPL 30,163 10,384
Financial instruments at FVOCI

Unquoted equity shares 590 324
lorwards ! 147 128
Total financial instruments at FVOCI 737 452
Financial assets at amortised cost

Lease assets 14,944 14,775
Loans and receivables 275 157
Bank guarantees 661 736
Guarantee deposits 6,287 5,028
Tetal Financial assets at amortised cost 22,167 20,696
Total other financial assets 53,067 31,532
Total current 2,385 1,704
Total non-current 50,682 29,828

7 Relates to the derivatives designated as a cash flow hedging instrument. See Noke 23.2

Cash flow hedges

The Group entered into currency forward contracts in USD. The forwards are fair valued through other
comprehensive income. The portion of the movement in valuation due to hedge ineffectiveness, and gains and losses
upon cash settlement are recognised in the profit and loss statement in the financial statement line item to which
the Forward relates. Neither on the other comprehensive income, nor on the profit and loss statement the impact is
material. See details in Other Financial liabilities.

Financial instruments at fair value through Profit or Loss

On 14 November 2018, the Group issued senior notes which contain an early redemption option. The option is fair
vatued through the profit or loss. initially recognised at the value of EUR 1,082 thousand in November 2018. The fair
vatue adjustment was recognised as a profit amounting to EUR 19,779 thousand (2020: loss of EUR 13,139
thousand). See further details on refinancing in Note 20. The significant increase in the value is caused by the
reduction of long-term interest rates and credit risk margins in the market. The bond is trading at 101.8 per the end
of December 2021, which has increased the value of the call option compared to the end of 2020.

Subleases
Subleases are disclosed under current and non-current financial assets. For more details, please see Note 16.

An amount of EUR 1,448 thousand {(2021: EUR 1,394 thousand) relating to the tease assets which are capitalised
under IFRS16 is included in the statement of cash flows in net cash from/{used in) investing activities while the lease
lizbility payments are included in the net cash from/(used in) financing activities. In our Annual Report, the sublease
income related to lease payments was offset by the lease liability payments under the net cash from/{used in)
financing activities and it amounted to EUR 1,498 thousand (2020: EUR 1,463 thousand).

Guarantee deposits
includes guarantee deposits mainly for rent and utility contracts held in banks or non-financial institutions. These

fFunds are restricted.

tUUngquoted equity shares
Valued at FVYOCI and includes participations in non-consolidated companies and special purpose companies for
EUR 45 thousand (2020: EUR 61 thousand), shelf companies for EUR 545 thousand (2020: EUR 263 thousand),
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deposits for ELR 622 thousand (2020: EUR 374 thousand) and the financial lease assets as at 31 December 2021
amounting to EUR 922 thousand (2020: EUR 812 thousand).

None of the "Other financial assets” are past due or impaired.

21.2. Other financial liabilities

(EUR 009) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Fair value -Hedging instruments

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedge liahilities 3,391 7,944
Total Fair value - hedging instruments 3,391 7,944
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Forwards - -
Total Financiaf liabilities at Fair value - -

Financial instruments at FVOC]

Forwards -

Total financial instruments at FVOCI -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Lease liability 109,796 88,607
Other financial liabilities 3,231 5,009
Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 113,027 93,616
Total other financial liabilities 116,418 101,562
Total current 19,622 17,753
Total non-current 96,796 83,809

Significant estimates

Areas that require use of judgement and estimates that are significant to the Financial statements are as described
below. Some leases of office buildings contain extension options exercisable by the Group. Where practicable, the
Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational Flexibility, The extension options held
are exercisable anly by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group assesses whether it is reasonably certain to
exercise the options at lease commencement and subsequently, if there is a change in circumstances within its
control. Such assessment involves management judgement and estimate based on information at the time the
assessments are made.

Another significant estimate is the weighted average lessee's incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") applied to the lease
liabilities which also derives the value of the right-of-use assets. At 31 December 2021, the average IBR was 2.7%
{2020: 3.5%). On a lessor perspective in our subleases at 31 Decemnber 2021 the IBR was 4.0% (2020: 4.0%).

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges include interest rate swaps to cover part of the fluctuations on the floating interest on the

USD and GBP debt. Cash Flow hedges relating to the previous financing (EUR, GBP and USD debt) were settled in
2018 and the Group entered into new cash flow hedges in 2018 for the floating rate debt denominated in USD and
GBP. Those hedges are still in place as at 31 December 2021. See further details on refinancing in Note 20.

The USD and GBP hedges were assessed ta be effective at inception and throughout cur reporting pericds in 2021.
The balance sheet position is presented in the liabilities amounting to EUR 3,389 thousand (2020: EUR 7,944
thousand).

Lease liabilities

The Group's lease liabilities are recognised in accordance with IFRS16. See further details under Note 16. The
movement in leases comprise cash outflow of EUR 15,946 thousand (2020: EUR 18,539 thousand], new leases of
EUR 29,110 thousand (2020: EUR 5,803 thousand) and currency translation adjustment of EUR 4,494 thousand {2020:
EUR 4,296 thausand).
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The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 23.3.

Qther financial liabilties

Other financia! liabilities centains deferred earn-out estimates on acquisitions. See further details in Note 15, The
total amount of deferred earn-out estimates as at 31 December 20271 in other financial liabilities (current and non-
current) was EUR 3,231 thousand (202C: EUR 5,009 thousand).

22. Financial results

Finance income and finance costs

Finance income cumiptves jnterest income on loans, leases and receivables, fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and gains on the remeasurement to fair value of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree, interest income on loans and recejvables is
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expenses on loans, leases, payables and borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and
contingent consideration, fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, gains and losses on hedging

instruments that are recognised in profit or loss and reclassifications of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial instrument at amortised cast are capitalised to
the associate instrument and amortised ko the profit or lass aver the contractual term using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign
currency movements are in a net gain or loss position.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in profit or loss within the financial incore or financial costs.

The early redemption option was at initial recognition recegnised at fair value. At inception, the adjustment was made and parallel the
Group recognised a financial other asset {option) which was subsequently valued at FVTPL.

{EUR 000) 2021 2020
Net Fareign exchange gain 629 -
Interestincome on loans and receivables 1,613 1,412

Change in fair value of financial liability 20,174 169
Finance income 22,416 1,581

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amertised cost (35,670) (38,647)
Change in fair value of financial liability {76) (13,194)
Net Foreign exchange loss - (1,658)
Other financial expense (1,219) {1,414)
Finance expense (36,965) (54,913)
Financial result (14,549) (53,332)

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amertised cost included interest on debt of EUR 28,434 thousand
(2020: EUR 31,240 thoysand). The amortisation of capitalised financing fees was EUR 2,830 thousand (2020:
EUR 2,856 thousand). See further details on refinancing in Note 20.
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23. Financial instrumernts

Financial Risk Management
The Group has exposure to the following rain risks from its financial instruments: credit risk, market risk {including
currency risk and interest rate risk} and liquidity risk.

This note presents information abaut the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes For measuting and managing risk, and the Group's capital aliecation framework.

Further information about the risk management of the Group is included in the Compliance and Risk Management
chapter of this Annual Report.

23.1. Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily For trade receivables and cash at
banks. Customer credit risk is managed by each of the Group entities subject to the Group's policy, procedures and
control relating customer credit risk management.

Qutstanding customer receivables are monitored and fFollowed up continuously. Specific provisions are made when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts (indication that the debtor is
experiencing significant financial difficulty or default, probability of bankruptey, problems to contact the clients,
disputes with a customer, etc.). Analysis on expected credit losses is done on a case by case basis in line with policies
and with the use of generic models that include forward looking elements.

The cash and cash equivalents and interest receivable are held mainly with banks which are rated as investment-
grade by the main rating agencies.

Exposure to credit risk
The gross carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to
credit risk at the reporting date was as follows:

(EUR 000) Note 31,92.2029 31.12.2020
Cash and cash equivalents 19 136,022 141,311
Trade receivables 12 111,863 94213
Other receivables 14 43,458 30,782
Woark in progress 11 40,817 35,471
Other financial assets - loans and receivables 21 22,314 20,824
Total 354,474 322,601

The 'Cther financial assets' of EUR 550 thousand (2020: EUR 324 thousand) related to the participations in non-
controlling entities and shelf companies have not been included in this analysis.

The assets that are exposed to credit risk are held 9.0% by the Netherlands (2020: 10.3%), 13.5% by Luxembourg
{2020: 10.5%), 18.9% by Americas (2020: 21.1%), and the remaining 58.6% (2020: 58.1%) by other jurisdictions.

Trade recejvables are presented net of expected credit loss provisions and this is considered substantially equal to
the Fair values.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). As a first step the
credit risk is measured and analysed on a local level, analysis on recoverability is done on a ¢ase by case basis in line
with policies and specific provisions are made as mentioned above. Evidence of historical experience demonstrates
that debtoars, in all ageing categaries, have high recoverability ratios. As a second step, the ECL's are applied an the
remaining balance of trade receivables. The Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the expected
credit loss and the lifetime expected loss allowance for trade receivables. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses.
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The ageing of trade receivables and the provision for trade receivables at reporting date, including movement
schedule for the provision for trade receivables, is included in Note 12.

23.2. Markelrisk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as Foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the
Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in exchange rates relates primarily to the Group's operating activities
(translation risk: when revenue or expense is denominated in a different currency from the Group’s presentation
currency). The exposures are mainly with respect ta the US dollars (USD) and Pound sterling (GBP). The loans and
borrowings of the Group are denominated in GBP and USD, the notes are denaominated in EUR. The objective is to
partly match the main cash flows generated by the underlying operations of the Group with the debt which provides
an economic hedge.

At 31 December 2021, the face value of the USD 200 million loan was EUR 176,585 thousand {2020: EUR 162,986
thousand). This loan was designated as a hedge for the Group's investment in its Cayman subsidiary. The

UsD 100 million loan is used as a hedge For the intercompany loan provided to its US subsidiaries. The face value of
this loan was EUR 88,252 thousand at 31 December 2021 {2020: EUR 122,239 thousand). The USD 200 million loan is
designated as net investment hedge. No ineffectiveness was recognised from the net investment hedge.

Similarly to the Cayman investment and the USD denominated bank loans relaticns, the Company identified an
effective relationship between the Jersey investment and its GBP denominated bank loans, therefore the loan is
partially designated as a hedge relationship which also mitigates a portion of the foreign currency translation risk
arising From the subsidiary's net assets.

As at 31 December 2021, the Face value of the GBP designated loan was EUR 119,008 thousand (2020: EUR 111,231
thousand).

The GBP loan is partially designated as a net investment hedge. No ineffectiveness was recognised from the net
investment hedge,

To the extent that the hedge is effective, fareign currency differences arising on the translation are recognised in
Other comprehensive income (QOCI) and accumulated in the translation reserve. At 31 December 2021 this amounted
to EUR 18,119 thousand neqative (2020: EUR 19,042 thousand positive) consisting of EUR 13,599 thausand negative
{2020: EUR 15,518 thousand positive) relating to the USD hedge and EUR 4,520 thousand negative (2020: EUR 3,124
thousand positive) relating to the GBP hedge. See Note 24.4 fer translation reserves.

The Group's investments in other subsidiaries are not hedged.

Some group entities have (underlying) costs and revenues in different currencies (transaction risk). Currency
movements can cause FX results or changes in profitability. The most significant {underlying) exposures are being
hedged (currency USD-INR risk). At 31 December 2021 these hedges had a fair value of EUR 147 thousand (2020:
EUR 126 thousand).

Exposure to currency risk
The group has mainly currency exposure in USD and GBP, as presented below:

{EUR 000} 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Uso GBP Usp GsP
Cash and cash equivalents 12,065 1,081 7,163 257
Trade, other receivables and other financial assets 3,863 324 3,119 397
Loans and borrowings (264,876) (119,008) (285,225) {111,231)
Trade and other payables {1,504) (322) (393) (511)
Net statement of financial position exposure {250,452) (117,925) (275,336} {111,088)
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The fallowing significant exchange rates have been applied:

Other infarmation

Reporting date spot rate

Average rate

31.12.2021 2021
UsD 1.1326 1.1827
GBp 0.8402 0.8596
Reporting date spot rate Average rate
31,12,2020 2020
usD 1.2271 1.1422
GBP 0.8950 0.8897
Sensitivity analysis
{EUR 000} 2021 2021
Effect in profit or loss Effect in Equity
LLUR Strengthening EUR Weakeping EUR Strengthening EUR Weakening
USD {10% movement) {4,930) 4,930 22,768 (22,768)
GBP {10% movement) (3,502) 3,502 10,720 (10,720}
{EUR 000) 2020 2020
Effect in profit or lass Effect in Equity
EUR Strengthening EUR Weakening EUR Strengthening EUR Weakening
USD (10% movement) (5,676) 5676 25,031 (25,031)
GBP {10% movement) (3,146) 3146 10,099 {10,099)

A 10 percent strengthening of the USD and the GBP against all other currencies at 31 December 2021 would have
affected the value of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and affected equity and profit or
loss by the amounts shown above. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.

Interest rate risk
The risk relates to the Group's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. To manage this risk, the
Company entered into interest rate swaps.

Exposure ko interest rate risk
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the interest bearing financial instrument was:

{EUR 600) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Carrying amount Carnying amount

Fixed rate instruments

Financial liabilities (500,000) (500,000)
Total fixed rate instruments {500,000) (500,000)
Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 58,948 50,084
Financial liabilities {410,901) (403,869)
Loans and borrowings hedged 147,796 137,108
Total net unhedged variable rate instruments {204,157) {216,677)

Financial assets mainly include tash in bank accounts with interest bearing rates.
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The GBP and USD interest rate swaps have maturity dates and interest payment dates linked to the senior Facilities
agreement. The interest rate swaps cover 39% of the floating interest rates on the loans and borrowings. The senior
notes have a fixed interest rate.

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Anincrease of 50 basis points in interest rates on loans and borrowings with floating interest rates would have
decreased the profit and loss before tax by EUR 1,180 thousand {2020: EUR 1,592 thousand). A decrease of 50 basis
points in interest rates on lcans and borrowings would have decreased the profit and loss before tax by EUR 325
thousand (2020: EUR 222 thousand increase). The sensitivity of interest to movements in interest rates is calculated
on floating rate expusures on debk, net of interest rate swaps. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain
constant.

Z3.3. Liguicity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk to a shortage of funds and the risk of encountering difficulties in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities.

The Group entities prepare their own cash Flow forecasts and they are centrally consolidated by Group Finance.
Group Finance monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements, as well as the Group's actual cash and
receivables position to ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient
headroom on its cornmitted borrowing facilities to ensure that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or
covenants.

The Group entities keep the amounts required for working capital management and the excess cash is transferred to
Group Finance who define the best use of these funds (cancellation of loans, deposits, etc.).

Access to sources of funding is sufficiently available through the revolving credit facility agreement that the Group
has with banks {Note 20).

Exposure to liquidity risk

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled
derivative financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. This analysis includes estimated interest
payments and does not consider voluntary prepayments of bank debt that could be pessible following the

agreements.

{EUR 000} Balance at 31 December 2021
Carryipg Total Due within 1 Due between 1 Due between 2 Due 5 years
amounts year and 2 years and 5 years and more

Loans and borrowings 898,700 969,991 114,821 321,467 533,703 -

Lease liabilities 109,796 122,993 21,842 17,745 37,784 45,623

Trade payables and .

other payables 100,192 100,792 100,792 - -

Interest rate swaps Used )

For hedging 3,391 3,382 2,215 1,167 -

Total 1,112,679 1,197,158 239,670 340,379 571,487 45,623

{EUR 000} Balance at 31 December 2020
Carrying Total Due within 1 Due between 1 Due between 2 Due 5 years
amounts vear and 2 years and 5 years and more

Loans and borrowings 897,523 1,002,862 115,942 56,341 830,575 -

Lease liabilities 88,607 102,709 19,063 17,447 31,950 34,249

Trade payables and

other payables 114,477 114,477 114,477 - -

Interest rate swaps used

for hedging 7,946 7,966 2,807 2,800 2,359

Total 1,108,553 1,228,014 252,289 76,588 864,888 34,249
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The flows expected for interest rate swans will affect profit and loss in the same period as they are expected to
occur.

If/in the event that a CSC or a Dutch compony controlied by it makes a recommended all-cash public offer for all issued
and outstanding shares in the capital of Intertrust and declares this offer unconditional, this would trigger a change of
controt under the financing documentation. For the senior notes, this triggers the requirement to make a change of
control offer at 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the senior notes.

From its cash available resources and debt financing, CSC will be able to fund the acquisition of the shares under the offer.
the refinancing of Intertrust's existing debt, the settlement of fair value of Intertrust's derivatives, and the payment of fees
and expenses related to the offer, as announced in the press release of 6 December 2021,

23.4. Capital allocation framework

Intertrust revised its capital allocation and sharehalder distributions framewaork as announced on 12 February 2021.
Jtis aimed at strengthening the balance sheet, supporting continued growth and optimising returns for shareholders.
The approach is gquided by the need to invest in growth across the business, whilst ensuring an efficient and strong
balance sheet. As such, the Group consider a net financial debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio of around 3.0x to be
adequate for our business in the medium term. The Group also expect to continue to invest in our organic growth,
including capex which is expected to remain at around 3% of revenue.

The revised dividend policy as determined by the Management Board will be based on an annual pay-out of 20% of
adjusted net income, supplemented by additional shareholder returns in the form of share buybacks or special
dividend depending on cash surplus and market conditions. On 27 September 2021 Intertrust announced a

EUR 100 million share buyback programme, which was suspended an 12 November when the Company announced
to be in exclusive discussions with CVC Capital Partners. M&A activity remains an active part of the strategic agenda
in the medium term, and all opportunities will be assessed within the confines of a clear set of strategic, operational
and financial criteria. For 2021, ne dividend will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting following the agreement
with CSC.

This new framework recognises the Company's continued strong cash generation and the importance of dividends
for sharehalders, while providing greater flexibility in capital allocation to drive underlying growth across the
business.

23.5 Fair values of financial assets and liahilities

Level 7
The fair value of the senior notes is based on fair vatue from the stock exchange as at 31 December 2021 and reflects the credit risk of the
instrument as at the Balance Sheet date.

Level 2

The fair values of the interest rate swaps and currency forwards are based on broker quotes and are calculated as the present value of the
estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves, Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments
to take account of the credit risk of the Group entity and counterparty when appropriate. The early redemption option is vatued at initial
recognition on fair value. The call option within the senior notes represents an embedded derivative that is separated from the host
contract and accounted for as a derivative, Fair value is determined as callabie bond value equal to the sum of the straight bond value and
the call option value. Subsequentiy the option is valued FVTFL.

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including
their ievels in the fair value hierarchy.
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31.12.2021 Carrying amounts  Fairvalue  Fair value
(EUR 000) Note Fair value Financtal  Fair vaive - Other Telal Level 1 Level 2
through assets at Hedging Financiat
profitand  amortised  instruments babiities
loss cast
Financial assets
measured at fair
value
Caily redenplion )
valuation adjustment 21 30,163 . ) ) 30,163 30,163
Total 30,163 - - - 30,163 - 30,163
Financial assets not
measured at Fair
value
Loans and receivables 27 - 7,223 - - 7,223 - -
Lcase assets 21 - 14,944 - - 14,944 - -
Unquoted equity ) ) ) i
shares Zi ) 590 390
Irade receivables 12 - 111,863 - - 111,863 - -
Other receivables 14 - 43,458 - - 13,158 “
Cash and ¢ash
equivalents 19 - 136,022 - - 136,022 - -
Total - 314,100 - 314,100 - -
Financial liabilities
measured at Fair
value
Interest rate swaps - . _
cash flow hedge 21 - - 3,391 3,391 3,391
Total - - 3,391 - 3,391 - 3,391
Financial liabilities
not measured at fair
value
Lease liabilities - 109,796 - - 109,796 - -
Loans and borrowings 20 - - - 898,700 898 700 509,110 372,518
Trade payables - - - 16,584 16,584 - -
Olliel payables 14 - - - 84,208 84,208 - -
Total - 109,796 - 999492 1,109,288 509,110 372,518

7 Fair value Impact on the Statement of Profit ar Loss for the Full year 2021 was EUR 19,779 thousand prafit. For further details in the early redemption option

valuation see Note 20.1

111
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31.12.20290 Carrying amounts Fair value  Fair value

{(EUR 000) Nate  Fuair value Francgl  Fair value - Other fotal Level 1 Level 2
through assets at Hedging  financial
profitand  amortised instruments  labilities

loss cost
Financial assets measured
at fair value
:gi’; tr;d;rgp”o” valuation 4 40,384 - - - 10384 - 10,384
Total 10,384 - - - 10,384 - 10,384
Financial assets not
measured at fair value
Loans and receivables 21 - 5,921 - - 5,921 - -
Lease assets 21 - 14,775 - - 14,775 - -
Unquoted equity shares - 324 - - 324 - -
Trade receivables 12 - 94,213 - - 94,213 - -
Other receivables 14 - 30,782 - - 30,782 - -
(Cash and cash equivalents 19 - 141,31 - - 141,31 - -
Total - 287326 - - 287,326 - “
Financial liabilities
measured at fair value
mrerest drgaete swaps-cash . - 7944 - 7944 - 7944
Total - - 7.944 - 7,944 - 7,944
Financial liabilities not
measured at Fair value
Lease liabilities 20 - 88,607 - - 88,607 - -
Loans and barrowings - - - 897,523 897,523 512980 379,505
Trade payables - - - 15,033 15,033 - -
Qther payables 14 - - ~ 99,444 99,444 - -
Total - B8,607 ~ 1,012,000 1,100,607 512,980 379,505

? Fair value impact on the Statement of Profir or Loss For the full year 2020 was EUR 13,139 thouwsand loss. For further details in the early redemption option
valuation see Note 20.1

There are level 1 and level 2 fair values, No transfers between levels were applicablein 2021 and 2020. The level 1
fair value at the end of 2021 and 2020 represent the market value of the early redemption option in the senior notes.
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24. Capital and reserves

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a
deduction from equity, het of any tax effects.

Repurchase and reissue of ordinary shares (lreasury shares)

when shares are repurchased, they are recognised as a debit to equity for the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly
attributable costs and is net of any tax effects. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury
share reserve. When tredasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the
resulting surplus or deficit on the Eransaction is transferred to or from retained earnings.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

24.1. Share capital

The subscribed capital increased from 31 December 2020 (EUR 54,190 thousand) to EUR 54.334 thousand as at

31 December 2021. On 1 April 2021 Intertrust N.V. issued 240,000 new shares. The total number of shares issued at
31 December 2021 was 90,556,352 (lssued shares as at 371 December 2020: 90,316,352). There was no change in the
nominal value per share of EUR 0.60.

24.2. Share premium
At 31 December 2021 the share premium ameunts to EUR 630,441 thousand, unchanged cempared to 31 December
2020.

24.3. Retained earnings
The retained earnings include accumulated profits and losses, plus remeasurements of defined benefit liability
(asset) and equity-settled share-based payments.

Other non-cash items as per cash flow statement mainly includes the equity-settled share based payments of
EUR 5,808 thousand (2020; EUR 9,222 thousand).

For 2021, no dividend will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting following the agreement with CSC. See capital
allocation framework Note 23.4 for further dividend payment guidance.

After the reporting date, the EUR 65,290 thousand result of the year 2021 is proposed to be added to the retained
earnings by the Management Board.

24.4. Reserves

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all Fareign currency differences arising from the translaticn of the financial
statements of foreign operations (2021: EUR 60,582 thousand gain, 2020: EUR 60,911 thousand loss) and foreign
currency differences arising on the revaluation of financial liabilities designated as a hedge of net investment, to the
extent that the hedge is effective (2021: EUR 18,119 thousand lass, 2020: EUR 19,215 theusand gain).

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging
instruments used in cash Flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in prefit or loss as the hedged cash flows
affect profit or loss.

Treasury share reserve

The treasury share reserve comprises the costs of the Company's shares held by the Group. At 31 December 2021 the
Group held 528,813 of the Company's shares (2020: 118,336). The increase is due to share buyback programme that
was announced on 27 September 2021,
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25. Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interoests
Non-controlling interests are measured either at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair vaive at the
acquisition date. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.

The Group has at the end of 2021 the same ownership compared to the end of 2020 in LBL data services B.V.
(ownership 50%) which is not material for the Company.

| IEACTRN: S P 144 LR T Rl Sy



«Contents Consclidated Financial Statements Notes to the consoligated Company Financial Statements Other information
financial statements

SECTION 6

Other disclosures

This section includes the notes on taxes, employee benefits, provisions, commitments and contingent liabilities,
remunerations of members of the Management Board and the Supervisary Board, related party transactions and
auditor’'s remuneration.

DJ]J] Performance

AN

Underlying Revenue Effective Tax Rate
in % growth year-on-year ino%

1.5% 25.8%
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26, INCOME tax expense

[ncome tax
incame tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recagnised in profit or loss except ta the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax pavable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred 1ax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

» temporary differences an the initial recagnition of assets of liabilities in a transaction thal is not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor kaxable profit or loss;

« taxable temparary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates thal are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate
to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax
liokilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available, againsé which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed af each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at each reporting date and are recagnised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow
the deferred tax asset Fo be recovered.

26.1. Incorne (ax recogrised in profit ar loss

(EUR 000) 2021 2020
Current year (27,480) (27,778)
Pricr years 313 970
Current tax {expense)/gain {27,167) (26,808)
Qrigination and reversal of temparary differences 4,674 14,943
Impact of enacted tax rate changes on deferred tax position {780) (3,534)
Deferred tax leases 285 88
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses - 569
Change in recognised deductible temperary differences 309 (212)
Deferred tax gainf{expense) 4,488 11,854
Income tax (expense}/gain {22,679) {14,954}

The Group believes that its accruals For tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of
many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.

Intertrust has uncertain tax positions where the outcome is dependent on the discussions with tax authorities and
far which the autcome and timing is uncertain. These matters primarily relate to the uncertainty around pricing of
intercompany transactions. In addition, there is an ongoing discussion with tax authorities on pricing of internat
restructuring completed in prior years. The aggregate amount of these discussions lies in the range to EUR 5 million.
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26.2. Tax recognised in other comprehensive income (OCD)

Other infarmation

{EUR 000) 2021 2020
Cash flow hedges (2) (27)
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) (1) 27
Income tax expense recoegnised in OCI (3) -
26.3. Reconciliation of effective tax rate

(EUR 000) 2021 2020
Profit for the year 65,290 20,840
Total income tax expense {22,679) {14,954)
Profit before income tax 87,969 35,794
Income tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 25,00% {21,992) 25.00% {8,949)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 6,392 7,650
Changes in income tax rates (780) {3,534)
Non deductable expenses (5,149) (8,146)
Tax exempt income (273) 254
Change in recognised dedyctible temparary differences 309 (213)
Recognition of previcusly unrecognised tax losses - 569
Current year losses for which no deferred tax has been

reccgnised (28) @)
(Under} over provided in previous years {current and deferred) &9 504
Others (1,227) (3,522)
Effective income tax 25.8% {22,679} 41.8% {14,954)

Our adjusted net income contains adjusting tax items For an amount of EUR 5.808 thousand benefit, mainly related
to the effect of the bond apticn revaluation recognised in the Statement of Profit or Lass. See Note 27.3 for more

details.
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27, Deferred tax assets and liabilities

27.1. Unrecognised deferred tax assels

Other information

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses for EUR 9,896 thousand (2020: EUR 10,917
thousand). Tax losses for an amount of EUR 4,456 thousand (2020: EUR 5,378 thousand) will expire in the next 5
years and EUR 5,440 thousand (2020: EUR 5,538 thousand) do not expire. Deferred tax assets have not been

recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that Future taxable profit will be available against

which the Group entities can utilise the benefits.

27.2. Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

{EUR 000}

Batance at 31 December

Balance at 31 December

2011 2020
Deferred tax Deferred tax  Deferred tax  Deferred tax
assets liabilities assets ligbilities
Property, plant and equipment 2,168 {19) 1,003 (3
Intangible assets 65 {69,378) 236 (75,556)
Loans and borrowings - (3,738} - (5,351)
Other non-current financial assets or liabilities - (220) - (217)
Employee benefit liabilities 2,181 - 1,877 -
Otheritems - (647) 438 -
Tax loss carry-forwards 7,081 - 5,833 -
Netting impact (176) 176 {454) 454
Total 11,319 (79,826) 8,933 {80,673)
27.3. Movements in temporary differences during the period
W Balanceat  Acquiredin  Recognised  Recognised Effect of Balance at )
01 January business in profit or inQCl’ foreign 31 December
2021 combinations lass exchange 2021
differences
Nel Met
Property, piant and equipment 1,000 - 1,063 - 86 2,149
Intangible assets (75,320) 69 8,000 - (2,062) (69,313)
Loans and barrowings {5,351) - {4,387) - - {9,738)
cetsoriabiies @) : ™ @ - e
Employee benefits liabilities 1,877 - 308 m (3) 2,181
Ctheritems 438 - (1,209 - 124 (647)
Tax loss carry-forwards 5,833 - 753 - 495 7.081
Total (71,740) 69 4,527 3! {1,360) {68,507)

! Other comprehensive income ["OC1")
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{EUR 000) Balance at  Acquiredin Reccgnised Recognised Effect of Balance at
01 January business in profit or inQClor Foreign 31 Dacember
2020 combinations loss retained exchange 2020

earnings ' differences

Net Net
Property, plant and equipment 1,101 - (42} - {59) 1,000
Intangible assets {81,907 (405) 4,769 - 2,217 (75,320)
l.oans and borrowings {9,343) - 3,992 - - (5,351)
Other non-current financial
assets or liabilities (190) ) ) 27) ) (217)
Employee benefits liabilities 1,496 - 531 27 (177) 1,877
OQtheritems 532 - (125) - 31 438
Tax loss carry-forwards 3,584 - 2,727 - (478) 5,833
Total (84,721) (405) 11,852 - 1,534 (71,740)

! Other comprehensive income {"OC)")

In 2021 deferred tax expenses included EUR 780 thousand (2020: EUR 3,534 thousand income) due to expected
income tax rate changes in jurisdictions where our intangible assets relate to, where the Group amortised our
capitalised financing fees and where the Group revaluated our bond option, therefore this income was accounted as
adjusting item and excluded from the adjusted net income.

8. Emplovee benefits

Short-terim employee henefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Defined benefit plans

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amaunt and deducting the fair value of any plan
assets.

The calculation of defined benefir obligations is performed annually by a quatified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When
the calcutation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits
available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

To calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is giver to any minimurm funding requirements that apply o any plan in
the Group. Remeasurernents of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive
income,

The Group deterimines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period ta the then-net defined benefit liability/(asset),
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability/{asset) during the period as a resuit of contributions and benefits
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.
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When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resuiting change in benefit that relates ko past service or the gain
or loss en curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined
benefit plan when the settlement occurs.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises costs for a restructuring. if benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting
period, then they are discounted.

The Group sponsors defined benefit pension plans in Switzerland. In most other countries, employees are provided
with benefits under defined contribution plans. All pension plans comply with local tax and legal restrictions in their
respective country, including funding obligations.

The Swiss pension plan is managed by an independent, legally autonomous entity which has the legal structure of a
foundation, according to Swiss Federal Law on Qccupational Retirement, Survivors and Disability (LPP). All benefits in
accordance with the regulations are reinsured in their entirety with an insurance company. The foundation provides
benefits on a defined contribution basis. All employees are participants to the plan and are insured against the
financial consequences of ald age, disability and death. The insurance benefits are subject to regulatians, with the
LPP specifying the minimum benefits that are to be provided. The employer and employees pay contributions to the
pension plan at rates set out in the foundation rules based on a percentage of salary. The amount of the retirement
account can be taken by the employee at retirement in the form of pension or capital. The risk of disability, death and
longevity are covered by the insurance company. The insurance company invests the vested pension capital and
provides a 100% capital and interest guarantee. Even if actuarial and investment risks are covered by an insurance
company, this plan is considered under 1AS19R as a defined benefit plan because the employer remains exposed to
contract termination risks.

The Group has also agreed to provide certain additional pest-employment medicai benefits to senicr employeesin
Curacao. These benefits are unfunded and the contributions equal the insurance premiums paid.

As of the acquisition of Viteos, the Group accounts far the post-employment benefits in India. The Group operates a
defined benefit final salary gratuity plan which is open to new entrants in India. The gratuity benefits payable to the
employees are based on the employee's service and last drawn salary at the time of [eaving. The employees do not
contribute towards this plan and the full cost of providing these benefits are met by the Group. There are no
minimum funding requirements for a gratuity plan in India. The Group has chosen not to fund the gratuity liabilities
of the plan but instead carry a provision based on actuarial valuation in its book of accounts. The only regulatory
framework which applies to such plans is if the company in India is covered by the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 then
the affiliate is bound to pay the statutory minimum gratuity as prescribed under this Act. The affiliate is responsible
for the averall governance of the plan. Since the plan is unfunded, the governance of the plan is limited to employees
being paid gratuity as per the terms of the plan. The Defined benefit plan is based on a final salary defined benefitin
nature which is sponsored by the affiliate and hence it underwrites all the risks pertaining to the plan. In particular,
there is a risk for the affiliate that any adverse salary growth or dermographic experience can resultin an increase in
cost of praviding these benefits ta employees in future. Since the benefits are lump sum in nature the plan is not
subject to any longevity risks.

The Group expects EUR 529 thousand in contributions to be paid to its defined benefit plansin 2022.

28.1. Amournts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

{EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Net defined liabitity - Pension 2,837 2,666
Net defined liability - Medical 86 108
Total employee benefits plans 2,923 2,774
Other employee benefit 272 23
Total employee benefits liabilities 3,195 2,797
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Other information

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for the net defined
benefit liability and its components:

{EUR 000} 2021 2020

Defined boneft Faur vglue of Keg defined Defined benafit Fanr vatue of Net defined

cbligetion plan assots henoiu fability abligation plan esseis henefst liabilrty
Balance at 01 Janvary 5,249 2475 2,774 4,806 2,231 2,575
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost 894 - 554 %72 - 632
Past service cost {141) . {141) 47 - 47
Interest cost kele] - 90 &2 - 62
Administration costs - - - 19 - 19
Tetal 843 - 843 666 - 666
Included in OCI
Remeasurements loss/{gain):
- Betuarial lassf{gain) arising from:
- demeographic assumpticns 221 - 221 - - -
- financial assumptions 89 45} 134 108 94 14
- experience adjustment {634y - {634) - - -
lan excluding interes
;i;u$lon plan assets g £ (45) p (53) ; 4 )
Effect of movements in exchange rates 205 153 52 (193) (37) (156)
Total {164) 116 {280} (85) 61 {148)
Other
Business combination - - - 2 - 2
Contributions paid by the plan participants 608 608 - 613 626 {13)
Contributions paid by the employer 439 458 {15} - in {321
Benefits paid (1,299) {904) {395} (753) (764) 11
Total (252) 162 {414) {138) 183 {321)
Balance at 31 December 5,676 2,753 2,923 5,249 2,475 2,774
28.3. Plan assets
The plan assets comprise:
{EUR 000) 31.12.2021 31.12,2020
Insurance contracts 2,750 2,472
Cash 3 3
Total 2,753 2,475
None of the plan assets are quoted on an active market.
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28.4. Actuarial assumptions

The principal assumptions used in determining pension and past-employment medical benefit obligations at the

reporting date are:

31.%2.2021
Switzerland india Curacao
Discount rate 31 December 0.20% 6.65% 4.40%
Future salary increases 1.00% 7.00% -
Medical cost trend rate - - 2.00%
31.12.2020
Switzerland India Curagao
Discount rate 31 December 0.20% 6.45% 5.00%
Future sslary increases 1.00% 7.00% -
Medical cost trend rate - - 2.00%

Longevity is reflected in the defined benefit obligation by using mortality tables of the respective countries in which

the plans are located and only applicable in Switzerland.

Expressed in years 31.12.2621
Switzerland

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners

- Males 22.6

- Females 24.4

Longevity at age 65 for current members aged 45

- Males 24.9

- Females 26.4

Expressed in years 31.12.2020

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners

Switzerland

- Males 22.7
- Females 24.8
Longevity at age 65 for current members aged 45

- Males 24.5
- Females 26.5
The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was as follows:

Expressed in years 31,12.2021 31.12.2020
Group 12.8 13.2
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285 Sengitivity analysis
Passible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumpticns, holding other assumptions
consistent, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:

{EUR 0090} Increase Decrease
2021

Inpact of 1% change in the discannt rate 4,632 6,535
hnpacl of 1% chanage In the fitnre salary increases 5,6HY 5,239
hpact of 1% change in Lhe Future pensiosn niu eases 4,346 -

Impact of 1% change in the medical cost trend rate - -

Impact ul 1 yed Lidnge in the ke expectancy 4,U53 3,936
2020

Impact of 1% change in the discount rate 4,356 6,440
Impact of 1% change in the Future salary increases 5,483 5,023
Impact of 1% change in the future pension increases 4,509 -

Impact of 1% chancge in the medical cost trend rate - -

Impact of 1 year change in the life expectancy 4,188 4,052

Although the analysis does not take into account the Full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does
provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

All sensitivities are calculated using the same actuarial method as for the disclosed present value of the defined
benefit obligations at period end.
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20 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive abligation that con be estimated
reliably, and it fs probable that an aulflow of econamic benefits will be required to settie the obligation. If the impact of time velue of
money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Legal matters
A provision js recognised to cover the costs for legal proceedings or legal requirements, in those cases where a probable outflow of cash is
identified.

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring
either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

Other provisions
Other provisions are recognised to cover the probable future outflow of funds that will be needed to settle a current obligation of the
Group and that relates to other matters than legal matters, restructuring or onerous contracts mentioned above,

{EUR 000} Legal matters Restructuring Others Total
Balance at 01 January 2020 155 631 1,215 2,061
Provisions made during the period 75 1,546 2,088 3,709
Provisions reversed during the period - (744) {101) (845)
Provisions subtotal P&L during the period 75 802 1,987 2,864
Provisions used during the period (87} (34) (52} (173)
Effect of movements in exchange rates {7 (37) (154) {238)
Balance at 31 December 2020 136 1,422 2,956 4,514
Current 61 1,422 1,989 3472
Non-current 75 - 967 1,042
Balance at 31 December 2020 136 1,422 2,956 4,514
Balance at 01 January 2021 136 1,422 2,956 4,514
Provisions made during the periad 1,890 518 3,193 5,601
Provisions reversed during the period - {293) - (293)
Provisions subtotal P&L during the period 1,890 225 3,193 5,308
Provisions used during the period (237) {1,193) {675) (2,105)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 41 12 308 361
Balance at 31 December 2021 1,830 466 5,782 8,078
Current 1,708 466 5,199 7,373
Non-current 122 - 583 705
Balance at 31 December 2021 1,830 456 5,782 8,078

Provision for legal matters
Provisions For legal matters have been recognised to cover costs related to claims filed against the Company. The
timing is subject to the settlement of the court appeal or cut of court settlements.

Provision for restructuring
The provisions concern transformation programmes mainly related to staff restructuring.
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Provision for other matlers

Provisions for other matters have been recognised to caver costs like contractual lease obligations relating to
reinstatement of buildings, regulatory proceedings or requirements; etc. where probable outflow of cashis
identified. The provisions made during the period are mainly related to the CIMA case. The timing of cash outflow is
subject te the settlement of the court appeal.

0. Leases

in accordance with IFRS 16, the group has recogivised righi-of-use assets for leases, except for short term and low-value leases, see Note 3
and Note 16 for further information,

30.1. Leases as lessee
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain motor vehicles and office equipment. These leases have a
life of between less than 1 year and 5 years with no renewal option.

The Group has entered into leases for rental agreements in different countries. The leases still have a remaining
period between less than 1 year and 10 years after 31 December 2021. Leases classified under IFRS16 are no longer
reported under this chapter. See Further details under Note 16.

There are no restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into these leases.

Future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Lessee
(EUR 060} 31.12.2021 Not tater than one year Between one and five  Later than five years
VEArs
Leasgd machinery and 1 059 592 vy i
cqguipment '
Legsed 1¢gl estate 5,090 1,588 2,292 1,210
Total 6,149 2,180 2,759 1,210
31.12.2020 Not later than one  Between cne and five Later than five
year years years
Leased machinery and )
equipment 1,451 527 924
Leased real estate 28,815 2,837 11,658 14,320
Total 30,266 3364 12,582 14,320

During the periad an amount of EUR 4,454 thousand (2020: EUR 3,618 thousand) for short term lease was
recognised as an expense. These costs were recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in respect of
leases, the ones that were capitalised had an impact through depreciation and interest. Interest expense recognised
amounts to EUR 2,615 thousand (2020: EUR 3,168 thousand). Total rental expenses reported in statement of profit
or loss include utilities, maintenance and repair expenses in line with our accounting policies.
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30.2. Leases as lessor
Some affiliates have entered into sublease contracts of office space.

Future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Lessor
{EUR 000) 31. 12.2021 Not later than one year Between ane and five  Later than five yec;;_
vears
Leased real estate 1,489 907 582 -
Total 1,489 907 582 -
31.12.2020 Not later than one Betweeq one and Later than five
year fiva years years
Leased real estate 1,797 1,012 784 -
Total 1,797 1,012 784 -

31 [T Commitments

The Group is committed to incur IT operational expenditure rainly related to managed communication networks and
outsourced activities of EUR 49,113 thousand (2020: EUR 58,973 thousand) spread within the next ten years. The
increased high level of commitments continued to incur since 2020 due to existing several service contracts signed
For longer periods than before and the licencing need of the increased tech-enabled services the Group provides.

3z Contingencies

Intertrust is involved in governmental, regulatory (a.o. AML and KYQ) and legal proceedings, inspections and
investigations in several jurisdictions, involving amongst others claims in the ordinary course of business and
remediation actions as a result of increasing requlations. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the ultimate
outcome of all pending or potential governmental, regulatory, legal proceedings, inspections and investigations, we
concluded for accounting purposes that an aggregate amount of the liabilities cannot be estimated reasonably and
we consider that the possibility of outflow is not probable but could have a material adverse effect on our
operatianal and financial performance. Where necessary legal and/or external advice has been obtained.

Sarne of cur claims, regulatory proceedings have transferred from Contingencies and have been accounted for as
Provisions compared to what was disclosed in 2020. See further details under Note 29,

Intertrust has uncertain tax positions where the cutcome is dependent on the discussions with tax authorities and
for which the outcome and timing is uncertain. These matters primarily relate to the uncertainty around pricing of
intercompany transactions. In addition, there is an ongoing discussion with tax authorities on pricing of internal
restructuring completed in prior years, The aggregate amount of these discussions lies in the range to EUR 5 million.
See further details under Note 26.

Intertrust has contractual obligatiens among athers, where the amount and timing of possible cash outflow is
uncertain and cannot be estimated refiably, no accruals are recorded in these instances and no further disclosures are
provided.

33 Related parties

331, Parent and uitimarte conrrolung party

Prior to listing at the Euronext Amsterdam on 15 October 2015, Intertrust N.V. was ultimately controlled by funds
managed by Blackstone which had the majority shareholding in the Group. The remaining shares were owned by
parties related to management. Following the 1PQ, Intertrust N.V. is the ultimate controelling party of the Croup.
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33.2. Transactions with key management personnel
The Group has defined key management personnel as the members of the 2021 Supervisory Board, Management
Board and Executive Committee of the Group, responsible for the strategic and operational activities.

Key management personniel compensation
Key management personnel compensation comprises:

{EUR 0600) 2021 2020
Short-term employee benefits * 4,432 6,797
Post-employment benefits 136 287
Share-based payment? 2,250 4,261
Other benefits? 1,112 1,567
Total 7930 12,912

! Short-term benefits include insurance, car, pension and other allowances.
2 This includes the expenses recognised by the Group related to the LT) awards made to key management personnel
# Other benefits may include termination benefits

Management Board
For the individual members of the Management Board, the Group recognised the following remuneration expenses:

{EUR 900} 2021 remuneration
Base salary Other  Short-term Deferred Total? Extreordinary Annualised
benefits! incentive” remuneration expense from total?
total
Shankar lyrr 600 294 7l I,08U 2,046 - 2,046
Rogier van Wijk 350 31 42 262 685 - 685
Total 950 325 114 1,342 2,131 - 2,731

! Other benefits include life course compensation, ¢ar allowance, relocation or other allowances such as termination benefits when applicable.

2 Short-term remuneration represents accrued bonuses to be paid in the following financial year

3 In 2021, the fixed proportion of total remuneration was 51% for Shankar lyer and 8% for Rogier van Wijk,

4 As the costs contain expenses on an accrual basis and in line with Group Accounting Policies, the camparisen For share-based payments is presented in detail in
the tables hereafter showing the Management Board awards. In the annualised total, only those members of the Management Board are shown if they werein
charge as at 31 December 2021 or 31 December 2020 respectively.

{EUR 000) 2026 remuneration

Base salary Other  Short-term Deferred Total? Extroordinary  Annualised

benefits’ Incentive< remuneration expense from total

tokal

Stephanie Miller< 750 808 243 1,144 2,946 633 -

Rogier van Wijk 350 31 142 204 727 - 727
Shankar lyers 30 4 21 116 171 - 2,600¢

Total 1,130 843 405 1,465 3,844 633 3,327

' Other benefits include life course compensation, car allowance, relocation or other allowances such as termination henefits when applicabte.

< Short-term remuneration represants accrusd bonuses ta be paid in the following financial year.

3 The remunerations of the Management Board are presented for the peried they were part of the Management Board

4 at the end of 2020 our Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) changed. Stephanie Miller stepped down and Shankar lyer was nominated as CEQ, he became acting CEQ
from 7 December 2020. Stephanie Miller's remuneration contained accruals for payments until 1 April 2021.

5 Mominated for appointment as CEC and member of the Management Board on 8 March 2021, Remuneration is disclosed from 7 December 2020,

¢ Remuneration is disclosed from 7 December 2020. Annualised total shows all remuneration items including Viteos Rollover Share Plan. Excluding Viteos Rallover
Share Plan, the total annualised remuneration was EUR 944 thousand
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(EUR 000C) 2021 deferred remuneration

LT Pension costs Total
Shankar lyer 930 150 1,080
Rogier van Wijk 174 88 262
Total 1,104 238 1,342

7 Represents the expense recognised during the year in accordance with (FRSZ, share-based payment, refated to the LTi awards.

{EUR 000) 2020 deferred remuneration

L Pension costs Total
Stephanie Miller g57 188 1,144
Rogier van Wijk 117 88 204
Shankar Ilyer 109 8 116
Total 1,182 283 1,465

! Represents the expense recognised durning the year in accordance with IFRS2, share-based payment, related to the LT| awards,

Upon vesting of the share-based payment awards (excluding Viteos Rollover Share Plan) to the members of the
Management Board and other eligible employees, the Company may at its discretion make the required number of
Ordinary Shares available either by issuing new Ordinary Shares or by purchasing existing Ordinary Shares in the open
market.

The Management Board LT! awards outstanding and mavements during the financial year were as follows:
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Other LT!

Shankar lyer
PSP shares 2021
SOP shdies 2021 ¢

Viteos Rellaver
Share Plan ¢

Rogier van Wijk
PSP shares 2021
'S0 shares 2020
PSP shares 2019
SDP shares 20203
SDP shares 20119+
LTIN4 shares>
Stephanie Miller
PSP shares 2020
PSP shares 2019
I's1tshares 2018
LTIP4 shares

Award date

1 Apr 2021
1 Apr U2

19 June 201

1 Apr 2021
| Apr 2uzu
29 Nov 2019
1 Apr2020
1 Apr 2019
1ApI 2018

1 Apr 2020
29 Nov 2019
29Nov 2019
1 Apr 2018

Qutstanding
as at 1 dan
2021

147,262

23,046
4,388
3,512
1,588
2,100

21,949
26,331
35,108
28,534

Granted in

2021

42,89/
21,246

Maovement Qutstanding

in 2021

as at 31

Dec 2021’

42,492
21,246

147,262

- 18,590
- 23.046
- 4,388
2,342

794
1,800

- 21,949
- 26,331
- 35,108
- 28,534

Fair value
per share
at award
date (EUR)

12.81
13.56

17.41

12.81
5.63
11.96
5.89
15.26
14.86

9.63
11.96
11.96
14.86

Vesting date ”

1 Apr 2024
1 Apr 2024

19 June 2022

T Apr 2024
1 Apr 2023
29 Nov 2022
1 Apr 2023
1 Apr 2022
1 Apr 2021

1 Apr 2023
29 Nov 2022
29 Nov 2022

1 Apr 2021

! The estimate regarding performance criteria at year end 2021 is set at a level of 50% for PSP 2019, 100% for PSP 2020 and 100% For PSP 2021,

2 Following the vesting date, the LTI shares granted to members of the Management Board are subject to an additional two-year lock up pericd, except for the LTI
shares that can be sold to cover income taxes due.

3 awards from 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020, 1 April 2021 SDP shares and 1 April 2018 LTIP 4 shares do not have performance critena, neither does the Vitecs

Rollgver Share Plan.

4 viteos Rollover Share Plan is described in Note 8.1, )

SonbNy
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Shankar lyer

Viteos Rollover
Share Plan+

Rogier van Wijk
PSP shares 2020
PSP shares 2019
SDP shares 2020+
SDP shares 20195
LTIP4 shares
Stephanie Miller
PSP shares 2020
PSP shares 2019
PSP shares 2018
LTIP4 shares

Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the consolidated

financial statements

< rhar 3

Ll

Award date Qutstanding

as at 1 lan

2020

19 lune 2019 -
1 Apr 2020 -
29 Nov 2019 4,388
1 Apr 2020 -
1 Apr 2019 2,381
T Apr2018 2,700
1 Apr 2020 -
29 Nov 2019 35,108
29 Nov 2019 35,108
1 Apr2018 28,534

Company Financial Staterments

Qther information

Granted in  Movement Qutstanding

2020

23,046

3,512

52,677

in2020°

147,262

(793)

(30,728)
(8,777

as at 31

Dec 20207

147,262

23,046
4,388
3,512
1,588
2,700

21,949
26,331
35,108
28,534

Fair value
per share
at award
date (EUR)

17.41

9.63
11.96
9.89
15.26
14.86

9.63
11.96
11.96
14.86

Vesting date ?

19 June 2022

1 Apr 2023
29 Nov 2022
1 Apr 2023
1 Apr 2022
1 Apr 2021

1 Apr2023
29 Nov 2022
29 Nov 2022

1 Apr 2021

? At the end of 2020 our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) changed. Stephanie Miller stepped dowr and Shankar fyer was nominated as CEQ, to assume the role of
acting CEG fram 7 December 2020 Stephanie mMiller's awards partially forfeited, the remaining awards were kept and handlad as good leaver. Shankar lyer's
rollever share plan disclosed as movement in 2020, Other movements are caused by vesting

Z The estimate regarding performance criteria at year end 2020 is set at a level of 50% For PSP 2019 and 100% for PSP 2020 ta estimate the number of the
awards at the moment of vesting,

3 Following the vesting date, the LTI shares granted to members of the Management Board are subject to an additional two-year lock up period, except For the LTI
shares that can be sold to cover income taxes due

4 viteos Rollover Share Pian is described in Noke 8 1. &)

5 Awards from 1 April 2019, 1 April 2020 SOP shares and 1 April 2018 LTIP 4 shares do not have performance criteria, neither does the viteos Rollaver Share Plan

As of 31 December 2021, the members of the Management Board have no loans outstanding with the Group and no
guarantees or advance payments are granted to members of the Management Board.
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Supervisory Beard

The individual members of the Supervisory Board received the following remuneration:

Company Financial Statements

Other information

{EUR 000) Member since / (until) 2021 2020
Héléene Vletter-van Dort 21 August 2015 80 802
Toine van Laack 16 May 2017 65 652
Anthony Ruys 21 August 2015 55 55
Charlotte Lambkin 17 October 2017 60 60
Paul Willing 17 October 2017 58 58
Stewart Bennett 16 May 2019 58 58
Total 376 376

7 Each member's remuneration excludes EUR 10 thousand expense allowance.

2 In addition, EUR 35 thousand remuneration from affiliated entities as the Chair of the Supervisory Board both For 2020 and 2019.
3 In addition, EUR 25 thousand remuneration from affiliated entities as member of the Supervisory Board both for 2020 and 2019

The Company does not award variable remuneration, shares or options to the members of the Supervisory Board.
They had ne loans cutstanding at the end of 2021 and at the end of 2020. No guarantees or advance payments are

granted to members of the Superviscry Board

(RN
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3. Group entities

34.1. Significant affiliates

Company Financial Statements

Qther infarmation

The Fallowing companies were the significant affiliates of the Group as at 31 December 2021 due to their lecation,
revenue, total assets ar investments in ather affiliates and have been included in the consclidated financial

statements:
Name Country of Type Ownership Ownership
incorporation interest interest
31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Intertrust NV, Netherlands parent 100% 100%
Intertrust Group BV. Netherlands affiliate 100% 100%
intertrust Australia Pty Ltd Australia affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust {Bahamas) Limited Bahamas affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust (Betgium) NV/SA Belgium affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust (Brazil) Servicos Corporativos i tda Brazil affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Holding (Cayman) Limited CE{;EZ affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Law Limited CET:;Z: affiliate 0% 0%
Intertrust (Shanghai) Consultants Limited China affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Holding (Curacao) NV, Curacao affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust (Cyprus) Limited Cyprus affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust {Denmark) A/S Denmark affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Finland Qy Finland affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Germany GmbH Germany affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Holding (Guernsey) Limited Guernsey affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Resources Management Limited HongSKXnRg affiliate 100% 100%
}-r;ﬁ;f":ter;stviteos Corporate and Fund Services Private India 3ffiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Management Ireland Limited ireland affiliate 100% 100%
I(Rteelgar;)sii?;?fergative Investment Fund Management ireland affiliate 160% 100%
Intertrust Holding (Jersey) Limited Jersey affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Offshore Limited Jersey affiliate 100% 160%
Intertrust Fiduciary Services {Jersey) Limited Jersey affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Fiduciary Shared Services Limited Jersey affiliate 100% 100%
intertrust Premises {Jersey) Limited Jersey affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Topholding (Luxembourg) S.a r.l. lLuxembourg affiliate 100% 100%
intertrust Holding (Luxembourg) S.ar.l. Luxembourg affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust (Luxembeourg) S.ar.l. Luxembourg affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust (Netherlands) BV. Netherlands affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust (Netherlands) Employment BV, Netherlands affiliate 100% 100%
intertrust Management B.V. Netherlands affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Administrative Services BV. Netherlands affiliate 100% 100%
Intertrust Escrow and Settlements BV, Netherlands affiliate 100% 100%
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Name Country of Type Ownership Ownership

incorporation interest interest

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Intertrust (Norway) AS Norway affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust {Singapore) Ltd. Singapore affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust Management Services Pte. Ltd. Singapore affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust (Spain) SL Spain affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust (Sweden) AB Sweden affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust Group Holding S.A. Switzerland affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust (Suisse) S.A. Switzerland affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust (Dubai) Limited United Arab affiliate 100% 100%
Emirates

Intertrust Management Limited . United affiliate 100% 100%
Kingdom

Intertrust Fiduciary Services (UK) Limited United affitiate 100% 100%
Kingdom

intertrust Holdings {UK) Limited . United affiliate 100% 100%
Kingdom

Intertrust Corporate Services Delaware Ltd United States affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust USA LLC United States affiliate 100% 100%

Intertrust Corporate and Fund Services LLC United States affiliate 100% 100%
Virgin

Intertrust Corporate Services {(BV() Limited Islands, affiliate 100% 100%
British

Biplane BidCo (UK) Limited United affiliate 100% 100%
Kingdom

Elian TopCo Limited Guernsey affiliate 100% 100%

Elian MidCo Limited Guernsey affiliate 100% 100%

Elian BidCo Limited Jersey affiliate 100% 100%

Radar Workspace S.A. Luxembourg affiliate 100% 100%

7 Intertrust Law Limited was incorporated in 2029 in the Cayman 1slands and Intertrust exerdses full economic controt aver this entity

A list containing the information referred to in Section 379(1), Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code has been filed with the
office of the Commercial Register of Amsterdam, in accordance with Section 379(5), Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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34.2. Guarantees issued to affiliates

Company Financial Statements

Other information

The Company has issued several declarations of joint and several liability For varicus Group companies, in compliance
with section 403 of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The UK subsidiaries listed below have claimed audit
exemption under Cornpanies Act 2006 s. 479A with respect to the year ended 31 December 2020. The Company has
given a statement of guarantee under Companies Act 2006 s. 479C, whereby the Company will guarantee all
outstanding liabilities to which the respective subsidiary companies are subject as at 31 December 2021:

Name

Intertrust Holdings (UK) Limited
Intertrust Fund Services (UK) Limited
Intertrust Investments Limited

Intertrust Trust Company {London) Limited
Intertrust Trustees (UK) Limited

Intertust Management Limited

Intertrusk Directors 1 Limited

Intertrust Directors 2 Limited

intertrust Directors 3 Limited

Intertrust Directors 4 Limited

Intertrust Directers 5 Limited

Intertrust Directors 6 Limited

Intertrusk Nominees Limited

Intertrust Corporate Services Limited
Intertrust Fiduciary Services (UK) Limited
Intertrust Corporate Services (UK) Limited
Intertrust (UK} Limited

Intertrust Trustees Limited

Intertrust Trust Carporation Limited
Biplane Bidco {UK) Limited

Country of
incorporation
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Registration number

06263011
04736903
04996467
06442060
07632657
03853947
03920254
04017430
05128444
05128465
08277532
08277951
04115230
03920255
05081658
04723839
06307550
07355545
44405452
09693921

Intertrust peols cash from certain subsidiaries to the extent legally and economically feasible. The entities that
participate in the notional peoling have provided cross guarantees and authorisation for set-off. Cash not pooled
remains available for local operational or investment needs.

35 Subsequent events

On 6 December 2021 CSC and Intertrust have reached conditional agreement on a recommended all-cash public
offer for all issued and outstanding shares in the capital of Intertrust at an offer price of EUR 20.00 {cum dividend)
per Share, representing a total consideration of approximately EUR 1.8 billion. A first draft of the Offer
Memarandum will be submitted to the AFM no later than in February 2022 with campletion of the Offer anticipated

in the second half of 2022.

The basis of preparation of these financial statement, notably the applicable IFRS accounting policies, going concern
basis, significant judgements, methods of valuation, remain applicable to the date of compilation of these financiat

statements.

There are no other disclosable post balance sheet events to these Financial Statements for the year ending 2021 as

reported on 18 Feburary 2022.
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36. Appropriation of results

The Management Board proposes to appropriate EUR 65,290 thousand (2020: EUR 20,840 thousand) of the profit
and adding the full amount (2020: EUR 20,840 thousand) to the retained earnings.

The financial statements are signed by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board:

17 February 2022

Management Board Supervisory Board
Shankar lyer Héléne Vletter-van Dort
Rogier van Wijk Toine van Laack
Anthony Ruys
Charlotte Lambkin
Paul Willing

Stewart Bennett
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

{EUR 000) 2021 2020
Staff expenses (1,528) (2,626)
Other operating expenses (5,408} (2,589)
Loss from operating activities (6,936} {5,215}
Finance income / (expense) 9,077 9,816

Financial result 9,077 9,816

Result of subsidiaries (net of tax) 62,678 15,414

Profit before income tax 64,819 20,015

Income tax 454 790

Profit For the year after tax 65,273 20,805

Frofit for the year after kax attributable to:

Owners of the Company 65,273 20,805
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

{EUR 000) Note 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Assets

Investments in participating interests 4 861,431 805,645
Non-current assets 861,431 805,645
Other receivables 8,417 176
Current tax assets 3,135 -
Cash and cash equivalents 2 3
Current assets 11,554 179
Total assets 872,985 805,824
Equity

Share capital 54,334 54,190
Share premium 641,499 641,499
Reserves {23,689) {65,454)
Retained earnings 199,453 129,812
Total Equity 6 871,597 760,007
Liabilities

Trade payables 517 72
Cther payables 871 45,258
Current tax liabilities - 487
Current liabilities 1,388 45,817
Total liabilities 1,388 45,817
Total equity and liabilities 872,985 205,824
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Company Financial Statements

QOther infarmation

(EUR 000)

For the period ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Share  Relained Translation Hedaging Treasury Total
capital premium earnings reserve reserve share
reserve
Balance at 01 January 2021 54190 641,499 129,812 (55,680) (7,792) (2,022) 760,007
Profit/(loss) For the year - - 65,273 - - - 65,273
Other comprehensive income/
(less) For the year, net of tax ) ) 331 42,463 4,506 - 47300
Total comprehensive income/
{loss) for the year - - 65,604 42,463 4,506 - 112,573
Contributions and distributions
Equity-settied share-based i ) 5808 ) i ) 5,808
payment
Treasury shares delivered - - (1,627) . 1,627 -
Share buyback - - - - - (6,791) {6,791)
Share issuance 144 - (144) - . - _
Total contributions and
distributions 144 B 4,037 ) - (5184) {983)
Total transactions with owners
of the Company 144 - 4,037 - - {5,164) {983)
Balance at 31 December 2021 54334 641,499 199453 {13,217) (3,286) (7,186) 871,597
{EUR 000) For the period ended 31 December 2020
Attributable to owners of the Company
Share Share  Retained Translation Hedging Treasury Total
capital premium earnings reserve reserve share
fesernvse
Balance at 01 January 2020 54,190 641,499 102,059 (13,984) (4,979) (4,313) 774,472
Profit/(loss) Far the year - - 20,805 - - - 20,805
Other comprehensive income/
(loss) For the year, net of tax ) ) 17 (41.696)  (2813) - (44.492)
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) For the year - - 20,822 {41,696) {2,813) - (23,687}
Contributions and distributions
Equity-settled share-based i i 9,222 ) i ) 9222
payment
Treasury shares delivered - - {2,291) - - 2,291 -
Total contributions and
distributions - - em - - w9222
Total transactions with owners
of the Company - - 6,931 - - 2,291 9,222
Balance at 31 December 2020 54,190 641,499 129,812 {55680) (7,792) (2,022) 760,007
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. REPORTING ENTITY
The Company financial statements of Intertrust N.V. are part of the consolidated financial staternents.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 8 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code. The Company uses the aption of Article 362.8 of Part 9 of Baok 2 of the Dutch Civil Code to prepare
the Company financial statements, using the same accounting policies as in the consolidated financial statements,
Valuation is based on recognition and measurement requirements of the accounting standards adopted by the EU
{i.e. only JFRS as adopted for use in the EU at the date of authorisation) as explained further in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1. Result of participating interests

The share of profit of participating interests consists of the share of the Company in the results of these participating
interests. Results on transactions, where the transfer of assets and lisbilities between the Company and its
participating interasts and mutually between participating interests, themselves, are not recognised.

3.2. Financial fixed assets

Participating interests in Group companies are accounted for in the Company financial statements according to the
equity method. Participating interests with a negative net asset value are valued at zero. Reference is made to the

basis of consolidation accounting policy in the consolidated financial statements for further information.

4. INVESTMENTS IN PARTICIPATING INTERESTS

{EUR 000) 2021 2020
Balance at 01 January 805,645 915,501
Share of result of participating interasts 62,678 15,414
Changes in hedging and translgtion reserves 456,959 {44,509)
Equity-settled share-based payment 5,808 9,222
Actuarial gains/{losses) 331 17
Dividend income (60,0001 {50,000)
Balance at 31 December 861,431 805,645

5. LOANS TO AND FROM PARTICIPATING INTERESTS

From the total closing balance as at 31 December 2021 of other Labilities EUR 871 thousand (2020: EUR 45,258
thousandy), there is EUR nil thousand relating to a current liability on arm's length basis to its subsidiary lntertrust
Group B.V. {(2020: EUR 43,443 thousand).

6. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
For movements in Equity, refer to Note 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

For appropriation of results, refer to Note 36 of the consolidated financial statements.
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7. FEES OF THE AUDITCRS

The following Fees from Ernst & Young Accountants LLP and its member firms to the Company and its subsidiaries

have been bocked for the financial period:

(EUR 000} Total Group  Total Group  Total Other  Total Other
Auditors Auditors audit Firms audit firms

2027 2020 2021 2020

Audit of the financial statements (831) {617} (1,437) (1,755)
QOther assurance related services (410) (241) - (114)
Other fees - - 38)
Total (1,241} (858) (1,437) {1,907)

For the period to which the statutory audit relates, EY provided the following services to Intertrust N.V. in addition to

the audit:
- review of financial infarmation For consolidation purposes;
- IT and business process attestations under ISAE 3000/3402 standard.

8. REMUNERATION

Refer to Note 33.2 of the consolidated financial statements for the remuneration of the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board. The Company has 2 FTE as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 2 FTE).

9. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Fiscal unity

The Company is head of a fiscal unity for corporate income tax purposes. The Company calculates its taxeson a
stand-alone basis. The payables and/ar receivables of the carperate income tax are settled with the companies that
are part of the fiscal unity. In accordance with the standard conditions of the fiscal unity, each of the companies is

liable for the income tax liabilities of the entire fiscal unity.

Far Further detaits, please refer tc Note 26 of the consolidated financial statements.

Other

At 31 December 2021, the company issued a declaration of joint and several liability for the below companies in

compliance with article 403, bogk 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Name

Intertrust Group B.V.
intertrust (Netherlands) B.V.
Intertrust {(Netherlands) Employment 8.

For other items, please refer to Note 34.2 of the consolidated financial statements.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
For subsequent events, please refer to Note 35.

The financial statements are signed by the Management Board and the Supervisory Seard:

17 February 2022
Management Board Supervisory Board
Shankar lyer Hélene Vletter-van Dort
Rogier van Wijk Toine van Laack
Anthony Ruys
Charlotte Lambkin
Paul willing

Stewart Bennett
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-“We aim to be the company
~that everyone wants to

~work for, and that every

client wants to work with.”
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STATUTORY PROVISION WITH RESPECT TO APPROPRIATICN OF RESULTS

According to the Company's Articles of Association, the
Company's result is freely at the disposal of the
shareholders, provided that total shareholders' equity
exceeds the called-up and paid-up capital of the
Company and the reserves which must be maintained
pursuant to Dutch law,

I the adopted annual accounts show a profit, the
Management Board shall determine which part of the
profits shall be reserved. The profit, as this appears from
the adopted annua!l accounts, to the extent not reserved
shall be at the disposal of the General Meeting, provided
however that the General Meeting may only resolve on
any reservation of the profits or the distribution of any
profits pursuant to and in accordance with a proposal
thereto of the Management Board, which propasal has
been approved by the Supervisory Board.

in calculating the profits available For distribution, the
shares held by the Company in its own capital are not
counted, unless such shares are subject to a right of
pledge an such shares if the pledgee is entitled to the
distributions on the shares or a right of usufruct for the
benefit of a party other than the Company.

Resolutions of the General Meeting with regard to a
distribution at the expense of the reserves shali require
the approval of the Management Board and the
Supervisory Board.

The Management Board may resolve to make interim
distributions to shareholders, provided that the approval
of the Supervisory Board has been obtained. Pursuant to
and in accordance with a proposal thereto by the
Management Board, which proposal has been approved
by the Supervisory Board, the General Meeting may also
resolve to make interim distributions to shareholders.

Interim distributions are only permitted to the extent
that the requirements set Forth in the Dutch Civil Code
are satisfied as apparent from an (interim) financial
statement drawn up in accordance with Dutch law.

After approval of the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board may determine that a distribution
on shares shall be made payable eitherin euro orin
another currency.

After approval of the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board may decide that a distribution on
shares shall nct or not entirely be made in cash but
other than in cash, including, without limitation, in the
form of shares, or decide that shareholders shail be
given the option ko receive the distribution either in cash
or other than in cash. After approval of the Supervisory
Board, the Management Board may determine the
conditions under which such option can be given to the
shareholders.

Any claim a sharehoider may have to a distribution shail
lapse after five years, to be calculated from the date
following the date on which such dividend has become
payable.

If a resolution is adopted to make a distribution on
shares, the Company shall make the distribution to the
person in whose name the share is registered on the
date as to be determined by the Management Board in
accordance with Dutch law and the rules of the stock
exchange where the shares are listed. The Management
Board shall determine the date from which a distribution
to the persons entitled as referred to in the previous
sentence shall be made payable.
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ESEF PACKAGE AND PDF VERSION

This copy of the Annual Repaort is the PDF/printed
version of the 2021 Annual Report of Intertrust N.V. This
version does not contain ESEF information as specified
in the Regulatory Technical Standards on ESEF
(Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815).

The official ESEF reporting package is available in the

reports, results and presentation section on our website
{www.intertrustgroup.com).
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Ernst & Young Accountants LLP Tei: +31 88 407 10 QG
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1083 HP Amsterdam, Netherlands ey.com

Postbus 7883
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Independent auditor's report

To: the shareholders and supervisory board of Intertrust N.V,

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2021
included in the annual report

Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2021 of Intertrust N.V. based in Amsterdam.
The financial statements comprise the consolidated and company financial statements.

In our apinion:
the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of Intertrust N.V. as at 31 December 2021 and of its result and its cash flows for 2021 in accordance !
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and ‘
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code
the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Intertrust N.V. as at 31 December 2021 and of its result for 2021 in accordance with Part 9 of Book
2 of the Dutch Civil Code

The consolidated financial statements comprise:
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021
the following statements for 2021: the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows
the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting palicies and other explanatory
information.

The company financial statements comprise:
the company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021
the company statement of profit or loss for 2021
the notes comprising a summary of the accouniing policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dufch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of Intertrust N.V. (hereinafter Intertrust or the company) in accordance with the EU
Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities, the "Wet toezicht
accountantsorganisaties” (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the "Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid
van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten” (Vi0Q, Code of Ethics for Professional

Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in
the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the “Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels
gccountants” (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

Erast & Young AccGuntants LLP is a timited NabHity partnership incorporated under the laws of England and Weles and registersd with Companies House under number 0C335594.
The term partner in relation to Ernst & Young Accountants LLP is used to refer to (the representative of) a memper of Ernst & Young Accountants LLP. Ernst & Young Accountants

LLP has its registered office at & More London Place, London, SEL 2DA, United Kingdom, its principal place of business at Boompjes 258, 3011 XZ Rotterdam, the Netherlands and is
registered with the Chamber of Commerce Rotterdarn number 24432944, Gur services are subject o general terms an d conditions, which contain a limitation af liabifty clause.
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We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinian.

Information in support of our opinion

We designed our audit procedures in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and
in forming our apinicn thereon. The fallowing information in support of our opinion and any findings
were addressed in this context, and we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Our understanding of the business

Intertrust is a publicly traded international trust and corporate management company domiciled in the
Netherlands. The company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the group) provide corporate,
fund, capital markets and private wealth services. As the group is structured in group entities, we
tailored our group audit approach accordingly. We paid specific attention in our audit to a number of
areas driven by the operations of the group and our risk assessment.

We start by determining materiality and identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error in order to design audit procedures responsive to
those risks and to obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Materiality
Materiality € 3.5 million
Benchmark applied 5% of profit before income tax
Explanation We consider an earnings-based measure, particularly profit before

income tax, an appropriate basis for determining our materiality
because the users of the financial statements of profit-oriented
entities like Intertrust tend to focus on the financial performance of
the company. We excluded the non-recurring items from pre-tax
income with regards to the yearly impact of the early redemption
option bond which was a gain of € 20 million and other one-off costs
which amounts to € 2.9 million.

We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are
material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the audit committee of the supervisory board (the audit committee) that misstatements
in excess of € 175 thousand, which are identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as weli as
smaller misstatements that in gur view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit

Intertrust N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial infarmation of this group is included in
Lhe consolidated financial statements.
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Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising
and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit
procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group
entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be
carried out on the complete set of financial information or on specific items.

Qur group audit focused on the significant group entities, where the Netherlands, Luxembourg and
Cayman entities were the significant jurisdictions, The remaining seven smaller in-scope group entities
were selected based on their significance and/or risk characteristics. We performed full scope audits on
the aforementioned group entities. We shared group audit instructions with our EY component teams,
with the main focus related to the risk as mentioned in the key audit matters section below. We
performed audit procedures ourselves at certain group entities located in the Netherlands.

Because of the continuing (international) travel restrictions and social distancing due to the Covid-19
pandemic, we needed to restrict or have been unabie to visit management and/or component auditors to
discuss, amang others, the business activities and the identified significant risks or to review and
evaluate relevant parts of the component auditor's audit documentation and to discuss significant
matters arising from that evaluation on site. In these circumstances we predominantly used
communication technalogy to be aligned on any material issues that arose during the audit. Due to
Covid-19 we have planned (virtual) additional meetings to intensify our inveivement with the component
teams in which we discussed any ongeing topics, local risk analyses, and our interoffice instructions. The
frequent contact combined with the good understanding of the primary team of the local businesses are
deemed sufficient measures to achieve appropriate group invalvement in order to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence.

In total these procedures represent 80% of the group’s total assets, 90% of profit/loss and 85% of gross

revenues.
Assets Profit/loss Revenues
108 15% -
2% ‘ ’
80% 90% a5,
Full scope M other procedures

None of the components without an assigned group audit scepe (remaining components) individually
represented more than 2% of total group revenue, For those remaining components we perfarmed,
amongst others, analytical procedures to corroborate our assessment that there were no significant risks
of material misstatements within those components. By performing the procedures mentioned above at
components of the group, together with additional procedures at group level, we have been able to
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obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the greup’s financial infermation to provide an
opinicn about the consolidated financial statements.

Teaming and use of specialists

We ensured that the audit teams both at group and at component levels included the appropriate skills
and competences which are needed for the audit of a listed client in the trust and corporate management
industry. We included EY specialists in the areas of IT audit, forensics, legal, sustainability, treasury,
share based payments, transfer pricing, income tax and valuation of goodwill,

Our facus on climate risks and the energy transition

Climate objectives will be high on the public agenda in the next decades. Issues such as CO2 reduction
impact financial reporting, as these issues entail risks for the business operation, the valuation of assets
('stranded assets') and provisions or the sustainability of the business mode! and access to financial
markets of companies with a larger COZ2 foatprint.

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we evaluated the extent to which climate-related risks
and the possible effects of the energy transition are taken into account in estimates and significant
assumptions as well as in the design of relevant internal control measures by Intertrust. Furthermore, we
read the management board report and considered whether there is any material inconsistency between
the non-financial infermation in section 'How we create value responsibly’ of the management board
report and the financial statements.

Our audit pracedures to address the assessed climate-related risks and the possible effects of the energy
transition did not result in a key audit matter.

QOur focus on fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations

Our responsibility

Although we are not responsible for preventing fraud er non-compliance and we cannot be expected to
detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations, it is our responsibility to obtain reasonable
assurance that the financial statements, taken as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error.

Our audit response related to fraud risks

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to fraud.
During our audit we obtained an understanding of the Company and its environment and the components
of the system of internal control, including the risk assessment process and the management board's
process for responding to the risks of fraud and manitoring the system of internal control and how the
supervisory board exercises oversight, as well as the outcomes.

We refer to section Compliance and risk management far the management board's (fraud) risk
assessment and section ‘Risk Committee’ of the report from the supervisory board.

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the system of internal control and in particular the fraud
risk assessment, as well as the code of conduct, whistle blower procedures and incident registration. We
evaluated the design and the implementation and, where considered appropriate, tested the operating
effectiveness, of internal contrals designed to mitigate fraud risks.
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As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to financial
reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and bribery and corruption in close co-operation with our
forensic and legal specialists. We evaluated whether these factors indicate that a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud is present.

We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. We also considered the cutcome of our other
audit procedures and evaluated whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance.

As in all of our audits, we addressed the risks related to management override of controls. For the risk
related to management override of controls we have ohtained sufficient audit evidence to support
material top-side manual entries as part of the consolidation and used data analysis to identify and
address and high-risk journal entries for the in-scope entities. These risks did however not require
significant auditor's attention in addition to the following fraud risk identified during our audit.

Management bias that may represent a risk of material misstatement due to fraud, including

management override of controls

Fraud risks  We considered whether the judgments and assumptions in the determination of
’ impairments of acquisition related intangible assets including the valuation of goodwill
indicate a management bias that may represent a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud and considered this as an area that is potentially impacted by the risk of
management override of controls.

Qur audit We describe the audit procedures respansive to the risk of management override,
approach including management bias in the description of our audit approach for the key audit
matter on impairment of acquisition related intangible assets including goodwill.

Fraud risk: Presurned risks of fraud in revenue recognitian

Fraud risk When identifying and assessing fraud risks we presume that there are risks of fraud in
revenue recoghition. We evaluated that in particular the existence of revenue for time-
based fees give rise to such a risk of potential manipulation of cut-off and management
override of controls.

Our audit We describe the audit procedures responsive to the presumed risk of fraud in revenue
approach recognition in the description of our audit approach for the key audit matter “Revenue
recognition (time-based fees) including management override of controls”.

We considered available information and made enquiries of relevant management board and executive
committee members, directors including internal audit, legal, compliance, human resources and regional
directors and the supervisory board/audit risk committee.

The fraud risks we identified, enquiries and other available information did not lead to specific
indications for fraud or suspected fraud potentially materially impacting the view of the financial
statements.

Our audit response related to risks of non-compliance with laws and requlations
We assessed factors refated to the risks of non-compliance with taws and regulations that could
reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from cur general industry
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experience, through discussions with the management board, reading minutes, inspection of internal
audit and compliance reparts, and performing substantive tests of details of classes of transactions,
account balances or disclosures.

As Intertrust operates in an increasingly complex regulated environment, there is an elevated risk of non-
compliance with the laws and regulations, in particular refated to laws, acts and regulations on
prevention of money laundering and financing of terrorism, sanctions, know your customer (KYC) and
client due diligence (CDD) processes. The consequences of non-compliance could have a direct and/or
indirect material effect on amounts recognized or disclosures provided in the financial statements, for
instance the imposition of fines, litigation, other formal measures up to restriction of license or
remediation costs. We refer to Note 7, Note 9, Note 29 and Note 32 of financial statements as well as to
the “Compliance and Risk Management™ chapter of Management Board Report.

We obtained an understanding of the entity level controls and the legal and regulatory framework of the
company. On a periodic basis, we enquired with the Management Board, Chief Risk Officer, Internal Audit
department, Risk and Compliance department, Legal department to understand and assess existing and
potentially new constructive and legal obligations, and compliance matters. We inspected legal and
compliance management reports. We read the minutes of the Management Board and Supervisory Board.

We also inspected lawyers' letters and correspondence with regulatory authorities and remained alert to
any indication of (suspected) non-compliance throughout the audit.

In case of potential non-compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the
financial statements, we assessed whether the company has an adequate process in place to evaluate the
impact of non-compliance for its activities and financial reporting and, where relevant, whether the
company implemented remediation plans.

Finally we obtained written representations that ali known instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations have been disclosed to us. We make reference to the key audit matter on ‘Non-Compliance
with laws and requlations',

Qur audit response related to going concern

As disclosed in the "statement from management hoard” as part of management board report and
section 'Covid-19" in Note 5 to the financial statements, the management board made a specific
assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern and to continue its operations for at
least the next 12 months.

We discussed and evaluated the specific assessment with the management board exercising professional
judgment and maintaining professional skepticism. We considered whether the management board's
geing concern assessment, based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the
financial statements or otherwise, contains atl events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the company's ahifity to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.

Based on our procedures performed, we did not identify serious doubts on the company's ability to
continue as a going concern for the next 12 months. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a
company to cease to cantinue as a going concern,
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Cur key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the supervisory board.
The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

Non-Compliance with laws and regulations

Risk - ‘ As disclosed in Note 7, Note 9, Note 29 and Note 32 of financial statements as we!l
" as to the “Compliance and Risk Management" chapter of Management Board Report.

Intertrust is involved in requlatory (a.0. Anti-Money Laundering and Know Your
Client) and legal proceedings, inspections and investigations in several jurisdictions,
involving amongst others remediation actions. Based on shortcomings identified
through internal and regulatory inspections (including the Cayman Islands Monetary
Authority findings (CIMA}) and the increasingly complex regulated environment in
which Intertrust Group operates, in 2021 Intertrust has started to implement further
remediation activities with a strong focus on the Netherlands, Cayman |slands and
Luxembourg.

For 2021, the total amount of additional one-off costs was EUR 13.8 million. This
amount includes the CIMA fine that arose from breaches of specific statutory
obligations in Cayman, improvements in the compliance framework and remediation
activities, as well as other legal costs and provisions. Management judgment is
required to determine whether an cbligation exists and a provision should be
recorded. For other ongoing regulatary inspections and proceedings where the
outflow of economic resources is not likely or cannot be reliably estimated, no
provision is recorded as per 31 December 2021 and contingencies are disclosed in
Note 32.

The conseguences of non-compliance could have a direct and/or indirect material
effect on amounts recognized or disclosures provided in the financial statements, for
instance the imposition of fines, fitigation, other farmal measures up to restriction of
license or remediation costs. Due to the significance and complexity of these
proceedings and inspections, its passible outcome and current impact on the
financial statements inciuding the management judgement required in this
assessment, we consider this a key audit matter.

Qur audit We evaluated the appropriateness of the company’s accounting policies related to

approach provisions and contingencies in accordance with 1AS 37 'Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets', and whether the methods for making estimates are
appropriate and have been applied consistently.

Furthermore, we inspected and discussed progress reports of the remediation
programs. We inspected the correspondence with the relevant regulatory authorities
to assess developments in reqgulatory matters. We instructed component auditors in
applicable jurisdictions to assess the progress of the remediation at component level.
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Non-Compliance with laws and requlations

For the significant inspections, proceedings and remediation programs where
' provisions are recognized or contingent liabilities and other non-financial

information are disclosed, among others, we performed the below procedures:

+  Obtained an understanding of the global and local risk management process,
including policies and procedures
Reviewed and performed walkthroughs on the of money laundering and financing
of terrorism, sanctions, Know Your Client and Client Due Dilligence policies and
procedures
Obtained an understanding and evaluate the remediation processes conducted by
Intertrust Group including review of a sample of client due diligence files
Tested of a sample of remediated client files
Obtained legal letters from external counsel to understand regulatory compliance
and legal matters Intertrust is involved in.
Involved our forensic and legal specialists in our procedures
Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures on contingent liabilities and Management
Board Report refated to the non-compliance with laws and regulations,
regulatory inspections and proceedings as well as the planned remediation
programs to address the shortcomings.

Key Based on our procedures performed, we consider the disclosures and provisions for
observations the ongoing nan-compliance to be reasonable and meet the requirements under EU-
IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We highlighted the following to the Audit Committee:
The ongoing potential governmental, regulatory, legal proceedings, inspections,
investigations, not being able to meet the remediation milestones and deadlines
could have a material adverse effect on Intertrust's operational and financial
perfarmance. ‘
We understand that the required remediation activities and global remediation
program to improve Intertrust's compliance framework including culture will have
the full commitment from the Management Board and Supervisory Board,

Revenue recognition (time-based fees) including management override of controls

Risk 7 ;{y Revenue recognition, in particular existence of revenue for time-based fees, is
" considered a key audit matter. It relates to potential maniputation of cut-off and
management override of controls. Management override relevant to internal controls
is an action or a series of actions performed by management to bypass established
internal controls. Management override may be driven by an incentive or pressure to
reach analyst expectations. The risk relates to cut-off of revenue whereby revenue is
overstated, reference is made to Note 6 in the financial statements.

Qur audit We evaluated the appropriateness of the company's accounting policies related to

approach revenue recognition, particularly for time-based revenues in accordance with IFRS 15
‘Revenue fram Contracts with Customers’ and whether these accounting policies
have been applied consistently throughout the group.
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Revenue recognition (time-based fees) including management override of controls

We have obtained an understanding of the time-based fees and work in progress
processes, performed walkthroughs of the revenue classes of transactions and
evaluated the design of the relevant internal controls in this area. For each
jurisdiction classified as a full scope location, we have designed and executed
substantive audit procedures to verify the occurrence of the revenues as well as the
existence and valuation of the work in progress balance,

In our group audit instructions, we specifically requested our components teams (all
full scope) to assess and report on this specific risk and to apply a consistent way of
testing the existence and occurrence of the time-based revenue account, review of
the management board's assessment for time based revenues, detailed testing on
service contracts/invoices when relevant. For all revenue streams we have performed
procedures on the collectability of the accounts receivable, tested the cut-off risks by
reviewing the credit notes transactions and write offs after balance sheet date. For
the remaining entities, we performed overall analytical review procedures.

On group leve| we assessed the material adjusting journal entries related to the
recarded revenue directly as part of the consolidation process.

Key Based on our procedures performed, we consider the disclosures for the revenues
observations and work in progress to be reasonable and meet the requirements under EU-IFRS and
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We highlighted the following to the Audit Committee:
Qur audit procedures did not reveal indications of manipulations in revenue cut-
off nor management override of controls in the accounting applied by
management in refation to the recognition of revenue.
We have assessed the work in progress positions as per 31 December 2021 are
appropriately recorded by the management board.

Impairment of acquisition related intangible assets including goodwill

Risk Intertrust's financial position comprises EUR 1,609 million of goodwill and
1 acquisition related intangible assets at 31 December 2021, representing 75% of the
total assets.
We refer to Note 17 ‘Intangible assets and goodwill’ to the financial statements.

There is a potentiai risk of impairment of these intangible assets, to the extent actual
developments deviate negatively fram the assumptions applied during the
acquisition of the group entities. The annual impairment test performed required
significant auditor’s attention because, Intertrust uses various assumptions in
performing the impairment testing that are subjective and contain a high degree of
estimation uncertainty in respect of future economic and market conditions such as
the fair value, discount rate, revenue and margin development, expected inflation
rates and the terminal value growth.
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financial statements

Impairment of acquisition related intangible assets Enciuding goodwill

Our audit
approach

Kéy
observations

We evaluated the appropriateness of the company's accounting policies related to
impairment of intangible assets and goodwill in accordance with 1AS 36 ‘Impairment
of assets’ and whether the methods far impairment assessment and goodwill
valuation are appropriate and have been applied consistently.

We obtained an understanding of the impairment process and performed
walkthrough procedures for the impairment assessment.

We assessed the management board's budget and cash flow forecasts through
evaluating the management board’s outlook in the explicit period, performing
sensilivily analyses and a retrospective review of the accuracy of the management
board’'s estimations and comparison with market data. We also evaluated the
reasonability of the valuation methodology, assessed the key input parameters
(including discount rate and terminal growth rate), performed independent
sensitivity analyses over the outcome of the impairment test, and comparison with
market data. Qur EY valuation specialists assisted us in performing our procedures.

We assessed the mathematical accuracy of the goodwill impairment model and
assessed whether the calculated recoverable amount is greater than the carrying
amount of the CGUs tested. We verified that source data used in the model reconciles
to underlying audit evidence.

Finally, we evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements and
whether significant assumptions are disclosed to which the outcome of the
impairment test is most sensitive.

Based on our procedures performed, we consider the disclosures for the goodwill to
be reasonable and meet the requirements under EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code.

We highlighted the following to the Audit Committee:
We concluded the assumptions relating to the impairment models to fall within
acceptable ranges and we agree with the management board’s conclusions.,
We concluded that the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are
propartionate and in accordance with [AS 36.
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Report on other information included in the annual report

The annual report contains other information in addition to the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements
Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 for the management report and the other
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and as required by Sections
2:135b and 2:145 sub-section 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the remuneration report.

We have read the ather information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through ocur
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information
contains material misstatements. By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of
Part 9 of Book 2 and Section 2:135b sub-Section 7 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720.
The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our
audit of the financial statements.

The management board is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
management report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other infarmation
reguired by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The management board and the supervisory board
are responsible for ensuring that the remuneration report is drawn up and published in accordance with
Sections 2:135b and 2:145 sub-section 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements and
ESEF

Engagement

We were engaged by the general meeting as auditor of Intertrust on 12 May 2021, as of the audit for the
year 2021 and have operated as statutory auditor since that date.

No prohibited non-audit services
We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities.

European Single Eiectronic Reporting Format (ESEF)

Intertrust has prepared the annual report in ESEF. The requirements for this are set out in the Delegated
Regqulation (EU) 2019/815 with regard to regulatory technical standards on the specification of a single
electronic reporting format (hereinafter; the RTS on ESEF).

In our apinion, the annual report, prepared in the XHTML format, including the partially marked-up
consolidated financial statements, as included in the reporting package by Intertrust, complies in all
material respects with the RTS on ESEF.

The management board is responsible for preparing the annual report, including the financial
statements, in accordance with the RTS on ESEF, whereby the management board combines the various
components into a single reporting package.
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Qur responsibility is to obtain reasonabile assurance for our epinion whether the annual report in this
reporting package complies with the RTS on ESEF.

Our procedures, taking into account Alert 43 of the NBA (the Netherlands Institute of Chartered
Accountants), included amongst others:
obtaining an understanding of the company's financial reporting process, including the preparation of
the reporting package
obtaining the reporting package and performing validations to determine whether the reporting
package containing the Inline XBRL instance document and the XBRL extension taxonomy files, has

been prepared in accordance with the technical specifications as included in the RTS on ESEF
examining the information related to the consclidated financial statements in the reporting package
to determine whether all required mark-ups have been applied and whether these are in accordance
with the RTS on ESEF.

Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of the management board and the supervisory board for the
financial statements

The management board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Boak 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermare, the
management board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the financial statements that are free from materiat misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the management board is responsible for
assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting
frameworks mentioned, the management board should prepare the financial statements using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the management hoard either intends to liquidate the company or to
cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The management board should disclose
events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going
concern in the financial statements.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process.

Our responsibifities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence for our apinion,

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably he expected te influence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements an our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the
audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence
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requirements, The 'Information in support of our opinion' section above includes an informative summary
of our responsibilities and the work performed as the basis for our opinion.
Our audit further included among others:
Performing audit procedures responsive to the risks identified, and obtaining audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinian
Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control
Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the management board
Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, inciuding the
disclosures
Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation

Communication

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, amang other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, inciuding any significant findings in internal control that
we identify during our audif. in this respect we also submit an additionaf report to the audit committee in
accordance with Article 11 of the EU Requlation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of
public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit
opinion in this auditor's report.

We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine the key audit matters: those
matfters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these

matters in our auditor's report uniess faw or regulation preciudes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest.

Amsterdam, 17 February 2022

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

J.Jd. Vernooij



«Contents Consolidated Financial Statements Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

OFFICE LOCATIONS

Intertrust N.V.
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P.O. Box 950
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tel +31 (0)20 521 4777
info@intertrustgroup.com

Americas

Intertrust Bahamas
Providence House

East Wing, East Hill Street
P.C. Box CB12359, Nassau
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tel +1 242 322 5316

IniLer Liust Brazil

Rua Viradouro, 63
7°andar—Cj 71 Itaim Bibi
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tel +55 11 3074 2323

Intertrust BVI

Ritter House, Wickhams Cay |l
P.O. Box 4041 Road Town
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British Virgin Islands

tel +1 284 394 9100

Intertrust Canada

161 Bay Street — Suite 2700
Toronte ON M5J 251
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tel +1 312 718 4365
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Intertrust Cayman islands
One Nexus Way

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-5005
Cayman Islands

tel +1 345543 3100

Intertrust Curacao
Zeelandia OfFice Park
Kaya W.F.G. (Jombi)
Mensing 14, 2nd floor
Willemstad, Curacao
tel +599 9433 1000

Intertrust United States
3-17 Botling Way NE
Atlanta, GA 30305
United States of America
tel +1 470378 1258

200 South Wacker Drive, 31st Floor
Chicago, IL 60606

United States of America

tel+1 312 674 4672

275 Madison Avenue - Suite 1614
New York, NY 10016

United States of America

kel 41 212 949 5530

505 Montgomery Street - Suite 1019
San Francisco, CA 94111

United States of America

tel +1 415 874 3147

200 Bellevue Parkway - Suite 210
wilmington, DE 19809

United States of America

tel +1 302 746 1507
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Europe, Middle East & Africa

Intertrust Belgium

Avenue Marnix 23, 5th Floor
1000 Brussels, Belgium

tel +32 220922 00

Intertrust Cyprus
Spyrou Kyprianou 47
1st Floar, Mesa Geitonia
4004 Limassol, Cyprus
tel +357 25257120

Intertrust Denmark
Harbour House
Sundkrogsgade 21
2100 Copenhagen
Denmark

tel +45 3318 8000

Intertrust Fintand
Bulevardi 1, &éth floor,
FI-00100 Helsinki
Finland

tel +358 9 8560 6303

Intertrust France

183 Rue de Courcelles, 4th Floor
75017 Paris

France

Intertrust Germany
Eschersheimer Landstrafie 14
60322 Frankfurt am Main
Germany

tel +49 69 643 508 900

Intertrust Greece

4 Zalogou Street
15343, Agia Parashevi
Athens

Greece

Intertrust Guernsey

P.O.Box 118

Martello Court, Admiral Park

St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY1 3HB
tel +44 1481211 000

Intertrust Ireland

2nd Fioor, 1-2 Victoria Buildings

Haddington Road
Dublin 4 D04 XN32
Ireland

tel +353 16686 152

Intertrust Italy

Viia Montabello 27
20121 Milan

Italy

tel +39 025 8459140

Intertrust Jersey
44 Esplanade

St Helier

Jersey JE4 SWG

tel +44 1534 504000

Intertrust Luxembourg
Vertigo Naos Building
6, Rue Eugéne Ruppert
L-2453 Luxembourg
Luxembourg

tel +352 26 44 91

Intertrust Netherlands
Basisweg 10

1043 AP Amsterdam
The Netherlands

tel +31 20521 4777

Intertrust Nerway
Munkedamsveien 59b
0270 Oslo, Norway
tel +47 23 3083 20

Intertrust Spain
Serrano 41, 4°
28001 Madrid, Spain
tel +34 91 781 1671
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Intertrust Sweden
Norra Vallgatan 70
211 22 Malma, Sweden
tel+46 40 973 250

Sveavdgen 9, 10th floor
111 57 Stockholm, Sweden
tel +46 8 402 72 00

Intertrust Switzerland
Place des Alpes 4

1201 Geneva, Switzeriand
tel +41 22317 8000

Zihlerweg 6
6300 Zug, Switzerland
tel +41 41 726 82 00

Limmatquai 72

P.O. Box 475

8001 Zurich, Switzerland
tel +41 442333020

Intertrust United Arab Emirates
Office 2461, 24th floor, Al Sila Tower
Abu Dhabi Global Market Square

Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi

United Arab Emirates

tel +971 2 694 8539

Unit 1305, Level 13

Tower II, Al Fattan Currency House,
DIFC

PO, Box 506615, Dubai

United Arab Emirates

tel +971 4 3780 600

Intertrust United Kingdom
1 Bartholormew Lane
London, ECZN 2AX

United Kingdom

tel +44 20 7160 6300
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Asia Pacific

Intertrust Australia

Suite 2, Level 25, 100 Miller St,
North Sydney, NSW 2060
Australia

T +61 29954 1220

Intertrust China

NRoom 1009, 10th INoor
CBD International Mansion
16 Yong An Dong Li
Chaoyang District, Beijing
China 100022

tel +86 10 6514 8686

Room 708

Guangzhou International Finance
Centre

No.5 Zhujiang West Road

Tianhe Disctrict, Guangzhou
China 5105623

tel +86 20 3885 8686

Unit 01, 3rd Floor, 100 Bund Square
No. 100 Zhang Shan Read South,
Huangpu District, Shanghai

China 200010

tel +86 21 5098 8586

Room 758, 7th Floor, SCC Tower A
No. 88 Haide Yi Road,

Shenzhen, Guangdong

China 518054

tel +86 755 8435 6016

Intertrust Hong Kong
3806 Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
tel 4852 2802 7711

Intertrust India

43 Electronics City
Phase-1 Hosur Road
Bangalore 560 100
India

tel +91 11 4014 9730

# 4/8 Block Na 6, 5th Floor
Thirvu-vi-ka Industrial Estate
Alandur Village, Guindy Taluk
Chennai 600032

India

tel +91 44 61114000

Plot No-37, Level 2
Gold Course Road
sector 54 Gurugram
Haryana 122008
India

tel: +91 11 4014 9730

201-A Nomura Building, 2nd Floor
Hiranandani Business Park

High Street, Powai

Mumbai 400 076

India

tel +91 11 4014 9730

Intertrust Japan

Otemachi First Square

East Tower 4F

1-5-1 Qtemachi, Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 100-0004

Japan

tel +81 352191216

Intertrust New Zealand
Level 26, PwC Tower
188 Quay Street
Auckland 1010

New Zealand

T. +64 9363 7844

Intertrust Singapore
77 Robinson Road
#13-00 Rabinson 77
Singapore 068896
tel +65 6500 6400
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GLOSSARY

Defined terms

The following list of defined terms is not intended to be
an exhaustive list of definitions, but provides a list of the
defined terms used in this Annual Report

Adjusted basic earnings per share (Adjusted basic EPS)
Adjusted net incame attributable far equity holders
divided by average shares outstanding during the period

Adjusted diluted earnings per share {Adjusted diluted
EPS)

Adjusted net income attributable For equity holders
divided by average fully diluted shares autstanding
during the period

Adjusted EBITDA
Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and
Amortization excluding specific items

Adjusted EBITA
Adjusted EBITDA excluding depreciation and
amortisation of cther intangible assets

Adjusted EBITA margin
Adjusted EBITA divided by revenue, and is expressed as a
percentage

Adjusted earnifigs per share
Adjusted net income divided by the weighted-average
number of basic shares for the period

Adjusted netincome

Adjusted EBITA less adjusted net interest costs, less
adjusted tax expenses and share of profit of equity
accaunted investees (net of tax) and excluding adjusted
items in financial results and income taxes

Adjusted net interest

Adjusted net interest is defined as net finance cost,
excluding fair value adjustments (for specific financial
instruments) recognised in the Statement of profit or
loss

AMX
Amsterdam Midkap Index

AFM
The Netherlands Autharity for the Financial Markets or
Stichting Autoriteit Financiéle Markten

AGM
Annual General Meeting

AIFMD
The Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive
(2011/61/EU)

Articles of Association
The articles of association (statuten) of the Company

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board
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Basic earnings per share {Basic EPS)
Net result attributable for equity holders divided by
average shares outstanding during the period

BEPS

The Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project by the
Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development {OECD)

Blackstone
Blackstone Perpetual Topce S.a ri,

CAGR
Compounded Annual Growth Rate

Capital employed

The total of Intangibles (including acquisition related
and other assets), Property, Plant and Equipment, Total
working capital (WQC) in the Statement of financial
position, and Other assets

Investments in property, plant, equipment, software and
otherintangible assets nat related to acquisitions and
excludes right-of-use assets

CoE
Centre of Exceilence

Company
Intertrust N.V. and/or any of its subsidiaries

COSO-ERM Framework
COSO Enterprise Risk Management-Integrated
Framework

CRS
Commeon Reporting Standard

CsC
Corporation Service Company, headquartered in
wilmington, Delaware, USA, cscglobal.com

Diluted earnings per share (Diluted EPS)

Net result attributable for equity holders divided by
average fully diluted shares outstanding during the
period

DNB
The Dutch Central Bank or De Nederlandsche Bank

Dutch Corparate Governance Code or the Code
The Dutch Corporate Governance Code 2016

EBITA (Earning Before Interest Tax and Amortization)
Profit/{loss) from aperating activities excluding
amortisation of acquisition related intangibles and
impairment of goodwill

EBITDA (Earning Before Interest Tax Depreciation and
Amortization)

Profit/({loss) from operating activities excluding
depreciation, amortisation and impairment ¢f goodwill



Consclidated Financial Statements Notesto the consolidated
financial statements

EFffective Tax Rate {(ETR)
ETR s calculated as minus one times income tax expense
divided by the profit before tax of the Group

Euronext Amsterdam
The regulated market operated by Euronext Amsterdam
NV

EUR or €

The single currency introduced at the start of the third
stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union
pursuant to the Treaty on the functioning of the
European Community, as amended frem time to time

Executive Committee or ExCo
The Executive Committee of Intertrust

EY
Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

FATCA
The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

First trading date
15 October 2015, the date on which trading in the Offer
Shares on Euronext Amsterdam commenced

FTEs
Full-Time Equivalents

FvOCi
Fair value through other comprehensive income

FVTPL
Fair value through profit and loss

GBPor €
Pound Sterling, The lawful currency of the United
Kingdom

General Meeting
The general meeting (algemene vergadering) of the
Company

Group
The Company and its subsidiaries from time te time

IBR

Incremental Borrowing Rate is defined as the rate of
interest a lessee would have to pay to borrow cver a
similar term, and with similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Unicn

Intertrust
Intertrust NV, the Company

Company Financial Statements
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PO
Initial Public Offering

Leverage ratio

Leverage ratio is defined as total net debt (on "last
twelve months” {LTM) average FX rates) divided by the
adjusted EBITDA excluding IFR316, proforma
contribution For acquisitions and full year run-rate
synergies related to acquisitions and other Senicr Facility
Agreement {SFA) adjustments such as the addback of
LTM LTIP, Share deferral plan {SDP) accruals

LTIP
Long-Term Incentive Plan

Management Board
The Management Board {bestuur) of the Company

NAV
Net Asset Value

Net debt

The net of the cash and cash equivalents excluding cash
on behalf of custemers and gross value of the third
party indebtedness

Net interest cost
Net finance cost is defined as financial results excluding
FX gains/losses

Net tax position
Net tax positions in WC is defined as the net of deferred
tax balances and income tax receivables and payables

QECD
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development

Other working capital

QOther working capital in the Staterment of financial
poesition is defined as the total of Other receivables,
Prepayments and Other payables

Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee

The Remuneration, Selection and Appointment
Committee of the Supervisory Board

RoA
Right-of-use Assets

SDP
Share Deferral Plan

Shareholder
Any holder of ordinary shares at any time

Shares
The ordinary shares in the capital of the Company
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Specificitems

Income and expense items that, based on their
significance in size or nature, should be separately
presented to provide further understanding about the
financial performance. Specificitems include Transaction
costs, Integration and transformation costs, rollover
share-based payments, share-based payment upon IPQ,
share-based payment upon integration, and income/
expenses related to disposal of assets. Specific items are
not of an operational nature and do not represent the
core operating results

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board {Raad van Commissarissen) of the
Company

PSP
Performance Share Plan

Trade working capital

Trade working capital in the Statement of financial
position is defined as the total of Trade receivables,
work in progress, Trade payables and Deferred income

uBO
Ultimate beneficial owner

Underlying

Current and prior period at constant currency and, if
applicable, including proforma figures For acquisition{s)
(excluding IFRS16 impact)

usDor$
United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United
States of America

VRS
Viteos Rollover Share Plan

Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)
Management’s estimate of the time value of money

Working capital (WC)

working capital in the Statement of financial position is
defined as the total of the trade weorking capital, other
working capital and net current tax

R 194

Other information



This Annual Report is powered
by Tangelo Software

Design & infographics
CF Report

Text & editing
Narrative Labs

Project management
Report Company

inteFt}rust

GROUP

Intertrust NV,
Basisweg 10, 1043 AP
Amsterdam, The Netherlands

intertrustgroup.com



= ™

-~

intertrust

GROUP



